Cardiovascular Disease and the Use of Swedish Health Care Registries and Electronic Medical Data From Primary Care: Disease Reality, Risk Factors, Comparative Effectiveness and Outcomes

Lars Pål Hasvold Institute of Clinical Medicine University of Oslo Postbox 1171 Blindern 0318 Oslo

© Lars Pål Hasvold, 2018

Series of dissertations submitted to the Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo

ISBN 978-82-8377-176-3

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted, in any form or by any means, without permission.

Cover: Hanne Baadsgaard Utigard. Print production: Reprosentralen, University of Oslo.

CONTENTS

2		Abbreviations	4
3		Acknowledgements	5
4		Introduction	6
	4.1	Cardiovascular drug development and real world data	6
	4.1.1	Sources of RWE	7
	4.1.2	Need of RWE in different phases of a drug life cycle	8
	4.1.3	Real world evidence complements data from randomized controlled trials	9
	4.2	Swedish national register data 1	10
	4.3	Swedish primary care data 1	10
5		Aims of the thesis1	12
6		Publications1	13
7		Ethical considerations 1	14
8		Methods1	15
	8.1	Paper I1	15
	8.1.1	Clinical outcomes1	15
	8.1.2	Resource use 1	15
	8.1.3	Health care costs1	16
	8.1.4	Analysis 1	16
	8.2	Papers II and III 1	17
	8.3	Paper II1	17
	8.3.1	Data sources1	17
	8.3.2	Patient population1	17
	8.3.3	Outcome 1	18
	8.3.4	Analysis 1	18
	8.4	Paper III1	18
	8.4.1	Data sources1	18
	8.4.2	Study population1	19
	8.4.3	Follow-Up and Outcomes1	19
	8.4.4	Selection of Covariates for the Primary Analysis 2	20
	8.4.5	Sensitivity Analyses Diabetes	20
	8.4.6	Sensitivity Analyses for Diabetes and CVD2	20
9		Results and Discussion	22
	9.1	National register data (paper I)	22
	9.1.1	Baseline characteristics of patients diagnosed with PAD2	23

9.1. cate	2 Annual costs per patient prior to and after peripheral artery disease (PAD), by cost gory, age, and risk
9.2	Swedish national register data vs other data sources
9.3	Primary care data from Sweden (paper II and III) in combination with national register data 27
9.3.	1 Paper II
9.3. in H mat	2 Baseline characteristics for patients with a decrease in HDL-C (≥0.1 mmol/L), an increase DL-C (≥0.1 mmol/L), or no change in HDL-C (±0.1 mmol/L) (unmatched and propensity score- ched populations)
9.3.	3 Paper III
9.3. and	4 Baseline data for 15,990 hypertensive patients without previous cardiovascular disease diabetes
9.4	Primary care data from Sweden
9.4.	1 Limitations with primary care data from Sweden
9.4.	2 Swedish primary care data compared to other data sources
9.5	Statistical methods
9.5.	1 Effect of additional adjustments and different analysis methods on clinical outcome 39
10	Future perspective 41
11	Conclusions
12	References

Paper 1	48
Paper 2	55
Paper 3	65

2 ABBREVIATIONS

CVD	Cardiovascular disease
RCT	Randomized controlled trial
RWD	Real world data
RWE	Real world evidence
PASS	Post-authorisation safety studies
NPR	The National Patient Register
DRG	Diagnosis related groups
SPDR	The Swedish Prescribed Drug Register
EMR	Electronic medical record
PAD	Peripheral artery disease
HDL-C	High-density lipoprotein cholesterol
LDL-C	Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol
MACE	Major adverse cardiovascular events
HDR	Dutch Hospital Discharge Register
NHI	The National Health Insurance
ACEi	Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor
ARB	Angiotensin receptor blocker
COPD	Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
СХР	Pygargus Customized eXtraction Program
CPRD	Clinical Practice Research Datalink
HR	Hazard ratio
CI	Confidence intervals
TG	Plasma triglycerides
GP	General practitioner
THIN	The Health Improvement Network
HDR	Dutch Hospital Discharge Register
HES	Hospital Episode Statistics
NHS	National Health Service
NHI	The National Health Insurance program
DAG	Directed acyclic graph
PS	Propensity score
TASTE	Thrombus Aspiration in ST- Elevation Myocardial Infarction in Scandinavia
PCI	Percutaneous coronary intervention
SCAAR	Swedish Coronary Angiography and Angioplasty Registry

3 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to everyone who has supported me, inspired me, and contributed to make this thesis possible, with special thanks to:

Professor Sverre Kjeldsen, to be under his professional supervision has been an enjoyable, motivating and educative process from start to finish.

My co-supervisors Niklas Hammar and Johan Sundström have been a great help during the work with this thesis.

I would also like to thank my employer AstraZeneca for the opportunity to do this thesis. And for providing a great start to my work career by having some truly inspiring managers, Henrik Lund, Christian Clemm and Jan Petter Akselsen, who really gave me a joyfully and wise introduction to the life in the pharma industry.

I would further like to thank my current manager, Niklas Lindarck, for being a good discussion partner and letting my grow in my current role. Also, my co-workers in the AstraZeneca Medical Evidence department are all of great support and sources of inspiration. A special thanks goes to Helena Goike for a good and open cooperation and a lot of red mark in my manuscripts over the years. Johan Bodegård for keeping the momentum going when not all journals liked the submitted manuscripts.

Urban Olsson and Marcus Thuresson at Statisticon are also doing a tremendous job in structuring and analyzing data, always open for discussion and ways of improving the work.

I had the privilege of working with highly inspiring, skilled and good co-authors in all three publications. The "pioneer" period, when the concept of combing national register data with data from primary care medical journals was developed for the hypertension and statin studies, was especially interesting since everything was new (at last for me) and methodology and organization for these projects had to be developed from scratch. I was so lucky that I meet Bo Lindman in the beginning, a man with a visionary mindset for developing new use of real life data and with the right contacts. Without him I am not sure this had worked out so well.

My dear wife Hege and my lovely children Herman and Fredrik – thank you for being by my side and constantly reminding me on what is important in life.

4 INTRODUCTION

4.1 CARDIOVASCULAR DRUG DEVELOPMENT AND REAL WORLD DATA

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is the number one cause of death globally. More people die annually due to CVD than from any other cause, with an estimated 17.5 million CVD related deaths in 2012, representing 31% of all deaths globally (1). Of these, an estimated 7.4 million were due to coronary heart disease and 6.7 million were due to stroke (1).

Globally, death due to CVD increased by 41% between the years 1990 and 2013, despite a 39% decrease in age-specific death rates (2). Still, a reduction in CVD related deaths has been observed during the recent years in high-income countries. This reduction is likely due to the combined effect of less exposure to tobacco smoking, changes in diet, and improved treatment by increased use of evidence-based drug therapies, for example blood pressure lowering drugs, statins, platelet inhibitors, and anticoagulants for both cardiovascular risk factors and cardiovascular disease (2).

However, despite this, there is still a global overall increase in the prevalence of cardiovascular disease, even in high-income countries, and cardiovascular disease is still one of the major reasons for death and reduced health globally, and continued need for development of new effective and safe cardiovascular drugs is present.

In the development of new drug therapies, randomized controlled trials (RCTs) are from a methodology perspective considered to be the gold standard (3). However, in the development phase of a drug, there are several research questions might be more comprehensively studied using other research methods than randomised controlled trial design. In addition to this, there is a recognized and increasing demand from regulatory authorities and payers for additional data from real-life treatment settings to complement and support the results from RCTs. Accordingly, there is an increased focus within the pharma industry of the importance of Real-World Data (RWD) (4).

RWD are collected from sources outside of traditional (randomized) clinical trials. These sources may include large trials, or pragmatic clinical trials, prospective observational or register studies, retrospective database studies, case reports, administrative and healthcare claims, electronic health records, data obtained as part of a public health investigation or routine public health surveillance, and registries (e.g., device, procedural, or disease registries) (Figure 1) (5). Real-World Evidence (RWE) is used to refer to the product of aggregation and analysis of RWD (5).

4.1.1 Sources of RWE



1. International Society for Pharmacoeconomics and Outcomes Research. ISPOR Using 'Real World' Data Task Force. Draft Report. 2006. Available from: www.ispor.org/workpaper/RWD_TF/RWTFDraftReport.pdf (Accessed 04 September 2017) 2. Gliklich, Dreyer, editors. Registries for evaluating patient outcomes: a user's guide. 2nd edn. Rockville: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, 2010

3. Tunis et al. JAMA 2003;290:1624–32 RCT, randomized controlled trial; RWE, real-world evidence

Historically, from a pharma industry development perspective, RWD has primarily an important role in post-marketing drug safety surveillance, where register data with large numbers of unselected patients with generally long follow up time are utilized to study the extended safety profile of drugs. These studies can be initiated by the company itself, or be requested by regulatory authorities (postauthorisation safety studies (PASS)). A classical example of this type of studies is the safety follow up programme for acid suppressive drugs and potential increase risk of cancer (6).

However, as mentioned earlier, an increased demand for RWD is also evident from regulatory authorities and payers. The increase need for RWE in the different phases of a drug life cycle was presented by the European Medicine Agency at a meeting in 2016, as illustrated below (Figure 2) (4).



4.1.2 Need of RWE in different phases of a drug life cycle

For regulatory authorities, pre-launch RWE data on prevalence and incidence, current treatment and disease outcome have become an essential part of the documentation package for a new drug application and/or new indications (7-9). Overall, addition of RWE data may allow for a broader understanding of the data from RCTs, e.g. adding information on the estimated overall size of target patient population, and providing a possible assessment of the generalizability of the results from the RCTs caused by selection of study patients and follow-up vs. real-life populations (10). From a health economic perspective, data from real-world studies have become essential in reimbursement dossiers as a part of cost-effectiveness analyses for new drugs and indications or drugs on the marked facing potential price reductions (11).

When the drug is available on the market, treatment reality studies provide important information with data on treatment prescription patterns, i.e. is the drug prescribed according to recommendations and reimbursement criteria, patients' persistence to therapy, and monitoring of potential safety signals (12-14).

RWD is also considered to be a valuable data source for example in sample size estimations for planned randomised trials, and the generation of research questions regarding underlying disease patterns to be tested in randomized trials. Another potential and important area of use for RWD is the evaluation of changes in risk predictors, as this might not be possible to study with a randomised study design where randomisation into different follow up groups might not be feasible. Examples for this include changes in body mass index and association with cardiovascular disease risk after being diagnosed with type 2 diabetes (15), and changes in high density lipoprotein cholesterol after initiation of statin therapy (16). Furthermore, comparative effectiveness studies where one treatment is compared with another relevant treatment in a real-life setting regarding outcome is becoming a major part of the data needed during a drug's life cycle. These studies allow outcome in larger, unselected patient populations to be described as a complement to RCT outcome studies (Figure 3), or as an alternative to RCT data when RCT outcome data are not available (17-19). Payer authorities in many countries are starting to request comparative effectiveness data and cost data as a part of negotiations for gaining or maintaining reimbursement for drugs.





Adopted from Taylor and Gordon (2007). Handbook of research methods in abnormal and clinical psychology RWE, real-world evidence; RCT, randomized controlled trial

Based on the importance of RWD for the pharma industry there is a continued increased search for registries and countries where high quality studies of this type can be performed. The typical limitations of RWD register sources include incomplete historical or geographic coverage, restriction to selected patient groups and lack of complete long term follow-up. In addition, insufficient linkage possibilities with other data sources (for example data on socio-economic status) might also reduce the usefulness of data. Furthermore, the quality of register-based research largely depends on the data validity. The requirements of data completeness and validity are even more critical for comparative effectiveness studies, as there is a risk that residual, unmeasured confounding, or confounding by indication may have affect the results. Furthermore, access to data on health care costs, for example what are main cost drivers within a therapeutic area, the cost for treating selected patient groups are critical information that ideally should be directly retrieved from register data.

4.2 SWEDISH NATIONAL REGISTER DATA

In the Nordic countries, public-funded general health care for all citizens, combined with a long history of mandatory registration of data with individual-level linkage possibility via the personal identification number, potentiates unique longitudinal full population-based registers studies with multiple data sources covering entire nations (20).

Sweden, as also seen in the other Nordic countries, has some unique national registries for RWD: The National Patient Register (NPR), started in 1964 with complete national coverage since 1987, covering in-patient admission and discharge dates, as well as out-patient visits, with main and secondary diagnoses according to International Classification of Diseases, 10th revision, Clinical Modification (ICD-10-CM codes). A validation of the NPR reported a general high validity of the diagnoses, although some differences were observed between diagnoses (21). Especially within the CV area, many of the most commonly utilized study endpoints, e.g. heart failure, stroke and myocardial infarction were validated and showed comparatively high positive predictive values (22-24). Furthermore, NPR data also include the costs of hospitalization and interventions according to the Diagnosed Related Groups (DRG) classification system (25).

In addition, there are several disease specific quality registries in Sweden, often with nation-wide coverage (26). These registries contain more detailed clinical data for a specific disease area, and one of the most well-known examples within the cardiovascular disease area is the Swedeheart register(27), but comprehensive nationwide registers are present also for stroke (28), heart failure (29) and PAD (30).

The Swedish Prescribed Drug Register (SPDR), with nationwide coverage from 1 July 2005 include data on all drugs dispensed by pharmacies in Sweden. The register contains data on the date of prescription and dispense; substance, brand name, formulation, package, amount and dosage for the dispensed item; age, sex and a where the patient lives; as well as type of prescribing practice (primary care centre or hospital clinic) and the prescriber's profession (31).

The Swedish Cause of Death register (from 1961) reports annual death data by age, sex, cause, place of death, and municipality of residence. Since 2011 the register includes mortality data on all deceased persons who at the time of death was registered in Sweden, no matter if the death occurred within or outside the country (32).

4.3 SWEDISH PRIMARY CARE DATA

A patient in Sweden has normally only one general practitioner who follows the patient and is responsible for documenting their examinations in the electronic medical record (EMR). EMRs have

been in use of more than 95% of primary care centres since 2005 (17). The EMRs are continuously updated with external data, i.e. radiologic results, ultrasound examinations, hospital discharge data, and laboratory data (17). In addition, the same disease coding system (ICD-9/10) is used in primary care and hospitals in Sweden, thus allowing easy monitoring of diseases across different care giving levels. One major limitation in Swedish RWD is the access to data from primary care, since there is no public primary care register in place. One feasible method to collect primary data is direct electronic extraction of EMR data directly by different extraction programs (33).

5 AIMS OF THE THESIS

The aim of this PhD thesis is to describe the suitability of Swedish national health care registry data and electronic medical records data from primary care in Sweden in the different phases of cardiovascular drug development and life cycle management:

1) To study long-term cardiovascular outcome, health care resource use, and health care costs in patients with peripheral artery disease (Paper I), as an example of a study on current treatment, outcome, resource use and costs of a disease area.

2) To study the association between paradoxical HDL cholesterol decrease and risk of major adverse cardiovascular events in patients initiated on statin therapy (Paper II), as an example of evaluation of changes in risk predictors on outcome.

3) To study diabetes and CVD risk during angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor or angiotensin II receptor blocker treatment in patients with hypertension (Paper III), as an example of a comparative effectiveness study.

Furthermore, the methodological challenges related to different types of RWE studies in different phases of drug development will be illustrated and discussed.

6 PUBLICATIONS

 Hasvold P, Sigvant B, Kragsterman B, Kristensen T, Falkenberg M, Johansson S, Thuresson M, Nordanstig J. Long-term cardiovascular outcome, use of resources, and healthcare costs in patients with peripheral artery disease: Results from a nationwide Swedish study. European Heart Journal - Quality of Care and Clinical Outcomes, qcx028,

https://doi.org/10.1093/ehjqcco/qcx028

- Hasvold P, Thuresson M, Sundström J, Hammar N, Kjeldsen SE, Johansson G, Holme I, Bodegård J. Association Between Paradoxical HDL Cholesterol Decrease and Risk of Major Adverse Cardiovascular Events in Patients Initiated on Statin Treatment in a Primary Care Setting. Clin Drug Investig. 2016 Mar;36(3):225-33
- Hasvold LP, Bodegård J, Thuresson M, Stålhammar J, Hammar N, Sundström J, Russell D, Kjeldsen SE. Diabetes and CVD risk during angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor or angiotensin II receptor blocker treatment in hypertension: a study of 15,990 patients. J Hum Hypertens. 2014 Nov;28(11):663-9

7 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

Paper I

The study protocol was reviewed and approved by the regional ethics committee of the University of Gothenburg, Sweden (reference number: 649-14). Linkage of data was performed by the Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare. The linked database was managed by the Institute of Medicine at the Sahlgrenska Academy, Gothenburg, Sweden.

Paper II

The study protocol was reviewed and approved by the regional research ethics committee in Uppsala, Sweden (Reference number 2012/007) and registered at ClinicalTrials.gov (clinical trial identifier NCT01551784). The linked study database is owned and managed by the Department of Public Health and Caring Sciences, Uppsala University, Uppsala (16).

Paper III

The study protocol was reviewed and approved by the Regional Research Ethics Committee in Uppsala, Sweden and registered with ClinicalTrials.gov, NCT01152567. The study database was owned and managed by the Department of Public Health and Caring Sciences, Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden (34).

Data for all papers were analyzed using de-identified data.

8 METHODS

8.1 PAPER I

For this observational cohort study, data were extracted from three mandatory Swedish nationwide registries: NPR, SPDR, and the Swedish Cause of Death Register. Individual patient-level data from the registers were linked by the Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare.

All patients with a first time primary or secondary diagnosis of PAD in a hospital setting (as in-patient or out-patient), ICD-10 I70.0 (atherosclerosis of aorta), I70.2 (atherosclerosis of arteries of extremities), or I73.9 (claudicatio intermittens), between 2006 and 2013 were included.

The population was stratified by age and risk profile at index date (discharge from hospital with PAD diagnosis):

- Patients aged < 65 years
- Patients aged 65–75 years
- Patients aged > 75 years

Patients with one or more of the following comorbidities were defined as high-risk CV patients: diabetes mellitus, MI, stroke, heart failure, or chronic renal dysfunction. Patients without these conditions were classified as low risk.

8.1.1 Clinical outcomes

The primary endpoint of major CV events was a composite of hospitalization with a main diagnosis of non-fatal MI (ICD-10: I21), non-fatal IS (ICD-0: I63-I64), or CV death (ICD-10 codes I00–I99). Lower limb revascularization was defined as an open or endovascular procedure, as captured in NPR based on procedure codes.

8.1.2 Resource use

Data on hospitalizations and out-patient care visits were collected from the NPR. The primary diagnosis defined the event type, in those cases where a patient had both a primary and a secondary diagnosis.

Resource use associated with CV disease included hospitalizations, out-patient care visits, and drug use, whereas non-CV related care included all care not related to CV (ICD-10 I). All non-procedural lower limb-related events were included in the category "CV events". Lower limb procedures included only invasive procedures for treatment of PAD.

Data on dispense, prescribed drugs in terms of substance, formulation, dose, and date of administration were collected from the Prescribed Drug Register. Cardiovascular drugs included drugs in the ATC class C. Non-cardiovascular drugs were defined as all drugs not included in the ATC class C.

8.1.3 Health care costs

Each recorded hospitalization and out-patient care visit was assigned a 2015 diagnosis-related group (DRG) weight, which was multiplied by the most recent 2015 cost per weight. In cases of missing DRG codes in the 2015 DRG catalogue, older DRG catalogues were used to apply the correct weight. If DRG codes recorded before 2015 had been stratified into several DRG codes in the 2015 DRG catalogue, a weighted average of these weights was applied. Irrespective of the year in which the DRG code was recorded, all costs were multiplied by the most recent cost per weight.

The daily cost of a drug was calculated by multiplying the average dose by the most recent retail price available.

8.1.4 Analysis

Follow-up data were collected from the time of the index diagnosis of PAD until death or the end of follow-up. The frequency and proportion of patients with the primary composite endpoint were assessed and a Kaplan–Meier analysis was performed to estimate the cumulative probability of the primary composite endpoint during study follow-up. If one patient had several events, only the first was used in the survival model.

Resource use was calculated for each year, i.e. one year before initial PAD diagnosis, the year after being diagnosed with PAD (starting from the hospital admission date, or the date recorded for the out-patient visit when the PAD diagnosis was established), and the five years that followed. Patients contributed to a particular year of analysis if they died during the year or had a full year of exposure.

Mean healthcare costs per patient per year were estimated by applying unit costs to the corresponding resource use items. If a patient had both a PAD CV-related diagnosis and a lower limb procedure performed at the same visit, the costs were reported as being lower limb-related.

8.2 PAPERS II AND III

8.3 PAPER II

8.3.1 Data sources

In this study, data were extracted from three nationwide Swedish nationwide registries: NPR, SPDR, and the Swedish Cause of Death Register.

Data from primary care was collected at 76 primary care centers in Sweden, using a software system called Pygargus XPD (33). The personal identification number for each patient is replaced with a study ID prior to further data processing. The file linking personal identification number and study ID was stored separately by the principal investigator. Data linkage was performed by the Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare.

8.3.2 Patient population

Patients between 18 and 85 years who started first time statin therapy between 2004 and 2009 were eligible for inclusion. Eligible patients had to have HDL-C and LDL-C measurements within 12 months before start of statin treatment, as well as a measurement after 10 days and within 12 months on statin treatment. Excluded patients were; 1) patients with cardiovascular events before the first HDL-measurement while on statin treatment, 2) patients with history of alcohol abuse and on-going malignancy, 3) patients with an LDL-C lowering of less than 0.5 mmol/l due to insufficient statin effect or indication of low compliance to statin treatment.

The date of first statin dispense was defined as start of statin treatment. The start of the observation period for collecting endpoints was date of first HDL-C measurement on statin treatment. The end of the study observation was 31 December 2011, the end of statin treatment, or death. If a statin treatment gap of more than 90 days was observed, based on available dispensed drug data, the end of statin treatment was defined as calculated days on last available dispensed drug package plus an additional 25% of days based on the last dispensed drug pack size.

Three HDL-C groups were defined based on change in between last HDL-C measurement prior statin treatment and first HDL-C measurement on at least 14 days of statin treatment: HDL-C decrease: more than 0.1 mmol/L and HDL-C unchanged group: ±0.1 mmol/L. To explore the effect of HDL-C increase, a group with more than 0.1 mmol/L increase in HDL-C was defined.

The analysis was performed in two patient samples; the matched sample, which included HDL-C decrease and unchanged HDL-C patients who fulfilled the inclusion and exclusion criteria and who could be propensity score matched for baseline characteristics regarding propensity of HDL-C

decrease. The unmatched population used for sub group analyses comprised all patients who fulfilled the inclusion and exclusion criteria.

8.3.3 Outcome

The major adverse cardiovascular event (MACE) endpoint was a composite of hospitalization for a primary diagnosis for myocardial infarction (ICD-10, I21), unstable angina pectoris (ICD-10, I20.0), ischaemic stroke (ICD-10, I63), or cardiovascular death (all primary causes of death diagnosed with ICD-10 codes I00–I99).

8.3.4 Analysis

Logistic regression models were included to estimate the propensity scores between the decreased and unchanged HDL-C groups, with the HDL-C decrease as the response variable and the following covariates: age, gender, baseline HDL-C, baseline LDL-C, LDL-C change on statin treatment, antihypertensive therapy, diagnosis of diabetes, heart failure, hypertension, angina pectoris, peripheral artery disease (PAD), and stroke.

The propensity scores were matched pairwise, with exact matching for prior myocardial infarction and use of calipers of width equal to 0.1 of the standard deviation of the propensity score. The primary endpoint was analyzed by a Cox proportional hazards model, using a grouped jack-knife estimation of the variance to take the correlation within pairs into account.

The association between HDL-C change and the primary endpoint in the decreased and increased HDL-C groups was studied in the following sub groups: gender (men/women), primary/secondary prevention, with/without diabetes, and in patients above 75 years of age versus younger patients. In the sub group analyses, Cox regression with adjustment for age, gender, baseline HDL-C, baseline LDL-C, LDL-C change on statin treatment, antihypertensive therapy, diagnosis of diabetes, heart failure, hypertension, angina pectoris, PAD, and stroke was used.

8.4 PAPER III

8.4.1 Data sources

In this study, data were extracted from three nationwide Swedish nationwide registries: NPR, Swedish Cause of Death Register and Statistics Sweden (data on socio-economic status (educational level)).

Data on all patients prescribed either ACEi or ARB at 71 primary care centers from 1 January 1999 to 31 December 2007 where extracted and processed the same way as data in paper II.

Candesartan, being one of the two most frequently prescribed ARB in Sweden was chosen to represent the ARBs in this comparison in order to reduce potential confounding. Enalapril was chosen to represent the ACEis because of identical indications to candesartan and being the most frequently prescribed ACEi in Sweden (75% of patients receiving ACEis).

8.4.2 Study population

Patients aged 18 years or older, who for the first time were prescribed either enalapril or candesartan, with or without a fixed combination with hydrochlorothiazide, were eligible for the study. The first prescription of the study drug within the study period was defined as the start of the study. Exclusion criteria were a recorded diagnose of CVD, diabetes, chronic kidney disease or malignancy. Patients who were prescribed vitamin K antagonists, clopidogrel, acetylic salicylic acid, digitalis glycosides, aldosterone antagonists, loop diuretics, nitrates or anti-diabetes drugs within 15 months prior to study start were considered to have potential CVD or diabetes and were excluded.

Data on age, gender, blood pressure values and body mass index (BMI), laboratory/blood samples, diagnoses, number of visits and prescribed drugs were extracted from the primary care journals. The baseline for the blood pressure value was calculated as the mean of the last three measurements during the time period 15 months before until 14 days after the start of enalapril or candesartan treatment. Blood pressure at 6 months was calculated as the mean of measurements 2 weeks to 6 months after study start. From 12 months and onwards, 6-monthly blood pressures were calculated as the mean of measurements from 6 months before to 6 months after the specific time point.

8.4.3 Follow-Up and Outcomes

Patients were eligible for analysis while they remained on study drug treatment. The observation period ended on the date when the patient died, discontinued the study drug treatment, started a new RAS inhibiting drug, or on the 31 December 2007.

The criteria for the diagnosis of diabetes in Sweden is normally based on elevated plasma glucose values (>7.0 mmol/L) and/or a positive oral glucose tolerance test. The endpoint for diabetes was a recorded primary care or hospital discharge diagnosis of type 2 diabetes (ICD-9 code 250, ICD-10 codes E10-E14) and/or prescription of a drug within the ATC system class A10. This endpoint for diabetes diagnosis have been validated in other studies. The end-point for assessing CVD consisted of a recorded diagnosis of all non-fatal and fatal CVD (myocardial infarction, unstable angina, chronic ischemic heart disease, peripheral artery disease, heart failure, cardiac arrhythmias and stroke) as defined by ICD codes.

Time to event end-points were analyzed using Cox proportional hazards regression models. If one patient had several endpoints, only the first was used in the survival model. Time to diabetes or CVD was analyzed separately.

8.4.4 Selection of Covariates for the Primary Analysis

Patients with a history of renal disease, CVD and/or diabetes were excluded from this study. Age, gender, elevated blood glucose, overweight and low socioeconomic status are known risk factors for diabetes, and high cholesterol and hypertension are additionally known risk factors for CVD. All included patients had hypertension and there was no difference between the two treatment groups regarding baseline lipid values and statin use. The socioeconomic status is associated with smoking pattern, overweight and physical activity, thus a risk factor for diabetes and CVD. The treatment patterns (diagnoses, treatment targets) may change over time, and the primary analysis was therefore adjusted for age and gender at baseline, socioeconomic status and year of study start.

The primary analysis was supported by sensitivity analyses where additional covariates with incomplete coverage at baseline were included and analyses with exclusion of endpoints recorded within a specific time-frame after study start.

8.4.5 Sensitivity Analyses Diabetes

For diabetes, additional sensitivity analyses were performed where baseline HbA1c, blood glucose and BMI were included as additional covariates. The diagnosis of diabetes within 6 and 12 months after the start of study were also excluded in extra analyses for diabetes and CVD.

8.4.6 Sensitivity Analyses for Diabetes and CVD

The propensity scores for receiving either enalapril or candesartan were calculated using a logistic regression model in which the dependent variable was use of enalapril or candesartan. Independent covariates included in the model were gender, age, year of study start, systolic blood pressure, total cholesterol, blood glucose, socio-economic status, beta blockers, statins, calcium antagonists, and thiazides. Blood glucose was selected as covariate for laboratory samples related to diabetes, since the elevated blood glucose is the main diagnostic criterion for diabetes in Sweden. The resulting propensity scores were matched pair wise using calipers of width equal to 0.2 of the standard deviation of the propensity score using the matching package in R. Risk of new onset diabetes and CVD were calculated using a Cox proportional hazards model stratified by the matched pairs.

For both end-points, the same model for adjusted Cox regression with multiple imputation of systolic blood pressure as additional covariate was applied. The potential effect of variation in proportion of

included patients per year in the two cohorts was also studied by analyzing the cohorts of patients included before and after 2005 separately.

9 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

9.1 NATIONAL REGISTER DATA (PAPER I)

The paper 1 "Long-term cardiovascular outcome, use of resources, and healthcare costs in patients with peripheral artery disease: Results from a nationwide Swedish study" is an example of the opportunities Swedish national registers data can provide for studies with the aim of describing size of patient populations, outcomes, resource use, and health care costs.

Paper I included all patients newly diagnosed with PAD in the Swedish National Patient Register between 2006-2014, and subsequently linked to cause of death- and prescribed drug registers. The mean per-patient annual healthcare costs (reported in Euros [€]) (hospitalisations and out-patient visits) were divided into cardiovascular (CV), lower limb and non-CV related cost. Results were stratified by high CV risk, patient with diabetes mellitus, MI, stroke, heart failure, or chronic renal dysfunction, and low CV risk (i.e. without any of the mentioned diseases).

Overall, 141,266 patients with a diagnosis of PAD were identified, of which 66,189 had their first PAD diagnosis established during the observation period and could be included in the study. PAD was mainly diagnosed at hospital out-patient visits (71%), and was the main reason for hospital contact for 77% of the patients. Mean length of follow-up was 2.8 years, with a maximum of 8 years, resulting in a total of 184,614 patient-years of follow-up. Baseline characteristics of the PAD study population are presented in the table below.

9.1.1 Baseline characteristics of patients diagnosed with PAD

	Age <65 High-risk	Age <65 Low-risk	Age 65-75 High-risk	Age 65-75 Low-risk	Age 75+ High-risk	Age 75+ Low-risk	Total
	n=5,050	n=5,752	n=10,733	n=9,908	n=21,068	n=13,678	n=66,189
Age (SD)	59.5 (3.8)	59.3 (3.9)	70.4 (3.1)	70.1 (3.1)	84.0 (5.2)	83.4 (5.3)	75.6 (10.3)
Gender (Female)	1,567 (31.0)	2,510 (43.6)	3,719 (34.7)	4,914 (49.6)	10,595 (50.3)	8,297 (60.7)	31,602 (47.7)
Aorta aneurysm	163 (3.2)	258 (4.5)	712 (6.6)	708 (7.1)	951 (4.5)	629 (4.6)	3,421 (5.2)
Diabetes	3,594 (71.2)	0 (0.0)	6,977 (65.0)	0 (0.0)	9,840 (46.7)	0 (0.0)	20,411 (30.8)
Hypertension	4,284 (84.8)	2,708 (47.1)	9,585 (89.3)	6,326 (63.8)	18,086 (85.8)	9,397 (68.7)	50,386 (76.1)
Myocardial infarction	1,409 (27.9)	0 (0.0)	3,189 (29.7)	0 (0.0)	6,391 (30.3)	0 (0.0)	10,989 (16.6)
Angina pectoris	1,553 (30.8)	474 (8.2)	3,700 (34.5)	1,129 (11.4)	6,754 (32.1)	1,913 (14.0)	15,523 (23.5)
Ischemic stroke	794 (15.7)	0 (0.0)	2,433 (22.7)	0 (0.0)	6,040 (28.7)	0 (0.0)	9,267 (14.0)
Heart failure	1,141 (22.6)	0 (0.0)	3,303 (30.8)	0 (0.0)	10,464 (49.7)	0 (0.0)	14,908 (22.5)
Atrial fibrillation	636 (12.6)	205 (3.6)	2,495 (23.2)	808 (8.2)	8,823 (41.9)	2,256 (16.5)	15,223 (23.0)
Major organ specific bleedings	433 (8.6)	231 (4.0)	1,088 (10.1)	553 (5.6)	2941 (14.0)	1,161 (8.5)	6,407 (9.7)
Chronic renal insufficiency	548 (10.9)	0 (0.0)	862 (8.0)	0 (0.0)	951 (4.5)	0 (0.0)	2,361 (3.6)
Chronic obstructive pulmonary							
disease	428 (8.5)	325 (5.7)	1,448 (13.5)	961 (9.7)	2,310 (11.0)	1,027 (7.5)	6,499 (9.8)
Cancer	449 (8.9)	563 (9.8)	1,822 (17.0)	1,750 (17.7)	4,883 (23.2)	3,013 (22.0)	12,480 (18.9)
Anti-platelets	3,711 (73.5)	3,689 (64.1)	7,974 (74.3)	6,767 (68.3)	14,893 (70.7)	8,677 (63.4)	45,711 (69.1)
Clopidogrel	731 (14.5)	333 (5.8)	1,463 (13.6)	638 (6.4)	2,166 (10.3)	769 (5.6)	6,100 (9.2)
Low dose aspirin	3,525 (69.8)	3,564 (62.0)	7,455 (69.5)	6,453 (65.1)	13,856 (65.8)	8,233 (60.2)	43,086 (65.1)
Warfarin	479 (9.5)	243 (4.2)	1,694 (15.8)	608 (6.1)	3,843 (18.2)	1,169 (8.5)	8,036 (12.1)
Statins	3,793 (75.1)	3,383 (58.8)	7,816 (72.8)	6,168 (62.3)	8,985 (42.6)	5,301 (38.8)	35,446 (53.6)
Anti-hypertensives	4,429 (87.7)	3,095 (53.8)	9,938 (92.6)	7,007 (70.7)	19,842 (94.2)	10,908 (79.7)	55,219 (83.4)
Anti-diabetics	3,263 (64.6)	17 (0.3)	6,159 (57.4)	19 (0.2)	7,915 (37.6)	20 (0.1)	17,393 (26.3)
Analgesics	2,478 (49.1)	2,124 (36.9)	5,742 (53.5)	3,957 (39.9)	14,851 (70.5)	8,017 (58.6)	37,169 (56.2)

Adapted from Hasvold P, Sigvant B, Kragsterman B, Kristensen T, Falkenberg M, Johansson S, Thuresson M, Nordanstig J. Long-term cardiovascular outcome, use of resources, and healthcare costs in patients with peripheral artery disease: Results from a nationwide Swedish study. European Heart Journal - Quality of Care and Clinical Outcomes, qcx028, https://doi.org/10.1093/ehjqcco/qcx028 (35)

The overall 1-year cumulative incidence rates of the primary composite CV endpoint (myocardial infarction, stroke, or CV death) and all-cause death were 16.6% and 21.1%, respectively. Mean total healthcare costs per patient were \in 6,577 during the year prior to the PAD diagnosis, of which 26% was CV-related (\notin 1,710),. First year after PAD diagnosis, healthcare costs were \notin 12,549 per patient (?), of which \notin 3,824 (30%) was CV-related and \notin 3,201 (26%) lower limb related. High-risk CV patients had higher annual total healthcare- and CV related costs during follow-up, compared to low risk CV patients (\notin 7,439 and \notin 1,442 versus \notin 4,063 and \notin 838, respectively). Annual lower limb procedure costs were \notin 728 in the PAD population, with lower limb re-vascularizations as key cost driver (\notin 474). The presence of additional risk factors, other than age, were the main drivers for both CV-related and non-CV-related costs, see figure below.

9.1.2 Annual costs per patient prior to and after peripheral artery disease (PAD), by cost category, age, and risk



Cardiovascular (CV)-related: includes all ICD-10 CV "I" diagnoses except PAD-related costs in combination with lower limb procedures. If a PAD patient had a hospitalization with a PAD diagnosis 'I' and a lower limb procedure, then the cost for this visit is reported as being lower limb procedure-related. Non-CV-related: all costs except costs related to CV (ICD-10 "I").

Adapted from Hasvold P, Sigvant B, Kragsterman B, Kristensen T, Falkenberg M, Johansson S, Thuresson M, Nordanstig J. Long-term cardiovascular outcome, use of resources, and healthcare costs in patients with peripheral artery disease: Results from a nationwide Swedish study. European Heart Journal - Quality of Care and Clinical Outcomes, qcx028, https://doi.org/10.1093/ehjqcco/qcx028 (35)

Compared to patients with MI, the total annual CV-related costs, excluding lower limb procedure costs, were higher for PAD patients during long-term follow-up, with a mean of €1,945 per patient as opposed to approximately €1,700-1,800 per patient; an effect of the progressive, chronic nature of PAD. Also, lower limb procedure-related costs were initially high, and remained so during the subsequent follow-up of these patients. Although the PAD population has a both well-recognized and high CV risk, the major proportion of hospitalization costs for PAD patients are not related to CV disease (29). (35).

The present study had some limitations. First, we did not have access to data describing the extent and severity of PAD, which may have had an impact on the treatment cost.

However, this access to register data combining the full population perspective, complete follow-up of patients over time, with validated endpoints (including cause of death) in combination with actual costs data is rather unique for the Nordic countries.

9.2 SWEDISH NATIONAL REGISTER DATA VS OTHER DATA SOURCES

In relation to Paper I and the utilization of Swedish national register data, its uniqueness can further be illustrated by the paper by Rapsomaniki et al 2016, where long-term cardiovascular outcome of post-myocardial infarction patients was compared between US, UK, France and (36). Here, Sweden was used as reference country regarding outcome, due to the full population coverage, with complete follow up and validated outcomes, whereas patients in the other countries were included on various criteria like specific health insurance coverage, age, or follow up by selected primary care physicians.

Another major advantage with Swedish NPR data, is that DRG codes are specified and available for each visit, making generation of health care costs data from a hospital care setting easily processed. In the Nordic, besides Sweden these data are also easily accessible in Norway, but not in Denmark. These data are the same as used by authorities for estimating resource use and cost settings for different types of hospitalizations and interventions.

Furthermore, the Swedish NPR also contains a substantial number of recorded procedural codes in addition to those classified as surgical (surgery performed in an operating room), for example detailed data on angiography or echocardiography procedures (37). Since reporting of these procedure codes are a mandatory part of the resource funding system for hospitals (as a major part of the DRG calculation), it is likely that these data are rather complete. However, the procedural data are not often yet extensively included in studies and might be additional valuable variables to include in future studies.

Several other registers sources/countries outside Sweden and the Nordics can provide partly similar data as Sweden. However, often is the full population perspective missing, since data for only selected patient groups are available, or the DRG data are missing, and in other cases, is the unique personal identification number missing, making linking to other data sources difficult.

One example is the Netherlands, where the Dutch Hospital Discharge Register (HDR), started in 1963, contains similar diagnosis data as NPR in Sweden, however lacking data on out-patients visits and cost data. Since a complete patient identifying information (personal identification number) is missing, linkage approach to other data sources is potentially challenging (38, 39).

A few other countries also present as potential options. In the UK, the United Kingdom's Clinical Practice Research Datalink has recorded comprehensive information on both diagnoses, clinical data, and drug therapy prescribed in selected primary centers since 1987. This data base covers 9% of the UK population and is broadly representative of the wider population (40). However, hospital data in only available for a subset of patients, thus full population perspective is absent (40). Another

alternative in England is the Hospital Episode Statistics (HES), a data warehouse containing details of all admissions to National Health Service (NHS) hospitals in UK (41). However, a limitation with these data, is the linkage possibility to other data sources, for example, it is not possible to link with data on prescriptions. Also, the health improvement network (THIN) primary care database, containing records of approximately 5.7% of UK population, which can be linked to HES data, is an alternative (42, 43).

In the United States, the access to register data is restricted to certain age groups (44), income groups, professions, or members of private health insurance schemes (45), often without the possibility of linkage with other data, and with only limited historical data or long-term follow-up data (20).

Taiwan has some unique register data opportunities. The National Health Insurance (NHI) program is a national, single, and mandatory health insurance program since 1995, which by 2014 covered 99.9% of Taiwan's population (46). These register data include patient identifications, dates of the ambulatory or inpatient care provided, disease classification codes (ICD-9-CM codes), physician IDs, physician specialties, hospital IDs, surgical and non-surgical procedures performed, and the drug therapy prescribed. The advantage with these registers is that they cover both primary and secondary care, include relevant clinical data (e.g. laboratory data, weight, blood pressure), and are also linkable with other data sources on for example health care costs and socioeconomic status of the patients. Data from this register has been used in numerous studies (46).

When critically reviewing, the options provided by the Swedish registers of course these data have also several limitations that needs to be taken into consideration when utilizing them. A major limitation with Swedish national register data is that data on drug therapy given in an in-hospital setting is not available. Especially in disease areas where most of the drug therapy is given during hospital stays, for example cancer, this a significant limitation if the aim is to study effects of drug therapy. However, within many therapy areas, and especially within the CV area, in-hospital drug therapy data for the disease are sometimes included in the nation-wide disease specific quality registers which then potentially can be utilized to cover that aspect (27, 29).

Another limitation is the potential low number of patients due to the low number of inhabitants in Sweden. For example, for safety studies, where the aim is to describe rare safety signals associated with different treatments, or in comparative effectiveness studies where number of patients treated is not enough for showing differences between treatment groups. However, there is an increasing cooperation between Scandinavian countries regarding register data, and since the health care

system and data are similar in Denmark and Norway, thus there is a potential to increase the accessible population size by doing pan Nordic studies (47, 48).

9.3 PRIMARY CARE DATA FROM SWEDEN (PAPER II AND III) IN COMBINATION WITH NATIONAL

REGISTER DATA

Primary care centers have a central function in the health care system in Sweden, commonly being the first and main point-of-contact with the health care system, and having a gatekeeper function for referrals to secondary care. The access to primary care data gives for example access to important clinical data on blood pressure, weight, BMI, laboratory samples/results. Furthermore, as long-term caregiving, for often complicated chronic diseases such as COPD, atrial fibrillation, and type-2 diabetes, is provided in primary care, access also provides the possibility of having a complete overview of the care giving pattern, e.g. how often the patient is seen by a primary care physician or nurse etc. This information is vital in studies involving diseases where a major part of the care giving is provided in primary care (17, 18, 34).

Papers II and III, on HDL and ARB/ACE, are both examples of the use of national register data linked to Swedish EMR data, from approximately 7% of the total number of primary care centers in Sweden, and thereby covering a significant part of the Swedish population.

9.3.1 Paper II

In paper II, data for eligible patients, aged 18-85 years and initiated first time statin treatment between 2004 and 2009, were extracted from primary care electronic medical records at 76 primary care centers. This primary care data were linked with data from the NPR and cause of death register, and were grouped according to HDL-C change: decreased ≥ 0.1 mmol/L, unchanged ± 0.1 mmol/L or ≥ 0.1 mmol/L increased.

To evaluate the association between decrease in HDL-C and risk of MACE, a sample of propensity score-matched patients from the decreased and unchanged groups was created, using the latter group as reference. Cox proportional hazards models were used to estimate relative risks.

The baseline mean age was 62.7 years (range 19–85 years) and mean HDL-C was 1.48 mmol/L. The majority of patients (96%) were initiated on simvastatin, with a mean dose of 20 mg/day. Of these patients, 20% had a decrease in HDL-C during the observation period, 58% were unchanged, and 22% had an increase. The patient group with a decrease in HDL-C comprised more women, had a higher HDL-C at baseline (1.69 mmol/L), less diabetes, compared with the unchanged HDL-C group. The groups were similar regarding comorbid cardiovascular diagnoses; myocardial infarction, angina pectoris, PAD, stroke or heart failure (Table 2).

The decreased and unchanged HDL-C groups showed a large degree of propensity score overlap (71%), indicating that these groups were similar prior to the start of statin treatment. After matching, the decreased and unchanged HDL-C groups had similar baseline characteristics and LDL-C changes, with the exception of a higher simvastatin dose and lower triglyceride level in the decreased HDL-C group (Table 2).In paper II, data for patients who were eligible for inclusion if they were aged 18-85 years and started first time statin therapy between 2004 and 2009, were extracted from primary medical records at 76 primary care centers. Primary care data was linked with data from the NPR and cause of death register, and were grouped according to HDL-C change: decreased $\geq 0.1 \text{ mmol/L}$, unchanged $\pm 0.1 \text{ mmol/L}$ or $\geq 0.1 \text{ mmol/L}$ increased.

To evaluate the association between decrease in HDL-C and risk of MACE, a sample of propensity score-matched patients from the decreased and unchanged groups was created, using the latter group as reference. Cox proportional hazards models were used to estimate relative risks.

The baseline mean age was 62.7 years (range, 19–85 years) and mean HDL-C was 1.48 mmol/L. The majority of patients (96%) were initiated on simvastatin, with a mean dose of 20 mg/day. Of these patients, 20% had a decrease in HDL-C during the observation period, 58% were unchanged, and 22% had an increase. The patient group with a decrease in HDL-C comprised more women, had a higher HDL-C at baseline (1.69 mmol/L), less diabetes, compared with the unchanged HDL-C group. The groups were similar regarding presence of cardiovascular diagnoses; myocardial infarction, angina pectoris, PAD, stroke or heart failure (see table below).

The decreased and unchanged HDL-C groups showed a large degree of propensity score overlap (71%), indicating that these groups were similar prior to the start of statin treatment. After matching, the decreased and unchanged HDL-C groups had similar baseline characteristics and LDL-C changes, with the exception of a higher simvastatin dose and lower triglyceride level in the decreased HDL-C group (see table below).

C (≥0.1 mn matched p	C (\geq 0.1 mmol/L), or no change in HDL-C (\pm 0.1 mmol/L) (unmatched and propensity score- matched populations)									
Variable	Unmatched population				Propensity score-matched population					
	Decreased $(n = 3068)$	Unchanged $(n = 8919)$	Increased $(n = 3370)$	Decreased $(n = 2975)$	Unchanged $(n = 2975)$	p value ^a				
Women, <i>n</i> (%)	1872 (61.0)	4840 (54.3)	1997 (59.3)	1803 (60.6)	1798 (60.4)	0.92				
Age (years)	62.3 (10.2)	62.6 (10.2)	63.0 (9.8)	62.2 (10.1)	62.3 (10.2)	0.64				

3244 (96.3)

20.2 (8.8)

0.19 (0.6)

144.0 (18.9)

82.0 (10.4)

28.8 (4.9)

5.64 (1.4)

1.44 (0.42)

4.52 (0.97)

-1.86 (0.75)

6.77 (1.07)

1.40 (0.40)

1530 (45.4)

834 (24.8)

81 (2.4)

46 (1.4)

75 (2.2)

175 (5.2)

56 (1.7)

208 (6.2)

2835 (95.3)

20.8 (9.7)

0.2 (0.6)

144.6 (19.8)

82.7 (10.4)

28.7 (5.0)

5.6 (1.3)

1.66 (0.43)

4.53 (0.99)

6.86 (1.09)

1.53 (0.75)

1379 (46.4)

678 (22.8)

93 (3.1)

44 (1.5)

73 (2.5)

177 (6.0)

52(1.8)

181 (6.1)

-1.95 (0.80)

2823 (94.9)

19.7 (8.4)

0.2 (0.6)

143.3 (19.0)

81.9 (10.2)

28.6 (5.2)

5.6 (1.4)

1.66 (0.45)

4.52 (0.96)

6.86 (1.05)

1.55 (0.75)

1410 (47.4)

680 (22.9)

93 (3.1)

43 (1.5)

72 (2.4)

180(6.1)

44(1.5)

172 (5.8)

-1.96 (0.73)

0.09

 $<\!\!0.01$

0.16

0.02

0.01

0.67

0.77

0.95

0.71

0.92

0.86

0.23

0.44

0.98

1.00

1.00

1.00

0.64

0.47

0.66

8510 (95.4)

19.7 (8.7)

0.2 (0.6)

143.6 (18.6)

82.0 (10.1)

29.4 (5.0)

5.7 (1.3)

1.41 (0.40)

4.45 (0.95)

6.66 (1.04)

1.37 (0.38)

4320 (48.4)

2433 (27.3)

254 (2.9)

129 (1.5)

237 (2.7)

480 (5.4)

130(1.5)

665 (7.5)

-1.84(0.70)

9.3.2 Baseline characteristics for patients with a decrease in HDL-C (>0.1 mmol/L), an increase in HDL-

Values are expressed as mean (SD) unless specified otherwise

Age (years)

Dose (mg)

HbA1c (%)

n (%) Diabetes, n (%)

HDL-C (mol/L)

LDL-C (mmol/L)

Simvastatin, n (%)

to statin start

Hospitalisations, number/year prior

Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)

Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)

Body mass index (kg/cm²)

Change in LDL-C (mmol/L)

Total cholesterol (mmol/L)

Myocardial infarction, n (%)

Unstable angina pectoris, n (%)

Peripheral arterial disease, n (%)

Cerebrovascular disease, n (%)

Antihypertensives (hypertension),

Triglycerides (mmol/L)

Heart failure, n (%)

Arrhythmia, n (%)

HbA1c glycated haemoglobin, HDL high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, LDL low-density lipoprotein cholesterol

^a T test for continuous variables and Chi-square test for categorical variable

2925 (95.3)

20.8 (9.7)

0.2 (0.6)

144.6 (19.8)

82.6 (10.4)

28.6 (5.0)

5.5 (1.3)

1.69 (0.47)

4.53 (1.00)

-1.96 (0.81)

6.88 (1.10)

1.61 (0.45)

1426 (46.5)

691 (22.5)

107 (3.5)

45 (1.5)

75 (2.4)

182 (5.9)

54(1.8)

242 (7.9)

Adapted from Hasvold P, Thuresson M, Sundström J, Hammar N, Kjeldsen SE, Johansson G, Holme I, Bodegård J. Association Between Paradoxical HDL Cholesterol Decrease and Risk of Major Adverse Cardiovascular Events in Patients Initiated on Statin Treatment in a Primary Care Setting. Clin Drug Investig. 2016 Mar;36(3):225-33 (16)

Patients were followed for up to 7 years, with a median follow-up of 2.0 years, including 14 198 patient-years. In the group with decreased HDL-C, the mean HDL-C reduction was 0.27 mmol/L. The risk of major cardiovascular events was 56% higher in the decreased HDL-C group > (0.1 mmol/L) compared with the unchanged HDL-C group (±0.1 mmol/L) (HR, 1.56; 95% confidence interval [CI], 1.12-2.16; p<0.01). The association between HDL-C change and the primary endpoint in the decreased and increased HDL-C groups showed consistent results in the sub-groups analyses: sex, primary/secondary prevention, with/without diabetes, and in patients above 75 years of age versus younger patients.

Eighteen per cent of patients initiated on statin treatment during the observation period were included in the study. The main reason for exclusion was lack of laboratory data, as only laboratory measurements from primary care were available. This favored the inclusion of patients with regular primary care healthcare controls, for e.g. hypertension, diabetes, atrial fibrillation. A considerable proportion of secondary prevention patients with initiation of statin treatment in hospital did not have available pre-treatment HDL-C measurements and could therefore not be included. The exclusion of a significant proportion of patients might call into question the generalizability of the results. However, as the results were consistent in all subgroup analyses, with a numerically higher risk of reaching the composite endpoint with decreased HDL-C levels for all subgroups, thus the findings might be relevant to a broader patient population.

The study is observational and unmeasured confounders may have influenced the results. Patients with malignancy or history of alcoholism were not included in the study. Changes in body weight, smoking pattern, or physical activity might influence levels of HDL-C, the latter two of which are not systematically recorded in primary care records. Since smoking previously was reported to be associated with generally low HDL-C levels, it is likely that smokers would be in the unchanged group or increase group due to the regression to the mean effect in the study. Furthermore, if the increase in HDL-C was due to cessation of smoking, a decrease in HDL-C should be found more frequently in smokers. In Sweden, not only is the overall smoking practice low (<15%) but the likelihood of patients starting smoking during initiation of statin therapy can also be considered to be low. The inverse correlation between physical activity and HDL-C change is low and can therefore be considered to be of minor importance. A marked percentage increase in body mass index in patients with a reduction in HDL-C, when compared with patients with unchanged HDL-C levels was not observed.

Low compliance to statin treatment could potentially be a possible explanation for the findings. However, patients were only included in the analyses while on statin treatment, and only if the reported LDL-C reduction was greater than 0.5 mmol/L. The risk of the results being due to low compliance and/or statin response can therefore also be considered to be low.

The statin prescription pattern might be a source of confounding by indication. In the study, patients with high cardiovascular risk in general had a lower untreated LDL-C, and vice versa. This correlation between LDL levels and CVD risk has been reported previously in a real-life clinical setting. However, no correlation between LDL-C change and HDL-C change was found, as also supported by a previous report. A prescription bias based on low HDL-C levels might also be a source of explanation for the findings. As low HDL-C is not a reason for initiation of statin treatment in Sweden, it is not likely that HDL-C should be affected by confounding by indication. Furthermore, there was a mean difference of 1.1 mg of simvastatin between the decrease and unchanged groups after propensity score matching.

Analytical and biological and variation of HDL-C values may be a potential source of misclassification into the different HDL-C change groups. In Sweden, HDL-C samples are generally analyzed at regional

central laboratories, which all participate in national quality and standardization programs since end of the 1980s. The analytical variation for HDL-C in the Swedish external quality assurance program is between 3% and 4% (at the level of 1.68 mmol/L), while the biological variation of HDL-C is approximately 7%. Patients in the study had to have a decrease in HDL-C of more than 0.1 mmol/L, and the average HDL-C decrease was 0.27 mmol/L. The conservative estimations of the HDL-C variation support the notion that the magnitude of the observed HDL-C decrease was sufficient.

Furthermore, similar associations with baseline cholesterol parts were observed (HDL-C, plasma triglycerides (TG), and LDL-C) on HDL-C change pattern in the study compared to what have been reported in randomized clinical trials. Thus, patients with high HDL-C had higher likelihood of HDL-C reduction and patients with low HDL-C and higher associated cardiovascular risk at baseline would more likely be identified for the HDL-C decrease group (16).

9.3.3 Paper III

In paper III, data were extracted from primary medical records at 71 primary care centers as described in paper II and linked data from NPR, the National Cause of Death register and Statistics Sweden (socio-economic status; educational level).

Patients of both sex with hypertension at the included primary care centers from 1999 to 2007, who were prescribed for the first time either enalapril or candesartan, with or without a fixed combination with hydrochlorothiazide, were eligible for inclusion. Exclusion criteria were a recorded diagnose or drugs prescribed for CVD, diabetes, chronic kidney disease or malignancy.

Time to event end-points were analyzed using Cox proportional hazards regression models. Time to diabetes or CVD was analyzed separately.

Of 43,576 eligible patients; 33,946 (77.9%) were prescribed enalapril and 9,636 (22.1%) candesartan. In the 27,592 excluded patients, 66% (n=22,221) were in the enalapril group and 56% (n=5,371) in the candesartan group. The remaining study population consisted of 15,990 patients; 11,725 treated with enalapril and 4,265 with candesartan. All 71 primary care centers prescribed both enalapril and candesartan, although in various ratios. The patient characteristics in the two groups before and after propensity score matching are presented in the table below.

9.3.4 Baseline data for 15,990 hypertensive patients without previous cardiovascular disease and diabetes

Variable		Unmatched	Propensity score matched			
	<i>Enalapril</i> (n = 11725)	Candesartan (n = 4265)	P-value	<i>Enalapril</i> (n = 1111)	Candesartan (n = 1111)	P-value
Age (years)	61.0 (12.1)	60.0 (11.6)	< 0.01	59.6 (10.8)	59.7 (10.7)	0.81
Women, n (%)	6216 (53)	2431 (57)	< 0.01	582 (52)	583 (53)	1.00
Body mass index $(kg m^{-2})$	29.2 (5.3)	28.9 (5.2)	0.10	28.8 (4.8)	29.5 (5.2)	0.04
Systolic blood pressure (mm Hg)	163.3 (19.1)	162.0 (19.2)	< 0.01	161.5 (18.7)	161.7 (18.3)	0.80
Diastolic blood pressure (mm Hg)	91.8 (10.6)	91.8 (10.4)	0.94	92.2 (10.2)	92.1 (10.2)	0.71
Total cholesterol (mmol I ⁻¹)	5.9 (1.0)	5.8 (1.0)	0.11	5.9 (1.0)	5.9 (1.0)	0.88
LDL cholesterol (mmol l ⁻¹)	3.6 (0.8)	3.6 (0.8)	0.90	3.6 (0.8)	3.6 (0.8)	0.79
HDL cholesterol (mmol l ^{– 1})	1.4 (0.3)	1.4 (0.3)	0.92	1.4 (0.3)	1.3 (0.3)	< 0.01
Triglycerides (mmol I ^{- 1})	1.6 (0.8)	1.6 (0.8)	0.37	1.6 (0.7)	1.7 (0.8)	0.12
Glucose (mmol I ⁻¹)	5.4 (1.1)	5.3 (1.1)	< 0.01	5.3 (1.3)	5.3 (1.3)	0.63
HbA1c (%)	4.9 (0.7)	4.7 (0.5)	< 0.01	4.7 (0.5)	4.9 (0.7)	< 0.01
Serum creatinine (µmol l ^{- 1})	79.6 (16.7)	82.3 (16.2)	< 0.01	81.4 (16.1)	82.0 (16.2)	0.41
Potassium (mmoll ⁻¹)	4.1 (0.3)	4.1 (0.3)	0.12	4.1 (0.3)	4.1 (0.3)	0.57
Thiazides, n (%)	2082 (18)	525 (12)	< 0.01	204 (18)	197 (18)	0.74
Calcium channel blockers ^a , <i>n</i> (%)	1181 (10)	555 (13)	< 0.01	172 (15)	181 (16)	0.64
Beta blockers, n (%)	2855 (24)	1050 (25)	0.74	351 (32)	366 (33)	0.52
Statins, n (%)	749 (6)	290 (7)	0.37	137 (12)	137 (12)	0.95
Socio-economic status ^b (low/medium/high)	35/33/32	31/32/37	< 0.01	33/29/39	32/30/38	0.76
Percentage of patients hospitalized for any reason ^c	10.6%	11.1%				
Number of visits in primary care ^c	2.0	2.0				
Total number of diagnoses set (100 patients year ⁻¹) ^c	196.3	196.7				

Abbreviations: HbA1c, hemoglobin A1c; HDL, high-density lipoprotein; LDL, low-density lipoprotein. The numbers in brackets represents s.d., where no other description is given. ^aDihydropyridine substances. ^bEducational level. ^cWithin 15 months before the start of study.

Adapted from Hasvold LP, Bodegard J, Thuresson M, Stalhammar J, Hammar N, Sundstrom J, et al. Diabetes and CVD risk during angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor or angiotensin II receptor blocker treatment in hypertension: a study of 15,990 patients. J Hum Hypertens. 2014;28(11):663-9 (34)

During the study period, no difference in blood pressure between the two treatment groups was observed, and the proportion of patients with blood pressure recordings was similar in both treatment groups after one year of treatment. During the observation period, 38.7% (n= 4,538) patients were discontinued from the enalapril treated group and 27.1% (n= 1,157) from the candesartan group. During a mean follow-up of 1.84 years, 36,482 patient-years, the risk of new diabetes onset was lower in the candesartan group (hazard ratio (HR) 0.81, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.69–0.96, P=0.01) compared with the enalapril group. No difference between the groups was observed in CVD risk (HR 0.99, 95% CI 0.87–1.13, P=0.86).

The additional sensitivity analyses results with adjustments for baseline HbA1c, blood glucose and BMI were consistent with the results from the main analysis for diabetes. The same result was also observed when diabetes diagnoses set within 6 and 12 months after the start of study were excluded. In propensity score-matched analyses, candesartan patients had a lower risk of diabetes development, HR 0.63 (95% CI 0.42-0.96, P=0.03).

The unadjusted risk of CVD was lower in candesartan patients than in enalapril patients (HR 0.87, 95% CI 0.76-0.98, P=0.02. When adjusting for covariates (age, sex, index year, socio-economic status), the risk was similar in the two groups. Similar results were observed when multiple

imputations were performed for systolic blood pressure. In the propensity score-matched analysis, the HR of CVD was 0.83 (95% CI 0.56 - 1.24, P=0.37)

In depth understanding for why physicians chose enalapril or candesartan for treatment for hypertension can only be explored by quality interviews with the prescribing physicians, data which was not available in this study. Data on smoking and physical activity was missing for the majority of patients, and was therefore not included in the analyses. The general socioeconomic status was lower in the enalapril group, and potentially more patients could be expected to smoke in this group or have a different physical activity profile. The difference in socioeconomic status is however, adjusted for in all the analyses. No difference was observed between the two groups in the proportions of patients with COPD diagnose and or use of COPD medications, which is closely related to smoking. Nor was there a difference in mean weight during follow up or any differences in how the patients were treated and followed up before and after start of study medication in recorded data.

A potential explanation of the finding of more new diagnoses of diabetes in the enalapril group could be "opportunistic diagnosis" due to a potential increased number of patient visits to primary care in this group who had a higher non-cardiovascular disease burden. However, the frequency of primary care visits, diagnoses, laboratory/blood samples data and hospitalizations prior to the start of the study did not differ markedly between the two groups, suggesting similar needs for medical consultations at baseline. No major difference in number of annual primary care visits or blood samples taken between the two treatment groups during follow-up was observed. The finding of increase number of diabetes diagnoses in the enalapril group did not follow the general trend regarding other diagnoses during the observation period as the number of other diagnoses made during the study was higher in the candesartan group. This does not support the possibility of a general higher disease burden in the enalapril group.

Enalapril and candesartan have the same prescribing indications in Sweden; both are indicated for hypertension and heart failure but not for renal diseases. However, The ACEis were available before the ARB class and thus gained hard endpoint documentation and CVD indications (heart failure, myocardial infarction) earlier. More patients (11.2%) were excluded for earlier diabetes and CVD in the enalapril group. Patient records in primary care were searched for chronic kidney disease, diabetes and CVD diagnoses and drugs up to 5-6 years before inclusion. The same diagnoses were also searched for in the NPR, which has a national coverage since 1987. The combination of these two search techniques, should therefore have lowered the risk of undetected diabetes and CVD prevalence at baseline.

When including patients over a long-time span, an important potential confounding factor could have been variations in hypertensive treatment over time, favoring inclusion either in the enalapril or candesartan group. Alterations in the Swedish reimbursement system for the use of RAAS inhibiting drugs for hypertension in 2008 are an example. Qualifications for reimbursement for hypertension from this date required that patients should start with an ACEi and ARBs should be prescribed as a second line treatment for patients with side effects on ACEi treatment or as add on therapy (heart failure). These requirements were implemented earlier in some areas of Sweden. The annual frequency of inclusion to the enalapril or candesartan group from 1999 to 2007 reflects these changes; by a relatively higher use of enalapril from 2005. In order to minimize the possible effects of temporal changes, index year (start of treatment) was included as covariate/adjustment in all analyses. The same results were observed when we excluded patients included in 2005-2007 from the study (34).

9.4 PRIMARY CARE DATA FROM SWEDEN

As mention earlier, and illustrated by papers II and III, Sweden could potentially be an ideal country for retrieving data from primary care having electronic recording of patient medical data (EMRs) in almost all primary care centers since 2005, and to a large extent using server based journal systems. This potentiates data extraction by tailored extraction programs from a large number of medical records simple and feasible. The most frequently used method in Sweden is the Pygargus Customized eXtraction Program (CXP), which was used in paper II and III. This method has been used in more than 50 studies (33).

The technical aspects of the extraction method have been validated. The program extracted 100% of the relevant cases, with a specificity of 99.9% (33). Furthermore, in a manual comparison of data from 100 randomly selected patient journals at 25 primary care centers, no discrepancies were found when journal data and data in the study database was compared (17).

Since both primary and secondary care in Sweden utilize the same disease coding system (ICD-10), the disease management at different care giving levels can be followed. In addition, the quality of available clinical data in the EMRs, for example laboratory samples, are generally considered valid, as samples are commonly analyzed at regional central laboratories, all of which have participated in national quality and standardization programs (49).

9.4.1 Limitations with primary care data from Sweden

There are limitations with Swedish EMR data. First, there is a potential variability in completeness of data across different patient populations as data are entered by GPs during routine consultations, and not in a structured uniform way optimal for research purposes. Thus, patients with more severe

conditions may potentially have more extensive follow up data, for example blood pressure and laboratory samples (17). If a patient move or change to another primary care center, then this patient will be lost to follow-up for primary care data, however, not for national register data.

Secondly, as EMR data must be collected from each individual primary care center, and the centers must individually accept extraction of data, hence there will be a selection of centers which accept participation in the studies/extraction programs. Potentially, there is a risk that participating centers might have a better or different standard of care than non-participating centers. However, when selecting centers there is normally an attempt to select representative samples of primary care centers regarding localization, rural vs non-rural and publicly funded vs private centers in order to have a representative sample of primary care centers of Sweden.

Third, the access to data is limited as there is no public registers for primary care data and no nationwide possibility of extracting data. Today, EMR data is only delivered by private vendors or for selected regions of Sweden as for example for the Stockholm region, where administrative data (diagnosis, visit dates, prescriptions) from primary care is available and linkable to national registers (50). However, these data do not include clinical data (blood pressure, weight, laboratory samples etc).

9.4.2 Swedish primary care data compared to other data sources

There are countries other than Sweden which have might have an easier access to primary care data. As already mentioned, UK with the well-established CPRD and THIN databases covering approximately 6-9% of the UK population are examples. However, data not for all of these primary care centers are linked with hospital data, currently covering approximately 60% of the UK practices (40), thus limit the access to hospitalized diagnosed based endpoints. In the Netherlands, the General Practitioner (GP) Database comprise data from electronic patient records registered by GPs for a catchment area representing 2.5 million residents, thus a smaller proportion of the total country population compared to the data used in papers II and III (51). However, in both UK and the Netherlands primary care centers must accept participation in the databases, thus implying a potential selection bias of participating centers as in Sweden. Furthermore, these databases extract data from routine primary care clinical practice, where data is not recorded for the purpose of research, and thus the potential challenge with different coverage of data/follow-up pattern in different patient populations is present also here. However, in the CPRD data base, various clinical awareness programs have increased the recording of different clinical data in a consistent way in the recent years (40).
Again, Taiwan is in a rather unique situation, where there is access to primary care data at a nationwide level, linkable to other data sources.

9.5 STATISTICAL METHODS

In recent years, real world data has increasingly been used to study differences in outcomes between various treatment groups. However, due to the nature of the data, the allocation to different treatment groups is not randomized, and thus there is always a risk that any observed difference in outcome between groups is caused by confounding factors still residing in the material.

In statistics, a confounder (also confounding variable or confounding factor) is a variable that influences both the dependent variable and independent variable causing a spurious association (52).

In register based studies on outcome of different drug therapies, a special type of confounding that may occur in is confounding by indication (53). This terminology is used when conditions determining the selections of drugs also are potentially linked to the outcome. The comparison of ACEi and ARB in paper III can be used to illustrate this phenomenon. ACEis have gained an earlier and often broader indication/endpoint data (heart failure, myocardial infarction, renal failure, diabetes) compared to the ARBs, which were introduced later to the market. Even for treatment of hypertension, there is a potential risk that ACEis therapy will be associated with a higher CV risk than ARBs. However, this finding may be a result of confounding by indication as patients treated with ACEi are more likely higher to have a higher CV risk (although potentially not (yet) recorded as a diagnosis), simply because this treatment is often prescribed for high risk conditions (heart failure, myocardial infarction).

Since the prescribing pattern of drugs is inflected by many factors (e.g. new indications, changed reimbursement criteria's), the characteristics of the patients treated can change during a drug's lifecycle. When this happens, i.e. when confounding by indication changes over time, calendar time might be a confounder or a proxy for other confounders (17, 54).

One way of potentially reducing the effect of confounding in observational research is to have access to a complete set of clinical variables that are possible affecting the risk. For example, in paper III where the aim was to study the effect of blood pressure lowering drugs on CV outcome and diabetes, it was essential to have access to blood pressure values, weight, laboratory test results (diabetes status) and socio economics status, all known to be associated with CV and diabetes risk.

The conventional method used to adjust for baseline differences between treatment groups in observational research is covariate adjustment, where relevant patient variables are included in a

regression model. A rule of thumb is to have at least 10 events per covariate included in the model, meaning that not all covariates (despite being identified as clinically important) can be included in the model (55, 56). Furthermore, the selection of which covariates to include in the regression model might not be straight forward, as there is a risk of over adjustment if too many variables describing the same underlying risk are included. An example of the difficulties posed may be related to the description of diabetes disease severity; e.g. which of HbA1c or blood glucose is the most appropriate and important laboratory variable to actually describe severity?

DAGs (directed acyclic graphs) are tools developed to describe the rationale behind the selection of the covariates in regression models (57). However, this method is still based on casual assumptions and the principal beyond this approach is little understood and it difficult to communicate outside the expert epidemiology community.

As an alternative or a compliment to multivariate adjusted methods, various matching methods have been developed which for several reasons are becoming gradually more popular in observational register studies. Among the most frequently used matching methods in observational register studies is the Propensity Score (PS) matching. A PS is defined as the probability of a patient being assigned to a treatment, given a set of covariates (58).

The estimated PS for a subject can be denoted by Pr(z|x), where z is the treatment (0/1) and x is observed covariates. Since the PS is a probability, it ranges from 0 to 1. If two subjects have the same PS, then they will have the same chance of receiving a given treatment given available co-variates (59).

As the PS summarizes all patient characteristics into a single covariate, there is not limitation on number of covariates that can be included in the model. However, within large datasets, it recommended to include all variables that are potentially related to the outcome, whereas in smaller datasets, is recommended to only include variables that are strongly associated with outcome (56).

The PS can be used in the outcome model by different approaches: matching, stratification, inverse probability weighting, and use of PS as a covariate (55). As PS matching is a commonly used method, and used in paper II and III, I will focus on this method only.

The PS has the important balancing property that patients with the same propensity score administered either treatment A or B will typically have comparable distributions of measured covariates (60). This often facilitate the communication of the study results, as the baseline table will be presented in a format that mimics an RCT, with (negligible) differences between the treatment

groups, and thus many of the audience will accept the groups as comparable, and the discussion regarding potential unbalanced groups is often reduced.

PS matching also highlight areas of the covariate distribution where there is not sufficient overlap between the treatment groups, which is not done in multivariate adjusted methods. It will only include patients in the analysis where there is a sufficient covariate overlap, an important benefit in data sets with unbalanced patient covariates (60). However, caution should still be taken when interpreting the results of the outcome analysis, as they are only applicable for the patients were there is sufficient covariate overlap.

However, use of a propensity score matching does not resolve the problem with unmeasured/unknown confounding in observational register studies, and unlike in randomized trials, one cannot expect the balance in distributions of covariates included in the propensity score to be extend to (unmeasured) covariates not included in the propensity score (61).

Paper III (2014) and II (2016) were written in the period where there was a trend in comparative effectiveness papers from using covariate adjustment analysis to more use of propensity score matching methods.

In paper III (2014), patients with a history of chronic kidney disease, diabetes and CVD diagnoses were excluded since these were the study outcomes, and to reduced potential confounding by indication, thus excluding almost 50% of all available patients due to these criteria. As a main analysis, a multivariate adjusted method including clinically identified covariates known for affecting the outcome was used. The main analysis was supported by several sensitivity analyses, including more covariates (which was not present for all patients). Furthermore, imputation of missing values for example, systolic blood pressure, was also applied. One main sensitivity analysis included a propensity score matched analysis. The table below from the paper gives an interesting overview of how the different analysis methods affects the results.

9.5.1 Effect of additional adjustments and different analysis methods on clinical outcome

	Number of patients								
	<i>Enalapril,</i> n	<i>Candesartan,</i> n	HR, new-onset diabetes	HR, CVD					
Unadjusted	11 725	4265	0.77 (95% CI 0.66-0.90)	0.87 (95% CI 0.76-0.98)					
Primary adjusted results ^a	11 725	4265	0.81 (95% CI 0.69-0.96)	0.99 (95% CI 0.87-1.13)					
+ systolic BP (Multiple imputed values) ^b	11725	4265	0.80 (95% CI 0.68-0.94)	0.92 (95% CI 0.81-1.05)					
+ systolic BP (available values) ^b	8881	2849	0.79 (95% CI 0.65-0.96)	0.97 (95% CI 0.83-1.13)					
+ HbA1c ^b	1151	428	0.79 (95% CI 0.58-1.07)	_					
+ blood glucose ^b	7338	2256	0.78 (95% CI 0.64-0.96)	_					
+ BMI ^b	2896	772	0.86 (95% CI 0.97-1.15)	-					
Excluding patients diagnosed within 6 months after the start of the study ^c	11 520	4212	0.87 (95% CI 0.72-1.05)	0.98 (95% CI 0.86-1.12)					
Excluding patients diagnosed within 12 months after the start of the study ^c	11 443	4185	0.88 (95% CI 0.72-1.10)	0.97 (95% CI 0.85-1.11)					
Propensity score analysis ^d	1111	1111	0.63 (95% CI 0.42-0.96)	0.88 (95% CI 0.56-1.24)					
Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; BP, blood pressur	Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; BP, blood pressure; CVD, cardiovascular disease; HbA1c, hemoglobin A1c; HR, hazard ratio. ^a Adjusted for age, gender,								

Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; BP, blood pressure; CVD, cardiovascular disease; HDA1c, hemoglobin A1c; HR, hazard ratio. "Adjusted for age, gender, index year and socio-economic status. ^bAdded adjustments to primary adjustments. ^cPrimary adjustments. ^dMatched for gender, age, index year, systolic blood pressure, total cholesterol, blood glucose, socio-economic status, beta blockers, statins, calcium antagonists and thiazides.

Adapted from Hasvold LP, Bodegard J, Thuresson M, Stalhammar J, Hammar N, Sundstrom J, et al. Diabetes and CVD risk during angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor or angiotensin II receptor blocker treatment in hypertension: a study of 15,990 patients. J Hum Hypertens. 2014;28(11):663-9 (34)

If the data were to be reanalyzed today, the likely statistical option would be a main propensity score matched model, based on the full study population excluding patients with diabetes prior study start. The PS model would only include patients where there was a sufficient covariate overlap between the ACE and ARB groups, thus likely handling the confounding by indication challenge in a more improved way than excluding all patients with chronic kidney disease and CVD diagnoses. Furthermore, it is also reason to believe that a larger proportion of patients by this could have been included in the analysis, as many of the excluded patients could have been matched, thus making the results more representative for a broader real life population.

A potential limitation with a propensity score method of the full patient population is however that variables (diagnoses and events) are normally entered into the propensity model as dichotomic variables, for example myocardial infarction (yes/no), heart failure (y/n), or PAD (y/n). Thus, the severity of these the different diagnosis or the time period after an event (for example myocardial infarction), i.e. a potential difference in risk, although same diagnosis, is not taken into account. Since the two treatment groups where highly unbalanced regarding (CVD) risk initially, it is potentially likely that there will still be a higher risk in the group with a higher initial risk, even after propensity score matching.

A major advantage with the used current analysis method, it that the effect of adding the different covariates easily can be observed. However, the point estimate of HR did not change much by adding more covariates into the model, and since the number of available patients is decreasing, some of the results are not statistically significant.

In paper II (2014), the selected main analysis was a propensity score matching based on the whole study population. Confounding by indication was not an issue in this study, as statins are not likely prescribed based on HDL-C values.

A major advantage of using propensity score matching in this study, besides the possibility to include many variables in the model, was the possibility to include both baseline LDL-C and LDL-C change on statin treatment as variables, thus thereby control for pre-statin statin LDL-C value and LDL-C change on statin treatment.

10 FUTURE PERSPECTIVE

Register data is in many countries today recognized as a valuable source for research and knowledge, and efforts are made to provide access to more data sources and thereby to further broaden potential research questions. For example, currently data on laboratory samples and drug treatment given in a hospital setting are missing at a nationwide level in the Nordic countries. However, it is likely that laboratory data will be available in Denmark at nationwide level, since it is already available at regional level covering 33% of the population (62). Access to in-hospital drug data is becoming increasingly more important due to the nature of e.g. newer expensive oncology therapies that are given in an in-hospital setting. In many disease areas, especially within the area of cardiovascular disorders, this type of data is sometimes presently available in Swedish disease specific quality registers. However, this is not the case for many therapy areas, and work is undertaken in the Nordic countries to have access to these data at a nationwide level.

In Sweden there is ongoing work to have access to hospital drugs data at a national level i.e., to develop a national register of hospital-administered drugs (63). This work, initiated in 2011, has resulted in 4 published reports evaluating the technical and legal aspects of such a register (63-65). The progress is slow however, and if the aim is a register with hospital drugs in near future, the relevant authorities will have to intensify these efforts (59).

In Norway, there is an ongoing health authority driven project with the aim of having an implemented joint electronic patient journal system covering all data from primary care to hospital care and other types of care givers. As a part of the strategy behind this initiative, is easy research access, meaning all (drug) treatment from primary care to in-hospital can be analyzed. The aim is to have a pilot of this system up and running in parts of Norway already in 2018 (66).

Also in Denmark, it is likely that in-hospital drug treatment data will become available in the near future as in-hospital dispensing data from hospital pharmacies will accessible for research. And it is likely that laboratory data will be available in Denmark at nationwide level, since it is already available at regional level covering 33% of the population (58).

Another major trend within register based research, is the application of new research methodology to overcome the shortcomings within register based research due to underlying confounding. Within the comparative effectiveness research field, the best assets of register studies including large, unselected populations, real world follow up, is combined with randomization to different treatment options of interest, thus avoiding the underlying problems with confounding. Sweden has been a pioneer country is this area conducting the first large study of this type with the TASTE (Thrombus

Aspiration in ST- Elevation Myocardial Infarction in Scandinavia) trial (67). The TASTE trial compared the effectiveness of intracoronary thrombus aspiration plus primary percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) with PCI alone on 30-day mortality in patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction using the Swedish Coronary Angiography and Angioplasty Registry (SCAAR) with randomization to the different treatment arms (67). Several studies of this type are now ongoing in Sweden using randomization with follow up of patients in quality registers.

Similar study methodology, where randomization to different treatments is combined with usual clinical practice follow up using electronic medical journal data, is also utilized in studies in the primary care settings. UK seems to be one of the leading countries in this development of research methodology (68).

Sweden has been and is an attractive country for register research with its national registers and quality registers in combination with primary care data. However, this is a highly competitive area, and other countries might become more attractive for this type of research due to more complete laboratory data and data on drug treatment in a hospital setting. Also, the access to primary care data in Sweden could be more facilitated. However, Sweden is currently leading the development of studies combing randomization and follow up using data from register in hospital settings.

11 CONCLUSIONS

Data from Swedish health care registries, being nationwide and providing an opportunity for linkage with other registers by using mandatory personal identification number, provides an excellent data source for disease insights from various aspects. Paper I showed that almost 50% of PAD patients below 75 years of age, who were diagnosed in a hospital setting had additional CV risk factors, and one in five patients died within a year after PAD diagnosis. The presence of additional risk factors other than age was the main driver for both CV-related and non-CV-related costs. PAD-related costs including hospitalizations and out-patient care visits were the main contributory CV-related costs in the first year after diagnosis of PAD. Although the PAD population has a well-recognized high-CV risk, the major proportion of hospitalization costs for PAD patients are not related to CV disease.

Very few registers outside Scandinavia can provide a similar comprehensive description of the outcome, use of healthcare resources, and costs over time for all patients with a hospital diagnosis of PAD in a longitudinal, nationwide setting.

Furthermore, the combination of nationwide Swedish health care register data and data extracted from primary care medical records is a research method which can be used to study risk predictors and outcomes of existing treatments for a large part of the population, providing rapid results at a low cost. In paper II it was shown that two-thirds of statin-naïve patients initiating statin treatment had a change in their HDL-C level, and the degree of change was similar to that observed in randomized clinical trials. A paradoxical decrease in HDL-C of (0.1 mmol/L) was associated with a 56% increase in major adverse cardiovascular events compared with unchanged HDL-C levels. No association between increased HDL-C levels and risk of major adverse cardiovascular events was observed.

While it in paper III was shown that in the management of primary hypertension (patients without diabetes or cardiovascular disease), candesartan treatment compared with enalapril treatment was associated with a risk reduction of new-onset diabetes, while no difference was observed between the two treatments in prevention of cardiovascular outcomes. Patients treated with enalapril had a shorter treatment period, indicating a lower tolerability for enalapril compared with candesartan.

However, access to data from primary care in Sweden is limited as there is no public registers for primary care data and no nationwide possibility of extracting data.

12 REFERENCES

- 1. WHO Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) 2017 [Available from: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs317/en/.
- 2. Roth GA, Forouzanfar MH, Moran AE, Barber R, Nguyen G, Feigin VL, et al. Demographic and epidemiologic drivers of global cardiovascular mortality. N Engl J Med. 2015;372(14):1333-41.
- 3. Stanley K. Design of randomized controlled trials. Circulation. 2007;115(9):1164-9.
- European Medicines Agency 2016 [Available from: http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en_GB/document_library/Presentation/2016/12/WC50021 7732.pdf.
- FDA document 2016 [Use of Real-World Evidence to Support Regulatory Decision-Making for Medical Devices]. Available from: https://www.fda.gov/downloads/medicaldevices/deviceregulationandguidance/guidancedoc uments/ucm513027.pdf.
- Garcia Rodriguez LA, Lagergren J, Lindblad M. Gastric acid suppression and risk of oesophageal and gastric adenocarcinoma: a nested case control study in the UK. Gut. 2006;55(11):1538-44.
- 7. Jernberg T, Hasvold P, Henriksson M, Hjelm H, Thuresson M, Janzon M. Cardiovascular risk in post-myocardial infarction patients: nationwide real world data demonstrate the importance of a long-term perspective. Eur Heart J. 2015;36(19):1163-70.
- Janzon M HM, Hasvold P, Hjelm H, Thuresson M, Jernberg T. Long-term resource use patterns and healthcare costs after myocardial infarction in a clinical practice setting: results from a contemporary nationwide registry study. European Heart Journal – Quality of Care and Clinical Outcomes. 2016;2:291–8.
- Sigvant B, Kragsterman B, Falkenberg M, Hasvold P, Johansson S, Thuresson M, et al. Contemporary cardiovascular risk and secondary preventive drug treatment patterns in peripheral artery disease patients undergoing revascularization. J Vasc Surg. 2016;64(4):1009-17 e3.
- 10. Timmis A, Rapsomaniki E, Chung SC, Pujades-Rodriguez M, Moayyeri A, Stogiannis D, et al. Prolonged dual antiplatelet therapy in stable coronary disease: comparative observational study of benefits and harms in unselected versus trial populations. BMJ. 2016;353:i3163.
- 11. Henriksson M, Russell D, Bodegard J, Kjeldsen S, Hasvold P, Stalhammar J, et al. Health-care costs of losartan and candesartan in the primary treatment of hypertension. J Hum Hypertens. 2011;25(2):130-6.
- 12. Green A, Pottegard A, Broe A, Diness TG, Emneus M, Hasvold P, et al. Initiation and persistence with dual antiplatelet therapy after acute myocardial infarction: a Danish nationwide population-based cohort study. BMJ Open. 2016;6(5):e010880.
- 13. Angeras O, Hasvold P, Thuresson M, Deleskog A, O OB. Treatment pattern of contemporary dual antiplatelet therapies after acute coronary syndrome: a Swedish nationwide population-based cohort study. Scand Cardiovasc J. 2016;50(2):99-107.
- 14. Halvorsen S, Jortveit J, Hasvold P, Thuresson M, Oie E. Initiation of and long-term adherence to secondary preventive drugs after acute myocardial infarction. BMC Cardiovasc Disord. 2016;16:115.
- 15. Bodegard J, Sundstrom J, Svennblad B, Ostgren CJ, Nilsson PM, Johansson G. Changes in body mass index following newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes and risk of cardiovascular mortality: a cohort study of 8486 primary-care patients. Diabetes Metab. 2013;39(4):306-13.
- Hasvold P, Thuresson M, Sundstrom J, Hammar N, Kjeldsen SE, Johansson G, et al. Association Between Paradoxical HDL Cholesterol Decrease and Risk of Major Adverse Cardiovascular Events in Patients Initiated on Statin Treatment in a Primary Care Setting. Clin Drug Investig. 2016;36(3):225-33.

- 17. Kjeldsen SE, Stalhammar J, Hasvold P, Bodegard J, Olsson U, Russell D. Effects of losartan vs candesartan in reducing cardiovascular events in the primary treatment of hypertension. J Hum Hypertens. 2010;24(4):263-73.
- 18. Janson C, Larsson K, Lisspers KH, Stallberg B, Stratelis G, Goike H, et al. Pneumonia and pneumonia related mortality in patients with COPD treated with fixed combinations of inhaled corticosteroid and long acting beta2 agonist: observational matched cohort study (PATHOS). BMJ. 2013;346:f3306.
- 19. Sahlen A, Varenhorst C, Lagerqvist B, Renlund H, Omerovic E, Erlinge D, et al. Outcomes in patients treated with ticagrelor or clopidogrel after acute myocardial infarction: experiences from SWEDEHEART registry. Eur Heart J. 2016;37(44):3335-42.
- 20. Schmidt M, Schmidt SA, Sandegaard JL, Ehrenstein V, Pedersen L, Sorensen HT. The Danish National Patient Registry: a review of content, data quality, and research potential. Clin Epidemiol. 2015;7:449-90.
- 21. Ludvigsson JF, Andersson E, Ekbom A, Feychting M, Kim JL, Reuterwall C, et al. External review and validation of the Swedish national inpatient register. BMC Public Health. 2011;11:450.
- 22. Linnersjo A, Hammar N, Gustavsson A, Reuterwall C. Recent time trends in acute myocardial infarction in Stockholm, Sweden. Int J Cardiol. 2000;76(1):17-21.
- 23. Soderholm A, Stegmayr B, Glader EL, Asplund K, Riksstroke C. Validation of Hospital Performance Measures of Acute Stroke Care Quality. Riksstroke, the Swedish Stroke Register. Neuroepidemiology. 2016;46(4):229-34.
- 24. Ingelsson E, Arnlov J, Sundstrom J, Lind L. The validity of a diagnosis of heart failure in a hospital discharge register. Eur J Heart Fail. 2005;7(5):787-91.
- 25. Nord DRG [Available from: www.socialstyrelsen.se/klassificeringochkoder/norddrg/vikter
- 26. Swedish National Quality Registries [Available from: http://kvalitetsregister.se/
- 27. Swedeheart 2017 [Available from: http://www.ucr.uu.se/swedeheart/.
- 28. Riksstroke 2017 [Available from: http://www.riksstroke.org/sve/.
- 29. Rikssvikt 2017 [Available from: http://www.ucr.uu.se/rikssvikt/.
- 30. Swedvasc 2017 [Available from: http://www.ucr.uu.se/swedvasc/.
- 31. Wettermark B, Hammar N, Fored CM, Leimanis A, Otterblad Olausson P, Bergman U, et al. The new Swedish Prescribed Drug Register--opportunities for pharmacoepidemiological research and experience from the first six months. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf. 2007;16(7):726-35.
- 32. Cause of death Sweden 2017 [Available from: http://www.socialstyrelsen.se/register/dodsorsaksregistret.
- 33. Martinell M, Stalhammar J, Hallqvist J. Automated data extraction--a feasible way to construct patient registers of primary care utilization. Ups J Med Sci. 2012;117(1):52-6.
- 34. Hasvold LP, Bodegard J, Thuresson M, Stalhammar J, Hammar N, Sundstrom J, et al. Diabetes and CVD risk during angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor or angiotensin II receptor blocker treatment in hypertension: a study of 15,990 patients. J Hum Hypertens. 2014;28(11):663-9.
- 35. Hasvold P NJ, Kragsterman B, Kristensen T, Falkenberg M, Johansson S, Thuresson N, Sigvant B. Long-term cardiovascular outcome, use of resources, and healthcare costs in patients with peripheral artery disease: Results from a nationwide Swedish study. European Heart Journal Quality of Care and Clinical Outcomes. 2017;qcx028.
- 36. Rapsomaniki E TM, Yang E, Blin P, Hunt P, Chung S, Stogiannis D, Pujades-Rodriguez M, Timmis A, Denaxas S, Danchin N, Stokes M, Thomas-Delecourt F, Emmas C, Hasvold P, Jennings E, Johansson S, Cohen D, Jernberg T, Moore N, Janzon M, Hemingway H. Using big data from health records from four countries to evaluate chronic disease outcomes: a study in 114 364 survivors of myocardial infarction. European Heart Journal - Quality of Care and Clinical Outcomes. 2016;Volume 2(Issue 3, 1 July 2016):172–83.

- Åtgardskoder 2017 [Available from: http://www.socialstyrelsen.se/klassificeringochkoder/atgardskoderkva.
- 38. van de Vorst IE, Vaartjes I, Sinnecker LF, Beks LJ, Bots ML, Koek HL. The validity of national hospital discharge register data on dementia: a comparative analysis using clinical data from a university medical centre. Neth J Med. 2015;73(2):69-75.
- 39. PHARMO. The Dutch Hospital Database 2017 [Available from: http://pharmo.nl/what-wehave/pharmo-database-network/hospitalisation-database/.
- 40. Herrett E, Gallagher AM, Bhaskaran K, Forbes H, Mathur R, van Staa T, et al. Data Resource Profile: Clinical Practice Research Datalink (CPRD). Int J Epidemiol. 2015;44(3):827-36.
- 41. HES homepage 2017 [Available from: http://content.digital.nhs.uk/searchcatalogue.
- 42. Blackburn R, Osborn D, Walters K, Falcaro M, Nazareth I, Petersen I. Statin prescribing for people with severe mental illnesses: a staggered cohort study of 'real-world' impacts. BMJ Open. 2017;7(3):e013154.
- 43. IMS data content 2017 [Available from: http://csdmruk.cegedim.com/our-data/datacontent.shtml.
- 44. Lichtman JH, Leifheit-Limson EC, Goldstein LB. Centers for medicare and medicaid services medicare data and stroke research: goldmine or landmine? Stroke. 2015;46(2):598-604.
- 45. Pharmacoepidemiology and Healthcare Databases 2017 [Available from: https://epi.grants.cancer.gov/pharm/pharmacoepi_db/.
- 46. Hsing AW, Ioannidis JP. Nationwide Population Science: Lessons From the Taiwan National Health Insurance Research Database. JAMA Intern Med. 2015;175(9):1527-9.
- 47. Kosiborod M, Cavender MA, Fu AZ, Wilding JP, Khunti K, Holl RW, et al. Lower Risk of Heart Failure and Death in Patients Initiated on Sodium-Glucose Cotransporter-2 Inhibitors Versus Other Glucose-Lowering Drugs: The CVD-REAL Study (Comparative Effectiveness of Cardiovascular Outcomes in New Users of Sodium-Glucose Cotransporter-2 Inhibitors). Circulation. 2017;136(3):249-59.
- 48. Birkeland KI, Jorgensen ME, Carstensen B, Persson F, Gulseth HL, Thuresson M, et al. Cardiovascular mortality and morbidity in patients with type 2 diabetes following initiation of sodium-glucose co-transporter-2 inhibitors versus other glucose-lowering drugs (CVD-REAL Nordic): a multinational observational analysis. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2017.
- 49. Kvalitetsmål 2017 [Available from: h<u>ttp://www.equalis.se/media/41723/u040_kvalitetsmå</u>l_equalis_1.2.pdf.
- 50. Wandell P, Carlsson AC, Wettermark B, Lord G, Cars T, Ljunggren G. Most common diseases diagnosed in primary care in Stockholm, Sweden, in 2011. Fam Pract. 2013;30(5):506-13.
- 51. PHARMO GP database 2017 [Available from: http://pharmo.nl/what-we-have/pharmodatabase-network/general-practitioner-database/.
- 52. Confounding Wikipedia 2017 [Available from: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Confounding.
- 53. Walker AM. Confounding by indication. Epidemiology. 1996;7(4):335-6.
- 54. Petri H, Urquhart J. Channeling bias in the interpretation of drug effects. Stat Med. 1991;10(4):577-81.
- 55. Elze MC, Gregson J, Baber U, Williamson E, Sartori S, Mehran R, et al. Comparison of Propensity Score Methods and Covariate Adjustment: Evaluation in 4 Cardiovascular Studies. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2017;69(3):345-57.
- 56. Cepeda MS, Boston R, Farrar JT, Strom BL. Comparison of logistic regression versus propensity score when the number of events is low and there are multiple confounders. Am J Epidemiol. 2003;158(3):280-7.
- 57. Shrier I, Platt RW. Reducing bias through directed acyclic graphs. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2008;8:70.
- 58. Propensity score matching 2017 [Available from: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Propensity_score_matching.
- 59. Cars T. Real-Time Monitoring of Healthcare Interventions in Routine Care: Uppsala University; 2016.

- 60. Austin PC. An Introduction to Propensity Score Methods for Reducing the Effects of Confounding in Observational Studies. Multivariate Behav Res. 2011;46(3):399-424.
- 61. Ali MS, Groenwold RH, Klungel OH. Propensity score methods and unobserved covariate imbalance: comments on "squeezing the balloon". Health Serv Res. 2014;49(3):1074-82.
- 62. Grann AF, Erichsen R, Nielsen AG, Froslev T, Thomsen RW. Existing data sources for clinical epidemiology: The clinical laboratory information system (LABKA) research database at Aarhus University, Denmark. Clin Epidemiol. 2011;3:133-8.
- 63. Förstudie om uppföljning av användningen av rekvisitionsläkemedel på individnivå 2013 [Available from: https://skl.se/download/18.70707f0614d1523b026aaa9c/1430827624313/f%C3%B6rstudier apport%20rekvisitionsl%C3%A4kemedel%20pa%20individniva.pdf.
- 64. Uppföljning av rekvisitionsläkemedel förutsättningar för integrering i ett hälsodataregister 2013 [Available from: http://www.socialstyrelsen.se/publikationer2013/2013-4-24.
- 65. Nationell läkemedelsstrategi 2017 [Available from: https://lakemedelsverket.se/overgripande/Om-Lakemedelsverket/Nationelllakemedelsstrategi/.
- 66. Helseplattform [Available from: https://helse-midt.no/vartoppdrag/prosjekter/ehelse/helseplattformen.
- 67. Frobert O, Lagerqvist B, Gudnason T, Thuesen L, Svensson R, Olivecrona GK, et al. Thrombus Aspiration in ST-Elevation myocardial infarction in Scandinavia (TASTE trial). A multicenter, prospective, randomized, controlled clinical registry trial based on the Swedish angiography and angioplasty registry (SCAAR) platform. Study design and rationale. Am Heart J. 2010;160(6):1042-8.
- 68. DECIDE UK 2017 [Available from: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02616666?term=DECIDE&cntry1=EU%3AGB&draw=1 &rank=2.

I



Long-term cardiovascular outcome, use of resources, and healthcare costs in patients with peripheral artery disease: results from a nationwide Swedish study

Pål Hasvold^{1,2}*, Joakim Nordanstig^{3,4}, Björn Kragsterman⁵, Thomas Kristensen¹, Mårten Falkenberg⁶, Saga Johansson⁷, Marcus Thuresson⁸, and Birgitta Sigvant^{9,10}

¹AstraZeneca Nordic-Baltic, Medical department, Astraallén, Södertälje 151 85, Sweden; ²The Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo, P.O box 1078, Blindern, 0316 Oslo, Norway; ³Department of Vascular Surgery, Sahlgrenska University Hospital, Blå Stråket 5, Gothenburg 41345, Sweden; ⁴Institute of Medicine, Department of Molecular and Clinical Medicine, The Sahlgrenska Academy, Gothenburg University, Blå Stråket 5B Wallenberglab/SU, Gothenburg 405 30, Sweden; ⁵Department of Surgical Sciences, Vascular Surgery, Uppsala University, Uppsala 751 85, Sweden; ⁶Department of Radiology, Institute of Clinical Sciences, Sahlgrenska Academy, Gothenburg 413 45, Sweden; ⁷AstraZeneca Gothenburg, AstraZeneca R&D, Pepparedsleden 1, Mölndal 431 53, Sweden; ⁸Statisticon AB, Östra Ågatan 31, Uppsala 753 22, Sweden; ⁹Department of Vascular Surgery, Karlstad Central Hospital, Rosenborgsgatan 2, Karlstad 652 30, Sweden; and ¹⁰Department of Clinical Science and Education, Södersjukhuset, Karolinska Institute, Solnavägen 1, Stockholm 171 77, Sweden

Received 14 May 2017; revised 25 July 2017; editorial decision 26 July 2017; accepted 9 August 2017

Aims:	Data on long-term healthcare costs of patients with peripheral artery disease (PAD) is limited, and the aim of this study was to investigate healthcare costs for PAD patients at a nationwide level.
Methods and results:	A cohort study including all incident patients diagnosed with PAD in the Swedish National Patient Register between 2006-2014, and linked to cause of death- and prescribed drug registers. Mean per-patient annual health- care costs (2015 Euros [€]) (hospitalisations and out-patient visits) were divided into cardiovascular (CV), lower limb and non-CV related cost. Results were stratified by high and low CV risk. The study included 66,189 patients, with 221,953 observation-years. Mean total healthcare costs were €6,577, of which 26% was CV-related (€1,710), during the year prior to the PAD diagnosis. First year after PAD diagnosis, healthcare costs were €12,549, of which €3,824 (30%) was CV-related and €3,201 (26%) lower limb related. High- risk CV patients had a higher annual total healthcare and CV related costs compared to low risk CV patients during follow-up (€7,439 and €1,442 versus €4,063 and €838). Annual lower limb procedure costs were €728 in the PAD population, with lower limb revascularisations as key cost driver (€474).
Conclusion:	Non-CV related hospitalizations and outpatient visits were the largest cost contributors for PAD patients. There is a substantial increase in healthcare costs in the first year after being diagnosed with PAD, driven by PAD follow-up and lower limb related procedures. Among the CV-related costs, hospitalisations and outpatient visits related to PAD represented the largest costs.
Keywords	Nationwide register data • peripheral artery disease • healthcare resource use • healthcare costs

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel: +0047 21006400, Fax: +0047 21006401, Email: paal.hasvold@astrazeneca.com

Published on behalf of the European Society of Cardiology.. This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/), which permits non-commercial re-use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact journals.permissions@oup.com

Downloaded from https://academic.oup.com/ehjqcco/article-abstract/doi/10.1093/ehjqcco/qcx028/4082929/Long-term-cardiovascular-outcome-use-of-resources by AZ Library user on 27 September 2017

Introduction

Peripheral artery disease (PAD) has been recognized as a major contributor to the cardiovascular (CV) health burden.^{1,2} Peripheral artery disease is a highly prevalent atherosclerotic syndrome affecting approximately 20% of people over 60 years of age in Sweden, and estimates [assessed using the ankle-brachial index (ABI)] have shown a recent increase in prevalence worldwide (of 23% during the last decade).^{3,4}

Peripheral artery disease patients are at high risk of experiencing major CV events (MACE), which are associated with substantial impairment in quality of life and increased morbidity rates.^{5–8} Thus, PAD is associated with a substantial economic burden both in terms of prevention and treatment of MACE and when managing lower limb-related symptoms and procedures.²

Previous studies have found that PAD patients are even more costly than patients with coronary artery disease (CAD) or cerebrovascular disease (CVD), having a 2-year cumulative cost of nearly USD 12 000, where half of the hospitalization costs are limb-related and half are due to treatment of MACE.² Despite the high prevalence of PAD, very few studies have investigated the long-term use of resources and costs after diagnosis. In addition, the relationship between costs related to PAD and total healthcare costs requires clarification.

As PAD is associated with high risk of MACE and mortality, with an increasing trend over time, the costs to healthcare in the longterm should also be acknowledged. In this observational study, we investigated CV outcome and long-term CV resource use and total healthcare costs for patients, before and after diagnosis of PAD in a Swedish nationwide setting.

Methods

Overview

In this observational cohort study, we retrieved data from three mandatory Swedish nationwide registries: the Swedish National Patient Register (NPR), the Swedish Prescribed Drug Register (SPDR), and the Swedish Cause of Death Register. The Swedish NPR covers more than 99% of all somatic and psychiatric hospital discharges, with inpatient admission and discharge dates, and also main and secondary diagnoses according to the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems, 10th Revision [ICD-10].⁸ The SPDR has data on all prescription medications dispensed by all pharmacies in Sweden.⁹ Individual patient-level data from the registers were linked using the mandatory and unique Swedish personal identification numbers, which were subsequently replaced with study identification numbers before further data processing.

The study protocol was reviewed and approved by the regional ethics committee of the University of Gothenburg, Sweden (reference number: 649-14). Linkage of data was performed by the Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare. The linked database was managed by the Institute of Medicine at the Sahlgrenska Academy, Gothenburg, Sweden.

Population

All patients with a first time primary or secondary diagnosis of PAD in a hospital setting (as inpatient or outpatient) [ICD-10 I70.0 (atherosclerosis of aorta), I70.2 (atherosclerosis of arteries of extremities), or I73.9 (claudicatio intermittens)] between 2006 and 2013 were included. The index date was defined as the date of the first recorded PAD diagnosis during

the specified observation period. Follow-up ended when a patient died or at the end of the observational period (January 2014). In Sweden, the diagnosis of PAD in a hospital setting is normally based on the medical history and on results of a clinical vascular examination including the ABI test.

Baseline characteristics and data on medication use were retrieved from the NPR and SPDR registers.

The population was stratified by age and risk profile at index date:

- Patients aged <65 years
- Patients aged 65–75 years
- Patients aged >75 years
- Patients with none of the following comorbidities in their previous medical history were defined as low-risk patients: diabetes mellitus, myocardial infarction (MI), stroke, heart failure, and chronic renal dysfunction.
- Patients with one or more of the following comorbidities were defined as high-risk patients: diabetes mellitus, MI, stroke, heart failure, or chronic renal dysfunction.

Clinical outcomes

The primary endpoint of MACEs was a composite of hospitalization with a main diagnosis of non-fatal MI (ICD-10: I21), non-fatal IS (ICD-0: I63-I64), or CV death (ICD-10 codes I00–I99). Lower limb revascularization was defined as an open or endovascular procedure as captured in NPR based on procedure codes (see Supplementary Material online).

Resource use

Data on hospitalizations and outpatient care visits were collected from the NPR. In cases where a subsequent hospitalization occurred without a calendar day between the discharge date and the new admission date, a single episode of hospitalization was recorded. When a patient had both a primary and a secondary diagnosis, the primary diagnosis defined the event type.

Resource use associated with CV disease included hospitalizations, outpatient care visits, and drug use. All non-procedural lower limbrelated events were included in the category 'CV events'. Lower limb procedures included only invasive procedures for treatment of PAD. Non-CV-related care included all hospitalizations, outpatient care visits, and drug use that were not related to a diagnosis of CV as defined in ICD-10.

The Prescribed Drug Register included data on dispensed, prescribed drugs in terms of substance, formulation, dose, and date of administration. Cardiovascular drugs included drugs in the ATC class C: anti-platelets, warfarin, statins, NOACs, nitrates, and anti-hypertensives. Non-CV drugs were defined as all drugs not included in the ATC class C.

The major items of resource use and unit costs are listed in Supplementary material online, *Table S4a–d*.

Unit costs

Each recorded hospitalization and outpatient care visit was assigned a 2015 diagnosis-related group (DRG) weight, which was multiplied by the most recent 2015 cost per weight.¹¹ In cases of missing DRG codes in the 2015 DRG catalogue, older DRG catalogues were used to apply the correct weight. If DRG codes recorded before 2015 had been stratified into several DRG codes in the 2015 DRG catalogue, a weighted average of these weights was applied. Irrespective of the year in which the DRG code was recorded, all costs were multiplied by the most recent cost per weight.

The daily cost of a drug was calculated by multiplying the average dose by the most recent retail price available. $^{\rm 12}$

Downloaded from https://academic.oup.com/ehjqcco/article-abstract/doi/10.1093/ehjqcco/qcx028/4082929/Long-term-cardiovascular-outcome-use-of-resources by AZ Library user on 27 September 2017

All costs were converted to euros using an average 2015 exchange rate, according to the European Central Bank: 1 euro (EUR) = 9.35 Swedish crowns (SEK).

Analysis

Baseline characteristics are presented as mean and standard deviation for continuous variables and absolute and relative frequencies for categorical variables. Follow-up data were collected from the time of the index diagnosis of PAD until death or the end of follow-up. The frequency and proportion of patients with the primary composite endpoint were assessed and a Kaplan–Meier analysis was performed to estimate the cumulative probability of the primary composite endpoint during study follow-up. If one patient had several events, only the first was used in the survival model. Results are presented as hazard ratios (HRs) and 95% confidence intervals (Cls).

Resource use was calculated for each year, i.e. 1 year before initial PAD diagnosis, the year after being diagnosed with PAD (starting from the hospital admission date, or the date recorded for the outpatient visit when the PAD diagnosis was established), and the 5 years that followed. Patients contributed to a particular year of analysis if they died during the year or had a full year of exposure. Thus, a patient dying after 1.5 years of follow-up contributed to Year 2 whereas patients who were censored at 1.5 years due to no more follow-up time did not.

Mean healthcare costs per patient per year were estimated by applying unit costs to the corresponding resource use items. If a patient had both a PAD CV-related diagnosis and a lower limb procedure performed at the same visit, the costs were reported as being lower limb-related. Costs were differentiated into CV-related, non-CV-related, and lower limb-related and presented as subgroups stratified by a combination of risk profile and age.

Statistical analyses were performed using SAS version 9.3 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA) and R version 3.2.3.

Results

Overall, 141266 patients with a diagnosis of PAD were identified, 66 189 of whom had their first PAD diagnosis established during the observation period and were included in the study. Peripheral artery disease was mainly diagnosed at hospital outpatient visits (71%), and was the main reason for hospital contact in 77% of the patients. Mean length of follow-up was 2.8 years, with a maximum of 8 years, resulting in a total of 184 614 patient-years of follow-up.

The youngest and oldest patient groups with a high risk of CV had different profiles. Compared with subjects over 75 years of age, a higher proportion of subjects less than 65 years old were men (69% vs. 50%), had diabetes (71% vs. 53%), and had renal insufficiency (11% vs. 4%), whereas cancer (9% vs. 23%) and stroke (16% vs. 29%) were more prevalent in older patients. Statin use was more common in the youngest patients than in the oldest (75% vs. 39%), who in turn used more analgesics (49% vs. 70%, Table 1). A higher proportion of older women (over 75 years old) were categorized as being low-risk (61%) than women aged 75 years or younger (47%).

Table I Description of analysis population after being diagnosed with peripheral artery disease

	Age <65 high-risk n = 5050	Age <65 low-risk n = 5752	Age 65–75 high-risk n = 10 733	Age 65–75 low-risk n = 9908	Age 75+ high-risk n = 21 068	Age 75+ low-risk n = 13 678	Total n = 66 189
Age (SD)	59.5 (3.8)	59.3 (3.9)	/0.4 (3.1)	/0.1 (3.1)	84.0 (5.2)	83.4 (5.3)	/5.6 (10.3)
Gender (Female)	1567 (31.0)	2510 (43.6)	3719 (34.7)	4914 (49.6)	10 595 (50.3)	8297 (60.7)	31 602 (47.7)
Aorta aneurysm	163 (3.2)	258 (4.5)	712 (6.6)	708 (7.1)	951 (4.5)	629 (4.6)	3421 (5.2)
Diabetes	3594 (71.2)	0 (0.0)	6977 (65.0)	0 (0.0)	9840 (46.7)	0 (0.0)	20 411 (30.8)
Hypertension	4284 (84.8)	2708 (47.1)	9585 (89.3)	6326 (63.8)	18 086 (85.8)	9397 (68.7)	50 386 (76.1)
Myocardial infarction	1409 (27.9)	0 (0.0)	3189 (29.7)	0 (0.0)	6391 (30.3)	0 (0.0)	10 989 (16.6)
Angina pectoris	1553 (30.8)	474 (8.2)	3700 (34.5)	1129 (11.4)	6754 (32.1)	1913 (14.0)	15 523 (23.5)
Ischaemic stroke	794 (15.7)	0 (0.0)	2433 (22.7)	0 (0.0)	6040 (28.7)	0 (0.0)	9267 (14.0)
Heart failure	1141 (22.6)	0 (0.0)	3303 (30.8)	0 (0.0)	10 464 (49.7)	0 (0.0)	14 908 (22.5)
Atrial fibrillation	636 (12.6)	205 (3.6)	2495 (23.2)	808 (8.2)	8823 (41.9)	2256 (16.5)	15 223 (23.0)
Major organ specific bleedings	433 (8.6)	231 (4.0)	1088 (10.1)	553 (5.6)	2941 (14.0)	1161 (8.5)	6407 (9.7)
Chronic renal insufficiency	548 (10.9)	0 (0.0)	862 (8.0)	0 (0.0)	951 (4.5)	0 (0.0)	2361 (3.6)
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease	428 (8.5)	325 (5.7)	1448 (13.5)	961 (9.7)	2310 (11.0)	1027 (7.5)	6499 (9.8)
Cancer	449 (8.9)	563 (9.8)	1822 (17.0)	1750 (17.7)	4883 (23.2)	3013 (22.0)	12 480 (18.9)
Anti-platelets	3711 (73.5)	3689 (64.1)	7974 (74.3)	6767 (68.3)	14 893 (70.7)	8677 (63.4)	45 711 (69.1)
Clopidogrel	731 (14.5)	333 (5.8)	1463 (13.6)	638 (6.4)	2166 (10.3)	769 (5.6)	6100 (9.2)
Low dose aspirin	3525 (69.8)	3564 (62.0)	7455 (69.5)	6453 (65.1)	13 856 (65.8)	8233 (60.2)	43 086 (65.1)
Warfarin	479 (9.5)	243 (4.2)	1694 (15.8)	608 (6.1)	3843 (18.2)	1169 (8.5)	8036 (12.1)
Statins	3793 (75.1)	3383 (58.8)	7816 (72.8)	6168 (62.3)	8985 (42.6)	5301 (38.8)	35 446 (53.6)
Anti-hypertensives	4429 (87.7)	3095 (53.8)	9938 (92.6)	7007 (70.7)	19 842 (94.2)	10 908 (79.7)	55 219 (83.4)
Anti-diabetics	3263 (64.6)	17 (0.3)	6159 (57.4)	19 (0.2)	7915 (37.6)	20 (0.1)	17 393 (26.3)
Analgesics	2478 (49.1)	2124 (36.9)	5742 (53.5)	3957 (39.9)	14 851 (70.5)	8017 (58.6)	37 169 (56.2)

All data are n (%) unless stated otherwise.

Downloaded from https://academic.oup.com/ehjgcco/article-abstract/doi/10.1093/ehjgcco/gcx028/4082929/Long-term-cardiovascular-outcome-use-of-resources by AZ Library user on 27 September 2017

SD, standard derivation.





The overall 1-year cumulative incidence rates of the primary composite CV endpoint (MI, stroke, or CV death) and all-cause death were 16.6% and 21.1%, respectively.

In patients who were 75 years old or younger, the 1-year cumulative incidence rate for the primary composite endpoint was 12.2% in high-CV-risk patients and 4.0% in low-CV-risk patients. Corresponding figures for patients over 75 years of age were 31.4% in high-CV-risk patients and 14.7% in low-CV-risk patients (*Figure 1*).

Procedures performed

In total, 23 481 lower limb revascularization procedures were performed during the study period. The cumulative incidence rate of lower limb revascularization procedures for the full study population was 23.2 (95% CI 22.9–23.5) at 1 year after being diagnosed with PAD. The cumulative probability of lower limb revascularization was 20.1 (95% CI 19.8–20.4) at 6 months and 27.6 (27.2–27.9) at 3 years (see Supplementary material online, *Table S2*). A larger proportion of high-risk patients underwent amputations, whereas the proportion of patients who underwent lower limb revascularizations was more similar across the low- and high-CV-risk populations and age categories (see Supplementary material online, *Table S5*).

Pattern of resource use

One year before diagnosis of PAD, the mean total number of contacts per patient (i.e. hospitalization and outpatient care visits) was 4.05, with outpatient visits being the main reason for contact (mean number: 3.21) (Table 2). In the year following diagnosis of PAD, the mean total number of contacts increased to 6.36, with outpatient visits being the main reason for contact (mean number: 4.99). During the year after diagnosis of PAD, the mean number of CV-related hospitalizations and outpatient visits was 2.30, with PAD being the main reason for contact. The mean number of lower limb procedure contacts was 0.38 in the year after diagnosis of PAD, which became reduced to 0.04 in the subsequent years.

For the CV-related long-term drug therapy [such as low-dose aspirin, angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors, and statins], the average number of days on drug continued to be higher from the second year after the year of being diagnosed with PAD compared with the year before the PAD diagnosis.

Healthcare costs

The mean annual total cost of healthcare in the year before the diagnosis of PAD was &6577, of which &1710 (26%) were CV eventrelated hospitalization costs and outpatient visits and &3748 (57%) were non-CV-related hospitalization costs and outpatient visits. Drug therapy was responsible for 17% of the total.

During the year after PAD diagnosis, there was a 90% increase in the mean total costs for all patient age and risk groups, totalling \leq 12549. Thirty per cent of this was attributed to CV-related hospitalizations and outpatient visits (\leq 3824), with PAD-related follow-up being the main reason for hospital attendance (Table 2). Also, the number of lower limb-related invasive procedures increased during this year, with a total mean cost of \leq 3201. Non-CV-related costs were not substantially different from those in the year before the diagnosis of PAD.

The mean total healthcare cost decreased from the second year after diagnosis of PAD and onwards, with lower mean total annual costs (\notin 5750) than the year before PAD diagnosis. However, lower limb-related procedure costs remained higher throughout the study period, with a mean total annual cost of \notin 728. The mean annual CV-related cost was \notin 1140 after the first year of being diagnosed with PAD.

High-risk CV patients had higher total healthcare costs than lowrisk CV patients after diagnosis of PAD, the mean annual costs being \notin 7439 and \notin 4063, respectively. Also, the mean CV-related hospitalization cost was higher in the high-CV-risk group than in the low-risk CV group: \notin 1442 as opposed to \notin 838.

After patients were diagnosed with PAD, CV drug treatment contributed least to healthcare costs in all the years studied (mean annual cost: \in 200). Both CV drugs and non-CV drugs showed a similar trend, with a higher observed cost in high-risk patients.

High-risk patients had higher costs associated with lower limbrelated procedures (mean total: £3952) than low-risk patients (mean total: €2605)-and for amputation in particular (€1703 vs. €629) (*Figure 3*). The selected CV-related costs were high in all risk groups and age categories, with a mean for all groups of €2071. In all patients, PAD-related costs (not including limb-related procedures) were the greatest costs within the selected CV category (52%), with coronary events and stroke (32%), and heart failure (13%) being observed as the other major CV cost drivers. Also, in the years that followed, total PAD-related costs remained the most important cost contributor among the different CV-related costs, although there was a shift in PAD costs to a larger proportion of limb procedure-related costs over time (*Figure 4*).

After being diagnosed with PAD, lower limb procedure-related costs were an annual major cost driver in the study population over time (mean: \in 728), with lower limb revascularizations being the main cost contributor (mean: \notin 474) (*Figure 4*). The difference in lower limb procedure costs in high-risk and low-risk patients was mainly caused by the fact that there were more amputations in the high-risk CV population (*Figure 3* and see Supplementary material online, *Table S5*).

Downloaded from https://academic.oup.com/ehjqcco/article-abstract/doi/10.1093/ehjqcco/qcx028/4082929/Long-term-cardiovascular-outcome-use-of-resources by AZ Library user on 27 September 2017

	1 77 5	•						
	1 year prior to PAD diagnosis	Year after diagnosis						
		1	2	3	4	5	6	
Number of patients	66,189	53,024	42,032	32,547	24,338	17,610	11.938	
Hospitalizations								
CV related care	0,27	0,47	0,18	0,17	0,15	0,15	0,14	
Lower limb procedures	0,03	0,35	0,07	0,05	0,04	0,04	0,04	
Non-CV related care	0,54	0,55	0,4	0,38	0,37	0,35	0,35	
Outpatient care visits								
CV related care	0,32	1,83	0,53	0,4	0,36	0,35	0,35	
Lower limb procedures	0	0,03	0,01	0	0	0	0	
Non-CV related care	2,89	3,13	2,58	2,41	2,37	2,34	2,28	
Pharmaceuticals								
Anti-platelets	169	245	238	238	239	237	235	
Clopidogrel	14	30	24	24	24	25	26	
Low dose ASA	155	226	220	219	220	218	215	
Anticoagulants	20	23	24	24	24	24	26	
Statins	105	183	179	182	184	186	184	
Anti-hypertensives	270	281	281	282	282	283	284	
Anti-diabetics	77	79	79	79	79	79	77	
Analgesics	79	101	87	83	81	80	80	

Table 2 Decour	an use mettern our	w times was	n 1 hain.	- finch .	any offers	a win h a wa	autom	diagaga dia	anasis
Table 2 Resour	ce use pattern ove	er ume, yea	r i being	g nrst y	ear aiter p	beriphera	artery	uisease uia	ignosis

CV related care, lower limb procedures and non-CV related care resource utilization are reported in mean numbers of contacts for hospitalisations and outpatient care visits. Drug usage are reported in mean number of days (DDD).



Figure 2 Annual costs per patient prior to and after peripheral artery disease (PAD), by cost category, age, and risk. cardiovascular (CV)-related: includes all ICD-10 CV 'I' diagnoses except PAD-related costs in combination with lower limb procedures. If a PAD patient had a hospitalization with a PAD diagnosis 'I' and a lower limb procedure, then the cost for this visit is reported as being lower limb procedure-related. Non-CV-related: all costs except costs related to CV (ICD-10 'I').



Figure 3 Mean costs per patient during the first year after diagnosis of peripheral artery disease, by selected cost category, age, and risk. Coronary events: myocardial infarction and unstable angina pectoris. PAD-related, peripheral arterial disease (follow-up, not including lower limb procedures); COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.



Figure 4 Cumulative cost during follow-up of selected diagnoses and procedures. Ischaemic event-related: myocardial infarction, unstable angina pectoris, and stroke. Peripheral arterial disease follow-up (non-procedural): follow-up of peripheral arterial disease, not including lower limb procedure.

Discussion

One-third of the PAD population was over 75 years of age and was categorized as high-risk, but even among patients aged less than

75 years, more than 50% could be classified as high-risk, with diabetes and a history of coronary events being the most prevalent comorbidities. Within a year after diagnosis of PAD, more than one in five patients died and one in six experienced a MACE. Compared with

Downloaded from https://academic.oup.com/ehjqcco/article-abstract/doi/10.1093/ehjqcco/qcx028/4082929/Long-term-cardiovascular-outcome-use-of-resources by AZ Library user on 27 September 2017

patients surviving an MI, PAD patients had a significantly higher 1-year mortality risk (21.1% vs. 13.2%) and showed a comparable CV risk (16.6% vs. 18.3%).^{13,14}

In high-risk patients, the 1-year risk of CV events was increased three-fold for those less than 75 years old and doubled for those over 75 years, as compared with PAD patients without risk factors. The resource use and pattern of costs was associated with age and underlying risk, with the latter being the most important determinant of costs, as has also been observed in MI patients.¹⁵ This study reports only hospitalization costs (including hospital-based outpatient visits), but other drivers of the total healthcare costs for these patients, as for example nursing home and primary healthcare costs were not included. Furthermore, wider data on community-care and patients' own costs and productivity impacts are not included.

Costs of hospitalizations and outpatient visits related to PAD were the greatest of the CV-related costs, particularly during the year after PAD was diagnosed. However, non-CV-related hospitalizations were the largest cost contributor overall, being approximately twice as frequent in Year 2 after PAD diagnosis, with five times as many outpatient care visits, as compared with CV-related visits. Interestingly, although the PAD population has a well-recognized high risk of CV, the major part of the hospitalization costs for PAD patients (including outpatient visits) is not related to CV diseaseswith, for example, costs associated with diabetes and chronic renal insufficiency being larger cost contributors (*Figure 3*). It may not be relevant to focus only on CV-related risk prevention separately, but it is perhaps better to have a broader view when assessing risk and potential interventions for this patient population.

Despite generally having a higher CV baseline risk and more CV events than younger patients, patients over 75 years of age generally had lower CV-related costs. This might be explained by the fact that a lower proportion of elderly patients undergo expensive invasive heart related procedures as percutaneous coronary intervention or coronary artery bypass grafting in Sweden.¹⁶ Also, the lower limb procedure-related costs, especially for amputations, and non-CV-related costs were substantially higher in the youngest age group (< 65 years), which may have been attributable to the high prevalence of diabetes (71%).

The total annual CV-related costs-excluding lower limb procedure costs-for PAD patients during long-term follow-up were higher than they are for MI patients, with mean of €1945 per patient as opposed to approximately €1700–1800 per patient,¹⁵ an effect of the progressive, chronic nature of PAD.

Not surprisingly, the contributors to CV-associated costs are somewhat different in the MI and PAD populations. Myocardial infarction patients have more recurrent MIs, while PAD patients have more recurrent PAD manifestations with relatively fewer MIs. This is supported by the observation that the PAD-related costs due to hospitalizations and outpatient visits were the main contributors to CV-related costs for all patient categories, contributing to more than 50% of the CV-related costs in first year after diagnosis of PAD. In total, approximately 23 500 revascularizations were performed, and the majority within the first 6 months, which would explain the decline in PAD-related costs over time.

Lower limb-related procedure costs were a significant overall cost contributor at Year 1, both for low- and high-CV-risk patients (Figures 2–4), but they decreased over time to be comparable with other studies where PAD procedure-related costs constitute only a modest fraction.¹ However, costs associated with amputations are higher in the high-CV-risk groups than in low-CV-risk patients, whereas the costs of lower limb revascularization are more similar in the different patient groups. This might be related to the inherently worse limb prognosis in patients with PAD in combination with diabetes, cardiac failure, or kidney failure, even when successful lower limb revascularization procedures are undertaken, due to having more severe lesions.

It is difficult to compare healthcare costs due to differences in study design and healthcare systems, but our data on total costs for the combination of CV-related and lower limb-related procedures are comparable to what has been reported previously for PAD patients in France and Germany,¹⁷ but they are lower than data from the USA.²

Cardiovascular-related drug costs contributed least among the cost categories investigated. This is partly explained by the fact that most drugs given in association with CV disease today are generic, and have a low acquisition cost. Another contributing factor may be the still uncommon use of cardioprotective medications in PAD.

The present study had some limitations. Firstly, we did not have access to data describing the extent and severity of PAD, which may have an impact on the cost of treatment. Furthermore, the resource use and costs were divided into CV-related and non-CV-related, with a rather narrow definition of CV-related hospitalizations and outpatient care visits. A hospitalization was assigned an ICD-10 circulatory system diagnosis as the primary diagnosis to be categorized as CV, excluding CV-related hospitalization costs when attributable as for example a secondary diagnosis. As a registry data-based analysis, the study relied on ICD-10 codes for morbidity data, so the possibility of coding errors cannot be completely ruled out.

These data, however, provide a comprehensive description of the outcome, use of healthcare resources, and costs over time for all patients with a hospital diagnosis of PAD in a longitudinal, nationwide setting. These results provide information that will be useful for future healthcare planning and allocation of resources.

Conclusions

Data from this nationwide study showed that almost 50% of PAD patients aged below 75 years who were diagnosed in a hospital setting had additional CV risk factors. One in five patients died within a year after PAD diagnosis. The presence of additional risk factors other than age was the main driver for both CV-related and non-CV-related costs. Peripheral artery disease-related costs including hospitalizations and outpatient care visits were the main contributory CV-related costs in the first year after diagnosis of PAD. Also, lower limb procedure-related costs were initially high, and remained so during subsequent follow-up of these patients. Although the PAD population has a well-recognized high-CV risk, the major proportion of hospitalization costs for PAD patients are not related to CV disease. Healthcare systems will need to consider preventive strategies and optimize costs of prevention in the growing PAD population.

Downloaded from https://academic.oup.com/ehjqcco/article-abstract/doi/10.1093/ehjqcco/qcx028/4082929/Long-term-cardiovascular-outcome-use-of-resources by AZ Library user on 27 September 2017

Supplementary material

Supplementary material is available at European Heart Journal – Quality of Care and Clinical Outcomes online.

Acknowledgements

We thank Urban Olsson at Statisticon for being data manager in this study. English language assistance was provided by Alistair Kidd (Good Written English GWE AB).

Funding

The study was sponsored by AstraZeneca.

Conflict of interest: P.H., T.K., and S.J. are employed by AstraZeneca. M.T. is employed at Statisticon, of which AstraZeneca is a client. J.N, B.K, M.F and B.S report no conflict of interest.

References

- Hirsch AT, Hartman L, Town RJ, Virnig BA. National health care costs of peripheral arterial disease in the Medicare population. *Vasc Med* 2008;13:209–215.
- Mahoney EM, Wang K, Keo HH, Duval S, Smolderen KG, Cohen DJ, Steg G, Bhatt DL, Hirsch AT; Reduction of Atherothrombosis for Continued Health (REACH) Registry Investigators. Vascular hospitalization rates and costs in patients with peripheral artery disease in the United States. *Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes* 2010;3:642–651.
- Sigvant B, Wiberg-Hedman K, Bergqvist D, Rolandsson O, Andersson B, Persson E, Wahlberg E. A population-based study of peripheral arterial disease prevalence with special focus on critical limb ischemia and sex differences. J Vasc Surg 2007;45:1185–1191.
- Fowkes FG, Rudan D, Rudan I, Aboyans V, Denenberg JO, McDermott MM, Norman PE, Sampson UK, Williams LJ, Mensah GA, Criqui MH. Comparison of global estimates of prevalence and risk factors for peripheral artery disease in 2000 and 2010: a systematic review and analysis. *Lancet* 2013;**382**:1329–1340.
- Alberts MJ, Bhatt DL, Mas J-L, Ohman EM, Hirsch AT, Rother J, Salette G, Goto S, Smith SC, Liau C-S, Wilson PWF, Steg PG; REduction of Atherothrombosis for Continued Health Registry Investigators. Three-year follow-up and event rates in the international REduction of Atherothrombosis for Continued Health Registry. *Eur Heart J* 2009;**30**:2318–2326.

- Sigvant B, Kragsterman B, Falkenberg M, Hasvold P, Johansson S, Thuresson M, Nordanstig J. Contemporary cardiovascular risk and secondary preventive drug treatment patterns in peripheral artery disease patients undergoing revascularization. J Vasc Surg 2016;64:1009–1017.
- Regensteiner JG, Hiatt WR, Coll JR, Criqui MH, Treat-Jacobson D, McDermott MM, Hirsch AT. The impact of peripheral arterial disease on health-related quality of life in the Peripheral Arterial Disease Awareness, Risk, and Treatment: New Resources for Survival (PARTNERS) Program. Vasc Med 2008;13:15–24.
- Sigvant B, Hasvold P, Kragsterman B, Falkenberg M, Johansson S, Thuresson M, Nordanstig J. Cardiovascular outcomes in patients with peripheral arterial disease as an initial or subsequent manifestation of atherosclerotic disease: results from a Swedish nationwide study. J Vasc Surg 2017;66:507–514.e1.
- Ludvigsson JF, Andersson A, Ekbom A, Feychting M, Kim J-L, Reuterwall C, Heurgren M, Olausson PO. External review and validation of the Swedish national inpatient register. *BMC Public Health* 2011;**11**:450.
- Wallerstedt SM, Wettermark B, Hoffmann M. The First Decade with the Swedish Prescribed Drug Register - A Systematic Review of the Output in the Scientific Literature. *Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol* 2016;5:464–469.
- Diagnosis related groups (DRG) system, Sweden. http://www.socialstyrelsen.se/ klassificeringochkoder/norddrg/vikter (3 April 2017).
- The Dental and Pharmaceutical Benefits agency (TLV) price data base. http:// www.tlv.se/beslut/sok/lakemedel/ (3 April 2017).
- Jernberg T, Hasvold P, Henriksson M, Hjelm H, Thuresson M, Janzon M. Cardiovascular risk in post-myocardial infarction patients: nationwide real world data demonstrate the importance of a long-term perspective. *Eur Heart J* 2015;**36**:1163–1170.
- Subherwal S, Patel MR, Kober L, Peterson ED, Bhatt DL, Gislason GH, Olsen AM, Jones WS, Torp-Pedersen C, Fosbol EL. Peripheral artery disease is a coronary heart disease risk equivalent among both men and women: results from a nationwide study. *Eur J Prev Cardiol* 2015;**22**:317–325.
- Janzon M, Henriksson M, Hasvold P, Hjelm H, Thuresson M, Jernberg J. Longterm resource use patterns and healthcare costs after myocardial infarction in a clinical practice setting: results from a contemporary nationwide registry study. *Eur Heart J Qual Care Clin Outcomes* 2016;2:291–298.
- Angerås O, Hasvold P, Thuresson M, Deleskog A, Braun O. Treatment pattern of contemporary dual antiplatelet therapies after acute coronary syndrome: a Swedish nationwide population-based cohort study. *Scand Cardiovasc J* 2016;**50**: 99–107.
- 17. Smolderen KG, Wang K, de Pouv Ourville G, Brüggenjürgen B, Röther J, Zeymer U, Parhofer KG, Steg PG, Bhatt DL, Magnuson EA; REACH Registry Investigators. Two-year vascular hospitalisation rates and associated costs in patients at risk of atherothrombosis in France and Germany: highest burden for peripheral arterial disease. *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg* 2012;**43**:198–207.

Downloaded from https://academic.oup.com/ehjqcco/article-abstract/doi/10.1093/ehjqcco/qcx028/4082929/Long-term-cardiovascular-outcome-use-of-resources by AZ Library user on 27 September 2017

ORIGINAL RESEARCH ARTICLE



Association Between Paradoxical HDL Cholesterol Decrease and Risk of Major Adverse Cardiovascular Events in Patients Initiated on Statin Treatment in a Primary Care Setting

Pål Hasvold^{1,2} · Marcus Thuresson³ · Johan Sundström⁴ · Niklas Hammar^{5,6} · Sverre E. Kjeldsen^{2,7} · Gunnar Johansson⁸ · Ingar Holme⁹ · Johan Bodegård¹

Published online: 30 December 2015 © The Author(s) 2015. This article is published with open access at Springerlink.com

Abstract

Background and Objectives Statin-induced changes in high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) are unrelated. Many patients initiated on statins experience a paradoxical decrease in HDL-C. The aim of this study was to evaluate the association between a decrease in HDL-C and risk of major adverse cardiovascular events (MACE).

Methods Data from 15,357 primary care patients initiated on statins during 2004–2009 were linked with data from mandatory national hospital, drug-dispensing, and causeof-death registers, and were grouped according to HDL-C

Electronic supplementary material The online version of this article (doi:10.1007/s40261-015-0372-9) contains supplementary material, which is available to authorized users.

Pål Hasvold paal.hasvold@astrazeneca.com

- ¹ AstraZeneca, 151 85 Södertälje, Sweden
- ² Medical Faculty, University of Oslo, 0424 Oslo, Norway
- ³ Statisticon AB, 753 22 Uppsala, Sweden
- ⁴ Department of Medical Sciences, Uppsala Clinical Research Center, Uppsala University, 751 05 Uppsala, Sweden
- ⁵ Institute of Environmental Medicine, Karolinska Institute, 171 77 Stockholm, Sweden
- ⁶ Medical Evidence and Observational Research, AZ R&D, Mölndal, Sweden
- ⁷ Department of Cardiology, Oslo University Hospital, Oslo, Norway
- ⁸ Department of Public Health and Caring Sciences, Family Medicine and Preventive Medicine, Uppsala University, 751 05 Uppsala, Sweden
- ⁹ Department of Sports Medicine, Norwegian School of Sport Sciences, PO Box 4014, Ulleval Stadion, 0806 Oslo, Norway

change: decreased ≥ 0.1 mmol/L, unchanged ± 0.1 or ≥ 0.1 mmol/L increased. To evaluate the association between decrease in HDL-C and risk of MACE, a sample of propensity score-matched patients from the decreased and unchanged groups was created, using the latter group as reference. MACE was defined as myocardial infarction, unstable angina pectoris, ischaemic stroke, or cardiovas-cular mortality. Cox proportional hazards models were used to estimate relative risks.

Results HDL-C decreased in 20 %, was unchanged in 58%, and increased in 22 % of patients initiated on statin treatment (96 % treated with simvastatin). The propensity score-matched sample comprised 5950 patients with mean baseline HDL-C and LDL-C of 1.69 and 4.53 mmol/L, respectively. HDL-C decrease was associated with 56 % higher MACE risk (hazard ratio 1.56; 95 % confidence interval 1.12–2.16; p < 0.01) compared with the unchanged HDL-C group.

Conclusions Paradoxical statin-induced reduction in HDL-C was relatively common and was associated with increased risk of MACE.

Key Points

Of patients newly initiated on statin treatment, onefifth experienced a decrease in HDL-C.

This HDL-C decrease was associated with higher risk of major adverse cardiovascular events compared with unchanged HDL-C.

Statin induced HDL-C decrease might be more hazardous than previously recognised and patients should be monitored closely regarding potential cardiovascular risk.

1 Introduction

The role of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) as a potential risk factor in the development of cardiovascular disease (CVD) is not fully understood. Epidemiological studies have reported an association between HDL-C single point measurements and risk of coronary heart disease (which forms a large proportion of CVD) [1-3]. Some guidelines recommend an HDL-C target above 1.0 mmol/L for men and above 1.2 mmol/L for women, [4] but such goals have also been questioned [5, 6]. Recent studies with novel HDL-C-raising therapies have not shown a clear preventive effect of increasing HDL-C on risk of CVD. Treatment with one such agent, torcetrapib, resulted in an increased risk of mortality and morbidity of unknown mechanism, whereas potential favourable effects of another agent, dalcetrapib, with respect to HDL-C were possibly offset by other unfavourable effects [7, 8].

Statins show various degrees of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C)-lowering and HDL-C-raising effects, [9] where the action on HDL-C is independent of the reduction in LDL-C [10]. Is has been indicated from a meta-analysis that among statin-treated patients, HDL-C levels are strongly and inversely associated with the risk of major cardiovascular events [11]. Notably, a large proportion of patients experienced a paradoxical decrease in HDL-C following statin treatment initiation [10]. A recent study reported an inverse association between the paradoxical HDL-C decrease after initiation of statin therapy and major adverse cardiovascular events in patients with acute myocardial infarction [12]. It is possible that a reduction in HDL-C is associated with suboptimal protection against cardiovascular events [13].

The aim of this observational study was to investigate the association between paradoxical HDL-C decrease after initiation of statin therapy and major adverse cardiovascular events in a general primary care patient population.

2 Methods

The study protocol was reviewed and approved by the regional research ethics committee in Uppsala, Sweden (Reference number 2012/007) and registered at ClinicalTrials.gov (clinical trial identifier NCT01551784).

This study linked data from electronic patient records to hospital, drug-dispensing, and cause-of-death registers. Information on blood lipids and patient characteristics was extracted from primary care medical records [e.g. date of birth, gender, body weight, blood pressure, number of primary healthcare centre contacts, and diagnosis according to International Classification of Diseases, 10th revision, Clinical Modification (ICD-10-CM) codes) using an established software system [14].

Data regarding morbidity and mortality were collected from the Swedish National Patient Register, inpatient (admission and discharge dates, and main and secondary diagnoses) and outpatient hospital care (number of contacts and diagnosis according to ICD-10-CM codes) registers, and the Swedish National Cause-of-Death Register (date and cause of death) [15]. Drug-dispensing data were collected from the Swedish Prescribed Drug Register.

Data linkage was performed by the Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare. The linked study database is owned and managed by the Department of Public Health and Caring Sciences, Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden. Personal identification numbers used to identify included patients in all healthcare contacts and were anonymised prior to further data processing.

The study population consisted of statin-naïve patients initiating a first statin treatment at 76 primary care centres in Sweden. To facilitate a representative selection of primary care centres in Sweden, a mix of rural and urban areas, public and private care providers, and small, midsized, and large primary care centres (all using the same electronic patient journal system) was included, corresponding to approximately 7 % of the Swedish primary care centres. Men and women were eligible for inclusion if they were aged 18-85 years and were prescribed statins [Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC): C10A A] between 1 January 2004 and 31 December 2009. Patients had to have HDL-C and LDL-C measurements recorded within 12 months prior to the start of statin treatment as well as a measurement after 10 days and within 12 months on treatment; patients with cardiovascular events before the first HDL-measurement on statin treatment were excluded. Patients with an LDL-C lowering of no more than 0.5 mmol/L were also excluded due to insufficient statin effect or indication of low compliance to statin treatment. Further exclusion criteria were prior history of alcoholism and on-going malignancy.

The date of first known statin dispense was defined as start of statin treatment. The start of the observation period for collecting endpoints was date of first HDL-C measurement on statin treatment. The end of the study observation was 31 December 2011, the end of statin treatment, or death. If a gap of more than 90 days was observed, based on available dispensed drug data, the end of statin treatment was defined as calculated days on last available dispensed drug package plus an additional 25 % of days based on the last dispensed drug pack size.

Two HDL-C groups were defined based on change in between last HDL-C measurement prior statin treatment and first HDL-C measurement on at least 14 days of statin treatment: HDL-C decrease: more than 0.1 mmol/L and HDL-C unchanged group: ± 0.1 mmol/L. In addition, a group with more than 0.1 mmol/L increase in HDL-C was defined to explore the effect of HDL-C increase.

The analysis was performed in two patient samples; the matched sample, which included HDL-C decrease and unchanged HDL-C patients who fulfilled the inclusion and exclusion criteria and who could be propensity score matched for baseline characteristics regarding propensity of HDL-C decrease. The unmatched population used for sub-group analyses comprised all patients who fulfilled the inclusion and exclusion criteria.

The major adverse cardiovascular event (MACE) endpoint was a composite of hospitalisation for a primary diagnosis for myocardial infarction (ICD-10, I21), unstable angina pectoris (ICD-10, I20.0), ischaemic stroke (ICD-10, I63), or cardiovascular death (all primary causes of death diagnosed with ICD-10 codes I00–I99).

Differences in baseline data between the two HDL-C groups were tested by one-way ANOVA and Pearson's chisquare test according to the type of data. Differences between groups were considered statistically significant when p was less than 0.05.

Propensity score matching provides an alternative means to balance study groups in order to reduce confounding when randomisation is not possible [16–20]. Logistic regression models were included to estimate the propensity scores between the decreased and unchanged HDL-C groups, with the HDL-C decrease as the response variable and the following covariates: age, gender, baseline HDL-C, baseline LDL-C, LDL-C change on statin treatment, antihypertensive therapy, diagnosis of diabetes, heart failure, hypertension, angina pectoris, peripheral artery disease (PAD), and stroke.

The propensity scores were matched pairwise, with exact matching for prior myocardial infarction and use of calipers of width equal to 0.1 of the standard deviation of the propensity score. The matching procedure was performed using the Match function in the R package Matching [21]. The primary endpoint was analysed by a Cox proportional hazards model, using a grouped jack-knife estimation of the variance to take the correlation within pairs into account.

The association between HDL-C change and the primary endpoint in the decreased and increased HDL-C groups was studied in the following sub groups: gender (men/women), primary/secondary prevention, with/without diabetes, and in patients above 75 years of age versus younger patients. In the sub-group analyses, Cox regression with adjustment for age, gender, baseline HDL-C, baseline LDL-C, LDL-C change on statin treatment, antihypertensive therapy, diagnoses of diabetes, heart failure, hypertension, angina pectoris, PAD, and stroke was used. An additional analysis was performed comparing the separate outcome of cardiovascular death or all-cause death, as well as a sensitivity analysis including patients with a LDL-C reduction of <0.5 mmol/L.

3 Results

In all, 84,812 patients were initiated on statin treatment during the observation period, of whom 15,357 (18 %) were eligible (Fig. 1). The main reason for exclusion was lack of recorded lipid measurements before and during statin treatment. Compared with the study population, the excluded patients were more often men, were older, and fewer had diabetes/more had CVD before statin treatment initiation (Table S1).

In the full eligible study cohort, baseline mean age was 62.7 years (range 19–85 years) and mean HDL-C was 1.48 mmol/L. The majority of patients (96 %) were initiated on simvastatin, with a mean dose of 20 mg/day (median 20 mg/day). Of these patients, 20 % had a decrease in HDL-C during the observation period, 58 % were unchanged, and 22 % showed an increase (Fig. 1). The patient group with a decrease in HDL-C comprised more women, had a higher HDL-C at baseline (1.69 mmol/L), less diabetes, compared with the unchanged HDL-C group (Table 1). The groups were similar regarding presence of cardiovascular diagnoses; myocardial infarction, angina pectoris, PAD, stroke or heart failure. The changes in HDL-C and LDL-C did not show any correlation (Fig. S1) [10].

The decreased and unchanged HDL-C groups showed a large degree of propensity score overlap (71 %), indicating that these groups were similar prior to the start of statin treatment. After matching, the decreased and unchanged HDL-C groups had similar baseline characteristics and LDL-C changes, with the exception of a higher simvastatin dose and lower triglyceride level in the decreased HDL-C group (Table 1). The mean baseline HDL-C was 1.69 mmol/L and mean LDL-C was 4.53 mmol/L, respectively. The median time from HDL-C measurement to the start of statin treatment was 12 days [interquartile range (IQR) 7-31 days], and the mean time from the start of statin treatment to the second HDL-C measurement was 84 days (IQR 48-148 days). Patients were followed for up to 7 years, with a median follow-up of 2 years, including 14,198 patientyears. In the group with decreased HDL-C, the mean HDL-C reduction was 0.27 mmol/L. The primary endpoint incidence rates (per 1000 patient-years) were 12.8 and 8.2 in the decreased and unchanged HDL-C groups, respectively.

Fig. 1 Patient flow. HDL-C high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, LDL-C low-density lipoprotein cholesterol



The risk of major cardiovascular events was 56 % higher in the decreased HDL-C group compared with the unchanged HDL-C group [hazard ratio (HR), 1.56; 95 % confidence interval (CI), 1.12–2.16; p < 0.01; Table 2; Fig. 2]. The difference between the two groups was due to ischaemic stroke (HR, 1.74; 95 % CI, 1.00–3.03; p = 0.05), but was also driven by cardiovascular death (HR, 1.72; 95 % CI, 0.86–3.42; p = 0.12).

3.1 Subgroup Analyses

The association between HDL-C change and the primary endpoint in the decreased and increased HDL-C groups showed consistent results in the sub-group analyses: gender, primary/secondary prevention, with/without diabetes, and in patients aged >75 years of age versus younger patients (Fig. 3; Table 3).

No difference in risk of major cardiovascular events was observed between the HDL-C increase group compared with the unchanged HDL-C group (HR, 1.05; 95 % CI, 0.82–1.34; p = 0.72).

3.2 Sensitivity Analyses

The separate outcome of cardiovascular death (HR, 1.61; 95 % CI, 0.94–2.75; p = 0.09) and all-cause death (HR, 1.30; 95 % CI, 0.92–1.85; p = 0.14) showed similar results. To assess the impact of the 3161 patients with an LDL-C reduction of <0.5 mmol/L, they were included in the analyses which showed a similar risk (HR, 1.56; 95 % CI, 1.25–1.95; p < 0.01).

4 Discussion

In this study, two-thirds of eligible patients initiating statin treatment had a change in their HDL-C level, and the degree of change was similar to that observed in randomised clinical trials [10]. A paradoxical decrease in HDL-C of >0.1 mmol/L was associated with a 56 % increase in major adverse cardiovascular events compared with unchanged HDL-C levels. The results were consistent across subgroups based on age, gender, presence of diabetes, primary and secondary prevention. No association between increased HDL-C levels and risk of major adverse cardiovascular events could be observed.

Results from a recent meta-analysis did not demonstrate an association between statin treatment, HDL-C change, and CVD risk [11]. Our patients had a relatively high untreated HDL-C level (1.48 mmol/L), in line with observations of untreated HDL-C levels in other Scandinavian studies, but in contrast with the recent publications [11, 21–23]. We observed a greater reduction in HDL-C (-0.27 mmol/L) compared with the meta-analysis (-0.13 mmol/L), and the relatively small HDL-C reduction in the meta-analysis might not have been sufficient to detect CVD risk associations. Furthermore, our findings are supported by a recent study which shows that a paradoxical decrease in plasma HDL-C levels after statin therapy is an important risk factor predicting long-term adverse cardiac events in patients with acute myocardial infarction [12].

Low single point measurements of HDL-C levels in patients receiving statin treatment have been reported to be associated with increased CVD risk, irrespective of the low

Variable	Unmatched pop	ulation		Propensity score-matched population		
	Decreased $(n = 3068)$	Unchanged $(n = 8919)$	Increased $(n = 3370)$	Decreased $(n = 2975)$	Unchanged $(n = 2975)$	p value ^a
Women, <i>n</i> (%)	1872 (61.0)	4840 (54.3)	1997 (59.3)	1803 (60.6)	1798 (60.4)	0.92
Age (years)	62.3 (10.2)	62.6 (10.2)	63.0 (9.8)	62.2 (10.1)	62.3 (10.2)	0.64
Simvastatin, n (%)	2925 (95.3)	8510 (95.4)	3244 (96.3)	2835 (95.3)	2823 (94.9)	0.09
Dose (mg)	20.8 (9.7)	19.7 (8.7)	20.2 (8.8)	20.8 (9.7)	19.7 (8.4)	< 0.01
Hospitalisations, number/year prior to statin start	0.2 (0.6)	0.2 (0.6)	0.19 (0.6)	0.2 (0.6)	0.2 (0.6)	0.16
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	144.6 (19.8)	143.6 (18.6)	144.0 (18.9)	144.6 (19.8)	143.3 (19.0)	0.02
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	82.6 (10.4)	82.0 (10.1)	82.0 (10.4)	82.7 (10.4)	81.9 (10.2)	0.01
Body mass index (kg/cm ²)	28.6 (5.0)	29.4 (5.0)	28.8 (4.9)	28.7 (5.0)	28.6 (5.2)	0.67
HbA1c (%)	5.5 (1.3)	5.7 (1.3)	5.64 (1.4)	5.6 (1.3)	5.6 (1.4)	0.77
HDL-C (mol/L)	1.69 (0.47)	1.41 (0.40)	1.44 (0.42)	1.66 (0.43)	1.66 (0.45)	0.95
LDL-C (mmol/L)	4.53 (1.00)	4.45 (0.95)	4.52 (0.97)	4.53 (0.99)	4.52 (0.96)	0.71
Change in LDL-C (mmol/L)	-1.96 (0.81)	-1.84 (0.70)	-1.86 (0.75)	-1.95 (0.80)	-1.96 (0.73)	0.92
Total cholesterol (mmol/L)	6.88 (1.10)	6.66 (1.04)	6.77 (1.07)	6.86 (1.09)	6.86 (1.05)	0.86
Triglycerides (mmol/L)	1.61 (0.45)	1.37 (0.38)	1.40 (0.40)	1.53 (0.75)	1.55 (0.75)	0.23
Antihypertensives (hypertension), n (%)	1426 (46.5)	4320 (48.4)	1530 (45.4)	1379 (46.4)	1410 (47.4)	0.44
Diabetes, n (%)	691 (22.5)	2433 (27.3)	834 (24.8)	678 (22.8)	680 (22.9)	0.98
Myocardial infarction, n (%)	107 (3.5)	254 (2.9)	81 (2.4)	93 (3.1)	93 (3.1)	1.00
Unstable angina pectoris, n (%)	45 (1.5)	129 (1.5)	46 (1.4)	44 (1.5)	43 (1.5)	1.00
Heart failure, n (%)	75 (2.4)	237 (2.7)	75 (2.2)	73 (2.5)	72 (2.4)	1.00
Arrhythmia, n (%)	182 (5.9)	480 (5.4)	175 (5.2)	177 (6.0)	180 (6.1)	0.64
Peripheral arterial disease, n (%)	54 (1.8)	130 (1.5)	56 (1.7)	52 (1.8)	44 (1.5)	0.47
Cerebrovascular disease, n (%)	242 (7.9)	665 (7.5)	208 (6.2)	181 (6.1)	172 (5.8)	0.66

Table 1 Baseline characteristics for patients with a decrease in HDL-C ($\geq 0.1 \text{ mmol/L}$), an increase in HDL-C ($\geq 0.1 \text{ mmol/L}$), or no change in HDL-C (± 0.1 mmol/L) (unmatched and propensity score-matched populations)

Values are expressed as mean (SD) unless specified otherwise

HbA1c glycated haemoglobin, HDL high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, LDL low-density lipoprotein cholesterol

^a T test for continuous variables and Chi-square test for categorical variable

Table 2 Exposure time (years)in the propensity score-matched		Unchanged HDL-C	Decreased HDL-C	Total
populations	Maximum follow-up time	6.9	6.9	6.9
	Median follow-up time	1.9	2.0	2.0
	Total patient-years	7157	7041	14,198
	Total number of events	59	90	149

LDL-C levels achieved [13]. We have shown that patients with a relatively high HDL-C (mean 1.48 mmol/L) newly initiated on cholesterol-modifying treatment (statin) and who experienced a consecutive HDL-C reduction have an increased cardiovascular risk, independently of baseline LDL-C and LDL-C change on statin treatment. Our findings are in line with previous observational data where a threshold for increased cardiovascular risk for HDL-C values below 1.3-4 mmol/L was observed [4]. Since the untreated HDL-C is relatively high in our material, this is the likely explanation for why we do not observe a reduced cardiovascular risk with increased HDL-C values. A major decrease in HDL-C level, independent of the size of the LDL-C reduction, might cause a shift in cholesterol transport. Indeed, the one-third of patients initiated on statin therapy who had a paradoxical reduction in HDL-C level [10] may have a suboptimal balance of cholesterol in/ out transport to/from the inner arterial wall. Other important cardiovascular risk-lowering properties of HDL-C include antioxidant, anti-apoptotic, anti-inflammatory, antithrombotic, and anti-proteolytic properties, which account for the direct protective action on endothelial cells



Fig. 2 Kaplan-Meier plot of time to first major cardiovascular events for the decreased and unchanged HDL-C propensity score-matched populations. MACE major adverse cardiovascular events

[24]. The decrease in HDL-C might consequently negatively impact these protective actions. However, we believe that reduction of HDL-C per se is associated with increased cardiovascular risk and not necessarily a statin-specific effect. Thus, we would highlight the importance of nonpharmacological efforts that will prevent HDL-C reductions, such as avoiding weight gain and/or maintaining physical activity levels.

The endpoint was a composite of hospitalisation with a primary diagnose of myocardial infarction, unstable angina pectoris, or ischaemic stroke, or cardiovascular death. An analysis of the separate endpoint components showed that risk of ischaemic stroke was statistically significant. The risks of coronary events and cardiovascular death were not significant, although the trends showed indication of similar directions/patterns. This finding might be somewhat surprising, as a predominant effect of statin treatment on coronary disease would be expected. However, as more patients in Sweden die outside hospital owing to coronary disease than owing to stroke, and a proportion of fatal coronary events occur in the out-of-hospital setting, stroke events were more likely to be a classified event in our study because more of these patients survived to hospitals [25, 26]. Similar results were observed when comparing outcome of separate analysis of cardiovascular death with all-cause death. Interestingly, the recent study which showed that a paradoxical decrease in plasma HDL-C levels after statin therapy initiation also had results driven by significantly higher incidence of stroke in the decreased HDL-C group [12].



Fig. 3 Hazard ratio forest plot of major cardiovascular events in different sub-groups

	Unchanged HDL-C No of patients	Decreased HDL-C No of patients	Unchanged HDL-C No of events	Decreased HDL-C No of events	Unchanged HDL-C Events/1000 patient-years	Decreased HDL-C Events/1000 patient-years
Total	8919	3068	236	93	11.3	12.8
Female	4840	1872	98	43	8.5	9.7
Male	4079	1196	138	50	14.6	17.5
Primary prevention	5063	1838	62	34	5.3	8.1
Secondary prevention	3856	1230	174	59	18.8	19.0
Diabetes	2433	691	93	36	16.3	20.4
No diabetes	6486	2377	143	57	9.4	10.3
Age over 75 years	959	303	72	32	31.8	48.7
Age below 75 years	7960	2765	164	61	8.8	9.2

Table 3 Events and events rates for forest plot (Fig. 3)

Eighteen percent of patients initiated on statin treatment during the observation period were included in the study. The main reason for exclusion was lack of laboratory data, as only laboratory measurements from primary care were available. This favoured the inclusion of patients with regular healthcare controls (hypertension, diabetes, atrial fibrillation) in primary care. A considerable proportion of secondary prevention patients with initiation of statin treatment in hospital did not have a pre-treatment HDL-C measurement available to us and were therefore not included (Table S1).

The exclusion of a significant proportion of patients might call into question the generalisability of the results. However, we found consistent results in all subgroup analyses, with a numerically higher risk of reaching the composite endpoint with decreased HDL-C levels for all subgroups (older vs. younger patients, men vs. women, primary vs. secondary prevention patients, and presence of diabetes). However, among secondary preventive patients, a smaller numerical difference in cardiovascular risk between unchanged and decreased HDL-C groups was observed. Secondary prevention, for patients recently experiencing a myocardial infarction or a stroke, might potentially a have an initial increased thrombotic risk, which is more critical than the long-term effect caused by the atherosclerosis process. Altogether, this indicates that the study findings might be valid for a broad statin-treated population.

A further potential limitation regarding generalisability is the fact that the absolute majority of patients in Sweden are treated with relatively low doses of simvastatin. The frequent use of low-dose simvastatin might be the result of a stringent reimbursement regime, only allowing the use of high-potency statins in patients who do not reach treatment goals or in individuals who do not tolerate simvastatin. The effect on HDL-C change achieved by statins in general is reported to be independent of the reduction in LDL-C [10].

The present study is observational and unmeasured confounders may have influenced our results. Patients with malignancy or history of alcoholism were not included in the study. Changes in body weight, smoking pattern, or physical activity might influence levels of HDL-C, the latter two of which are not systematically recorded in primary care records. Since smoking previously was reported to be associated with generally low HDL-C levels, it is likely that smokers would be in the unchanged group or increase group due to the regression to the mean effect in our study [10, 27]. Furthermore, if the increase in HDL-C was due to cessation of smoking, a decrease in HDL-C should be found more frequently in smokers. In Sweden, not only is the overall smoking practice low (<15 %) but the likelihood of patients starting smoking during initiation of statin therapy can also be considered to be low. Furthermore, the effect of smoking cessation programmes in primary care is modest [28, 29]. The inverse correlation between physical activity and HDL-C change is low and can therefore be considered to be of minor importance [30]. We did not observe a marked percentage increase in body mass index in patients with a reduction in HDL-C, when compared with patients with unchanged HDL-C levels.

Low compliance to statin treatment could potentially be a possible explanation for our findings. However, patients were only included in the analyses while on statin treatment, and only if the reported LDL-C reduction was >0.5 mmol/L. The risk of the results being due to low compliance and/or statin response can therefore also be considered to be low.

The statin prescription pattern might be a source of confounding by indication. We found that patients with high cardiovascular risk in general had a lower untreated LDL-C, and vice versa. This correlation between LDL levels and CVD risk has been reported previously in a real-life clinical setting [31]. However, we found no correlation between LDL-C change and HDL-C change, as also

supported by a previous report [10]. A prescription bias based on low HDL-C levels might also be a source of explanation for our findings. As low HDL-C is not a reason for initiation of statin treatment in Sweden, though, it is not likely that HDL-C should be affected by confounding by indication. Furthermore, we observed a mean difference of 1.1 mg of simvastatin between the decrease and unchanged groups after propensity score matching. We do not think this minimal difference in dosing had any impact on the results.

Laboratory data were only available from primary care records. Biological and analytical variation of HDL-C values may be a potential source of misclassification into the different HDL-C change groups. However, we observed similar associations with baseline cholesterol parts [HDL-C, plasma triglycerides (TG), and LDL-C] on HDL-C change pattern in our study compared to those reported in randomized clinical trials [10]. Thus, in our study, patients with high HDL-C had higher likelihood of HDL-C reduction and patients with low HDL-C and higher associated cardiovascular risk at baseline would more likely be identified for the HDL-C decrease group. In Sweden, HDL-C samples are generally analysed at regional central laboratories, all of which have participated in national quality and standardisation programmes since the end of the 1980s [32]. The analytical variation for HDL-C in the Swedish external quality assurance programme is between 3 % and 4 % (at the level of 1.68 mmol/L) [31], while the biological variation of HDL-C is approximately 7 %. Patients in our study had to have a decrease in HDL-C of >0.1 mmol/L, and the average HDL-C decrease was 0.27 mmol/L. Our conservative estimations of the HDL-C variation support the notion that the magnitude of the observed HDL-C decrease was sufficient.

The present study also has several important strengths. First, the composite endpoint has been validated previously in Swedish studies [19]. Second, only statin-naïve patients were included in order to increase the likelihood of analysing the actual treatment effect on HDL-C levels. The observed HDL-C change pattern is similar to that observed in randomised clinical trials [10]. Third, our analyses carefully matched the patients for numerous cardiovascular diagnoses, risk factors, including baseline LDL-C, and LDL-C change on treatment, thus increasing the likelihood of similar baseline risk. Finally, using Swedish national health registers the follow-up was performed with basically no loss of events.

5 Conclusions

A marked proportion of patients newly initiated on statin treatment experienced a decrease in HDL-C. This decrease was associated with a higher risk of major adverse cardiovascular events compared with patients in whom HDL-C levels were unchanged. Statin-induced increase in HDL-C was not associated with lower risk of major adverse cardiovascular events.

Acknowledgments Editorial support was provided by Oxford PharmaGenesis Ltd, funded by AstraZeneca.

Contributors' statements P Hasvold, M. Thuresson, G. Johansson, and J. Bodegård participated equally in the study conception, design, and statistical analysis planning. M. Thuresson was responsible for the statistical analyses, P. Hasvold for the manuscript draft and finalization, and G. Johansson for handling of data and the study database. All authors had access to study data, and had authority over manuscript preparation, approval of the final version, and the decision to submit for publication.

Compliance with Ethical Standards

Role of the funding source Project management was provided by AstraZeneca. Data collection was performed by Pygargus AB, Stockholm, Sweden, and was funded by AstraZeneca. The statistical analysis was agreed on by the study steering committee, and data analysis was performed by the study database owner in collaboration with AstraZeneca. As members of the study steering committee, AstraZeneca took part in the interpretation of the data and the drafting of the manuscript. Editorial support was provided by Oxford PharmaGenesis Ltd, funded by AstraZeneca.

Disclosures Pål Hasvold is enrolled at the PhD School of the University of Oslo, Department of Medicine.

Pål Hasvold, Johan Bodegård, and Niklas Hammar are employed by AstraZeneca.

Marcus Thuresson is employed by an independent statistical consultant company, Statisticon AB, for which AstraZeneca is a client.

Gunnar Johansson has served on an advisory board arranged by AstraZeneca.

Johan Sundström serves on an advisory board for Itrim.

Sverre E. Kjeldsen has received honoraria for lecturing/consulting and other research support from AstraZeneca, Bayer, Hemo Sapiens, Medtronic, MSD, Novartis, Pronova, Serodus, and Takeda.

Ingar Holme has received honoraria for research consulting from AstraZeneca.

Open Access This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/), which permits any noncommercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made.

References

- Gordon DJ, Probstfield JL, Garrison RJ, Neaton JD, Castelli WP, Knoke JD, et al. High-density lipoprotein cholesterol and cardiovascular disease. Four prospective American studies. Circulation. 1989;79:8–15.
- 2. Jacobs DR Jr, Mebane IL, Bangdiwala SI, Criqui MH, Tyroler HA. High density lipoprotein cholesterol as a predictor of

cardiovascular disease mortality in men and women: the followup study of the Lipid Research Clinics Prevalence Study. Am J Epidemiol. 1990;131:32–47.

- Collaboration Emerging Risk Factors, Di Angelantonio E, Sarwar N, Perry P, Kaptoge S, Ray KK, et al. Major lipids, apolipoproteins, and risk of vascular disease. JAMA. 2009;302:1993–2000.
- 4. Chapman MJ, Ginsberg HN, Amarenco P, Andreotti F, Borén J, Catapano AL, et al. European Atherosclerosis Society Consensus Panel. Triglyceride-rich lipoproteins and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol in patients at high risk of cardiovascular disease: evidence and guidance for management. Eur Heart J. 2011;32:1345–61.
- 5. Perk J, De Backer G, Gohlke H, Graham I, Reiner Z, Verschuren M, European Association for Cardiovascular Prevention and Rehabilitation (EACPR), ESC Committee for Practice Guidelines. CPG European guidelines on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice (version 2012), et al. The Fifth Joint Task Force of the European Society of cardiology and other societies on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice (constituted by representatives of nine societies and by invited experts). Eur Heart J. 2012;2012(33):1635–701.
- Stone NJ, Robinson JG, Lichtenstein AH, Bairey Merz CN, Blum CB, Eckel RH, et al. 2013 ACC/AHA guideline on the treatment of blood cholesterol to reduce atherosclerotic cardiovascular risk in adults: a report of the American College of Cardiology/ American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. Circulation. 2014;129(25 Suppl 2):S1–45.
- Barter PJ, Caulfield M, Eriksson M, Grundy SM, Kastelein JJ, Komajda M, et al. ILLUMINATE Investigators. Effects of torcertrapib in patients at high risk for coronary events. N Engl J Med. 2007;357:2109–22.
- Schwartz GG, Olsson AG, Abt M, Ballantyne CM, Barter PJ, Brumm J, et al. dal-OUTCOMES Investigators. Effects of dalcetrapib in patients with a recent acute coronary syndrome. N Engl J Med. 2012;367:2089–99.
- Jones PH, Davidson MH, Stein EA, Bays HE, McKenney JM, Miller E, et al. STELLAR Study Group. Comparison of the efficacy and safety of rosuvastatin versus atorvastatin, simvastatin, and pravastatin across doses (STELLAR* Trial). Am J Cardiol. 2003;92:152–60.
- Barter PJ, Brandrup-Wognsen G, Palmer MK, Nicholls SJ. Effect of statins on HDL-C: a complex process unrelated to changes in LDL-C: analysis of the VOYAGER database. J Lipid Res. 2010;51:1546–53.
- Boekholdt SM, Arsenault BJ, Hovingh GK, Mora S, Pedersen TR, Larosa JC, et al. Levels and changes of HDL cholesterol and apolipoprotein A-I in relation to risk of cardiovascular events among statin-treated patients: a meta-analysis. Circulation. 2013;128:1504–12.
- 12. Ota T, Ishii H, Suzuki S, Tanaka A, Shibata Y, Tatami Y, Harata S, Shimbo Y, Takayama Y, Kawamura Y, Osugi N, Maeda K, Kondo T, Murohara T. Relation between paradoxical decrease in high-density lipoprotein cholesterol levels after statin therapy and adverse cardiovascular events in patients with acute myocardial infarction. Am J Cardiol. 2015;115:411–6.
- Acharjee S, Boden WE, Hartigan PM, Teo KK, Maron DJ, Sedlis SP, et al. Low levels of high density lipoprotein cholesterol and increased risk of cardiovascular events in stable ischemic heart disease patients: a post hoc analysis from the COURAGE trial. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2013;62:1826–33.
- Martinell M, Stalhammar J, Hallqvist J. Automated data extraction—a feasible way to construct patient registers of primary care utilization. Ups J Med Sci. 2012;117:52–6.
- 15. Ludvigsson JF, Andersson E, Ekbom A, Feychting M, Kim JL, Reuterwall C, et al. External review and validation of the

Swedish national inpatient register. BMC Public Health. 2011;11:450.

- 16. Janson C, Larsson K, Lisspers KH, Ställberg B, Stratelis G, Goike H, et al. Pneumonia and pneumonia related mortality in patients with COPD treated with fixed combinations of inhaled corticosteroid and long acting β2 agonist: observational matched cohort study (PATHOS). BMJ. 2013;346:f3306.
- Eklind-Cervenka M, Benson L, Dahlstrom U, Edner M, Rosenqvist M, Lund LH. Association of candesartan vs losartan with all-cause mortality in patients with heart failure. JAMA. 2011;305:175–82.
- Varenhorst C, Jensevik K, Jernberg T, Sundström A, Hasvold P, Held C, et al. Duration of dual antiplatelet treatment with clopidogrel and aspirin in patients with acute coronary syndrome. Eur Heart J. 2014;35:969–78.
- Brookhart MA, Wyss R, Layton JB, Stürmer T. Propensity score methods for confounding control in non experimental research. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes. 2013;6:604–11.
- Sekhon JS. Multivariate and propensity score matching software with automated balance optimization. J Stat Softw. 2011;42:1–52.
- 21. Van Hemelrijck M, Harari D, Garmo H, Hammar N, Walldius G, Lambe M, et al. Biomarker-based score to predict mortality in persons aged 50 years and older: a new approach in the Swedish AMORIS study. Int J Mol Epidemiol Genet. 2012;3:66–76.
- Langsted A, Nordestgaard BG. Nonfasting lipids, lipoproteins, and apolipoproteins in individuals with and without diabetes: 58,434 individuals from the Copenhagen General Population Study. Clin Chem. 2011;3:482–9.
- 23. Hambraeus K, Lindhagen L, Tydén P, Lindahl B, Lagerqvist B. Target-attainment rates of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol using lipid-lowering drugs one year after acute myocardial infarction in Sweden. Am J Cardiol. 2014;113:17–22.
- Tran-Dinh A, Diallo D, Delbosc S, Varela-Perez LM, Dang QB, Lapergue B, et al. HDL and endothelial protection. Br J Pharmacol. 2013;169:493–511.
- 25. Wilhelmsen L, Köster M, Harmsen P, Lappas G. Differences between coronary disease and stroke in incidence, case fatality, and risk factors, but few differences in risk factors for fatal and non-fatal events. Eur Heart J. 2005;26:1916–22.
- Dudas K, Lappas G, Stewart S, Rosengren A. Trends in out-ofhospital deaths due to coronary heart disease in Sweden (1991 to 2006). Circulation. 2011;123:46–52.
- Craig WY, Palomaki GE, Haddow JE. Cigarette smoking and serum lipid and lipoprotein concentrations: an analysis of published data. BMJ. 1989;298:784–8.
- OECD. OECD Factbook 2011–2012: Economic, Environmental and Social Statistics. Adult population smoking daily. Available at: http://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/sites/factbook-2011-en/12/02/01/ 12-02-01g1.html?contentType=/ns/StatisticalPublication,/ns/Chap ter&itemId=/content/chapter/factbook-2011-107en&containerItem Id=/content/serial/18147364&accessItemIds=&mimeType=text/ html&_csp_=db2b28696cd26bcfce3036cbd611c6ac. Accessed 14 Oct 2014.
- Persson LG, Hjalmarson A. Smoking cessation in patients with diabetes mellitus: results from a controlled study of an intervention programme in primary healthcare in Sweden. Scand J Prim Health Care. 2006;24:75–80.
- Skretteberg PT, Grundvold I, Kjeldsen SE, Erikssen JE, Sandvik L, Liestøl K, et al. HDL-cholesterol and prediction of coronary heart disease: modified by physical fitness? A 28-year follow-up of apparently healthy men. Atherosclerosis. 2012;220:250–6.
- Heintjes EM, Penning-van Beest FJ, Johansson S, Stalenhoef AF, Herings RM. Comparison of incidences of cardiovascular events among new users of different statins: a retrospective observational cohort study. Curr Med Res Opin. 2009;25:2621–9.
- http://www.equalis.se/media/41723/u040_kvalitetsmål_equalis_1.2. pdf. Accessed 21 May 2015.
www.nature.com/jhh

ORIGINAL ARTICLE Diabetes and CVD risk during angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor or angiotensin II receptor blocker treatment in hypertension: a study of 15 990 patients

LP Hasvold^{1,2}, J Bodegård^{2,3}, M Thuresson⁴, J Stålhammar⁵, N Hammar^{6,7}, J Sundström⁸, D Russell⁹ and SE Kjeldsen¹⁰

Differences in clinical effectiveness between angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEis) and angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBs) in the primary treatment of hypertension are unknown. The aim of this retrospective cohort study was to assess the prevention of type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease (CVD) in patients treated with ARBs or ACEis. Patients initiated on enalapril or candesartan treatment in 71 Swedish primary care centers between 1999 and 2007 were included. Medical records data were extracted and linked with nationwide hospital discharge and cause of death registers. The 11725 patients initiated on enalapril and 4265 on candesartan had similar baseline characteristics. During a mean follow-up of 1.84 years, 36 482 patient-years, the risk of new diabetes onset was lower in the candesartan group (hazard ratio (HR) 0.81, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.69–0.96, P = 0.01) compared with the enalapril group. No difference between the groups was observed in CVD risk (HR 0.99, 95% CI 0.87–1.13, P = 0.86). More patients discontinued treatment in the enalapril group (38.1%) vs the candesartan group (27.2%). In a clinical setting, patients initiated on candesartan treatment had a lower risk of new-onset type 2 diabetes and lower rates of drug discontinuation compared with patients initiated on enalapril. No differences in CVD risk were observed.

Journal of Human Hypertension (2014) 28, 663-669; doi:10.1038/jhh.2014.43; published online 25 June 2014

INTRODUCTION

The renin–angiotensin system is targeted by two of the most widely used antihypertensive medication classes: angiotensinconverting enzyme inhibitors (ACEis) and angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBs). ACEis and ARBs inhibit the renin–angiotensin system differently and may therefore differ in their preventive effects against both diabetes and cardiovascular disease (CVD).

ACEis and ARBs have been reported to be associated with a reduced onset of type 2 diabetes compared with placebo and other antihypertensive treatments.^{1–4} A meta-analysis by Elliot and Meyer⁵ demonstrated a lower risk of type 2 diabetes in patients treated with ARBs compared with ACEis. Possible explanations for this is the different effects of these medications on glucose metabolism through activation of different parts of the PPAR (peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors) system or more effective blockade of angiotensin type I receptors and the subsequent development of vascular insulin resistance and impaired endothelial nitric oxide-mediated relaxation.^{6,7} However, no direct comparisons between ACEis and ABRs regarding risk of new-onset diabetes has previously been reported in patients with hypertension.

A few studies have compared the preventive effects of treatment with ACEis vs ARBs on CVD in high CV risk patients with neutral results.^{8,9} Potential differences in the preventive effects of these drugs on CVD outcomes in uncomplicated hypertension patients are yet unknown.

Candesartan, being one of the two most frequently prescribed ARB in Sweden was chosen to represent the ARBs in this

comparison in order to reduce potential confounding. Candesartan was also shown to be more effective in reducing CVD than losartan, the other most commonly used ARB in Sweden.¹⁰ Enalapril was chosen to represent the ACEis because of identical indications to candesartan and being the most frequently prescribed ACEi in Sweden (75% of patients receiving ACEis).

The aim of the study was to investigate differences in the risk for new-onset type 2 diabetes and CVD in patients initiated on antihypertensive treatment with enalapril or candesartan.

PATIENTS AND METHODS

The study protocol was reviewed and approved by the Regional Research Ethics Committee in Uppsala, Sweden and registered with ClinicalTrials.-gov, number NCT01152567.

Sweden has a tax-funded health-care system, providing primary and secondary care without out-of-pocket expenses and reimbursement for all prescribed drugs for chronic diseases, including hypertension. Patients are normally followed by a general practitioner.

Study population

Men and women with hypertension identified at 71 primary care centers from 1 January 1999 to 31 December 2007, aged \geq 18 years, who were prescribed for the first time either enalapril (Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC): C09A A02 or C09B A02) or candesartan (ATC: C09 CA06 or C09 DA06), with or without a fixed combination with hydrochlorothiazide, were eligible for the study. The first prescription of the study drug within the study period was defined as the start of the study. Exclusion criteria were a recorded diagnose of CVD, diabetes, chronic kidney disease or npg

¹The Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway; ²AstraZeneca, Nordic-Baltic, Norway; ³Department of Cardiology, Ullevaal Hospital, Oslo, Norway; ⁴Statisticon AB, Uppsala, Sweden; ⁵Department of Public Health and Caring Sciences, Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden; ⁶Institute of Environmental Medicine, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden; ⁷AstraZeneca R&D, Mölndal, Sweden; ⁸Department of Medical Sciences and Uppsala Clinical Research Center, Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden; ⁹Department of Neurology, Rikshospitalet, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway and ¹⁰Department of Cardiology, Ullevaal Hospital, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway. Correspondence: LP Hasvold, Medical Department, AstraZeneca Nordic-Baltic, Postboks 6050 Etterstad, Oslo N-0601, Norway.

Received 1 February 2014; revised 25 April 2014; accepted 1 May 2014; published online 25 June 2014

malignancy (data in Supplementary Table S1). Patients who were prescribed vitamin K antagonists, clopidogrel, acetylic salicylic acid, digitalis glycosides, aldosterone antagonists, loop diuretics, nitrates or anti-diabetes drugs within 15 months before the start of the study were considered to have potential CVD or diabetes and were excluded.

Data were extracted from the primary medical records at the primary care centers using an established software system.¹¹ Morbidity before and after the start date of the study was collected from the National Patient Register, inpatient (admission and discharge dates and main and secondary diagnoses) and outpatient hospital care.¹² Mortality during the follow-up was ascertained using the National Cause of Death register (date and cause(s) of death). Data regarding socio-economic status (educational level) were collected from the national censuses at Statistics Sweden. The linkage of data obtained from the national registers and primary care centers was performed by the Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare. Social security numbers, used to identify included patients in all health-care contacts, were replaced with study ID numbers before further data processing.

An attempt was made in the recruitment of study sites to ensure a representative selection of primary care centers in Sweden: a mix of rural and urban areas; public and private care providers; and small, mid-sized, and large primary care centers (data in Supplementary Table S2). The study sample represents approximately 7% of the total number of the primary care centers in Sweden.

Baseline examinations

Data on age, gender, blood pressure values and body mass index, laboratory/blood samples, diagnoses according to International Classification of Diseases, 9 and 10th revision, Clinical Modification (ICD-9/10-CM) codes, number of visits and prescribed drugs were extracted from the primary care journals. The baseline for the blood pressure value was calculated as the mean of the last three measurements during the time period 15 months before until 14 days after the start of enalapril or candesartan treatment. Blood pressure at 6 months was calculated as the mean of measurements 2 weeks to 6 months after the start of the study. From 12 months and onwards, 6-monthly blood pressures were calculated as the mean of measurements from 6 months before to 6 months after the specific time point.

Follow-up and outcomes

Patients were eligible for analysis while they remained on study drug treatment. The observation period ended on the date when the patient died, discontinued the study drug treatment, started a new C09-medication/renin–angiotensin system inhibiting drug or on 31 December 2007.

The criteria for the diagnosis of diabetes in Sweden is normally based on elevated plasma glucose values (>7.0 mmol I⁻¹) and/or a positive oral glucose tolerance test. The end point for diabetes was a recorded primary care or hospital discharge diagnosis of type 2 diabetes (ICD-9 code 250, ICD-10 codes E10-E14) and/or prescription of a drug within the ATC system class A10. This end point for diabetes diagnosis have been validated in other studies.¹³ The end point for assessing CVD consisted of a recorded diagnosis of all non-fatal and fatal CVD (myocardial infarction, unstable angina, chronic ischemic heart disease, peripheral artery disease, heart failure, cardiac arrhythmias and stroke) as defined by ICD codes (see Supplementary Table S1).¹⁰

Statistical methods

The study database was owned and managed by the Department of Public Health and Caring Sciences, Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden. The data were processed and analyzed by an independent statistical contract company (Statisticon AB, Stockholm, Sweden).

All descriptive data are given as mean (s.d.) or percentage (%). Time to event end points were analyzed using the Cox proportional hazards regression models, and the results are presented as hazard ratios (HRs) with 95% confidence intervals (CIs) and corresponding *P*-values. If one patient had several end points, only the first was used in the survival model. Time to diabetes or CVD was analyzed separately.

Selection of covariates for the primary analysis

The main analysis is an adjusted model with adjustment for age and gender at baseline, socio-economic status and year of the start of the

study. Patients with a history of renal disease, CVD and/or diabetes were excluded from this study. Age, gender, elevated blood glucose, overweight and low socio-economic status are known risk factors for diabetes.¹⁴⁻¹⁶ High cholesterol and hypertension are additionally known risk factors for CVD.¹⁷

All included patients had hypertension, and there was no difference between the two treatment groups regarding baseline lipid values and statin use. The socio-economic status is associated with smoking pattern, overweight and physical activity, thus a risk factor for diabetes and CVD.^{16,18} The treatment patterns (diagnoses, treatment targets) may change over time, and year of the start of the study was included as covariate.

The main analysis was supported by sensitivity analyses where additional covariates with incomplete coverage at baseline were included and analyses with exclusion of end points recorded within a specific time frame after the start of the study. Furthermore, for a complementary analysis, propensity scores were estimated corresponding to the probability of receiving the treatment given the baseline covariates. A matched propensity score analysis was performed in order to address confounding associated with the indication for treatment.¹⁹

Sensitivity analyses diabetes

For diabetes, additional sensitivity analyses were performed where baseline hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c), blood glucose and body mass index were included as additional covariates. The number and percentage of patients with high HbA1c (>7.0%) or blood glucose (>7.0 and >10.0 mmoll⁻¹) values at baseline was also estimated. Analyses were performed where patients with high baseline HbA1c and blood glucose values were excluded. The diagnosis of diabetes within 6 and 12 months after the start of the study were also excluded in extra analyses for diabetes and CVD.

Sensitivity analyses for diabetes and CVD

Propensity score methods have become widely used tools for confounding control in non-randomized studies of drug effectiveness.^{19,20} The propensity scores for receiving either enalapril or candesartan were calculated using a logistic regression model in which the dependent variable was use of enalapril or candesartan. Independent covariates included in the model were gender, age, year of the start of the study, systolic blood pressure, total cholesterol, blood glucose, socio-economic status, beta blockers, statins, calcium antagonists and thiazides as covariates. Blood glucose was selected as a covariate for laboratory samples related to diabetes, as the elevated blood glucose is the main diagnostic criterion for diabetes in Sweden. The resulting propensity scores were matched pair wise using callipers of width equal to 0.2 of the s.d. of the propensity score using the matching package in R.^{21,22} Risk of newonset diabetes and CVD were calculated using a Cox proportional hazards model stratified by the matched pairs.

For both end points, the same model for adjusted Cox regression with multiple imputation of systolic blood pressure as additional covariate was applied. The potential effect of variation in proportion of included patients per year in the two cohorts was also studied by analyzing the cohorts of patients included before and after 2005 separately. The presented *P*-values are not adjusted for multiplicity, and thus in the interpretation of the results one should take the total number of comparisons into account.

RESULTS

Of the 43 576 eligible patients; 33 946 (77.9%) were prescribed enalapril and 9636 (22.1%) candesartan. In the 27 592 patients with exclusion criteria, 66% (n = 22 221) were excluded in the enalapril group and 56% (n = 5371) in the candesartan group (Figure 1). The remaining study population consisted of 15 990 patients; 11 725 treated with enalapril and 4265 with candesartan. All 71 primary care centers prescribed both enalapril and candesartan, although in various ratios.

Baseline characteristics

The baseline characteristics for the included patients are summarized in Table 1. Compared with the candesartan patients, enalapril patients were slightly older (+1.0 years), less frequently



Figure 1. Patient flow.

Table 1. Baseline data from 15 990 hypertensive patients without previous cardiovascular disease and diabetes Variable Unmatched Propensity score matched Enalapril Candesartan Enalapril P-value Candesartan P-value (n = 11725)(n = 4265)(n = 1111)(n = 1111)61.0 (12.1) 60.0 (11.6) < 0.01 59.6 (10.8) 59.7 (10.7) 0.81 Age (vears) Women, n (%) 6216 (53) 2431 (57) 582 (52) 583 (53) 1.00 < 0.01 Body mass index $(kg m^{-2})$ 0.04 29.2 (5.3) 28.9 (5.2) 0.10 28.8 (4.8) 29.5 (5.2) 161.7 (18.3) Systolic blood pressure (mm Hg) 163.3 (19.1) 162.0 (19.2) < 0.01 161.5 (18.7) 0.80 Diastolic blood pressure (mm Hg) 91.8 (10.6) 91.8 (10.4) 0.94 92.2 (10.2) 92.1 (10.2) 0.71 Total cholesterol (mmoll 5.9 (1.0) 5.8 (1.0) 0.11 5.9 (1.0) 5.9 (1.0) 0.88 LDL cholesterol (mmol I⁻¹) 3.6 (0.8) 3.6 (0.8) 0.90 3.6 (0.8) 3.6 (0.8) 0.79 HDL cholesterol (mmol I⁻¹) 1.4 (0.3) 1.4 (0.3) 1.4 (0.3) 1.3 (0.3) < 0.01 0.92 1.7 (0.8) Triglycerides (mmol I⁻¹) 1.6 (0.8) 1.6 (0.8) 0.37 1.6 (0.7) 0.12 Glucose (mmol I⁻¹) 5.4 (1.1) 5.3 (1.1) < 0.01 5.3 (1.3) 5.3 (1.3) 0.63 HbA1c (%) 4.9 (0.7) 4.7 (0.5) < 0.01 4.7 (0.5) 4.9 (0.7) < 0.01 Serum creatinine (μ mol l⁻¹) 79.6 (16.7) < 0.01 81.4 (16.1) 82.0 (16.2) 0.41 82.3 (16.2) Potassium (mmol I^{-1}) 4.1 (0.3) 4.1 (0.3) 4.1 (0.3) 4.1 (0.3) 0.57 0.12 2082 (18) 204 (18) 197 (18) Thiazides, n (%) 525 (12) < 0.01 0.74 Calcium channel blockers^a, n (%) 1181 (10) 555 (13) < 0.01 172 (15) 181 (16) 0.64 Beta blockers, n (%) 2855 (24) 1050 (25) 0.74 351 (32) 366 (33) 0.52 Statins, n (%) 749 (6) 290 (7) 0.37 137 (12) 137 (12) 0.95 Socio-economic status^b (low/medium/high) 35/33/32 31/32/37 33/29/39 32/30/38 < 0.01 0.76 Percentage of patients hospitalized for 10.6% 11.1% any reason^c Number of visits in primary care^c 2.0 2.0 Total number of diagnoses set 196.3 196.7 (100 patients year

Abbreviations: HbA1c, hemoglobin A1c; HDL, high-density lipoprotein; LDL, low-density lipoprotein. The numbers in brackets represents s.d., where no other description is given. ^aDihydropyridine substances. ^bEducational level. ^cWithin 15 months before the start of study.

females (-4%), had a higher systolic blood pressure (+0.1 mm Hg), higher blood glucose $(+0.1 \text{ mm ol I}^{-1})$, higher HbA1c (+0.2%) and lower serum creatinine $(2.6 \mu \text{mol I}^{-1})$. Concomitant treatments differed by the enalapril group being more frequently treated with thiazides (+6%) and less frequently with calcium channel blockers (-3%). Patients treated with enalapril had a generalized lower socio-economic status. There were no observed differences with regard to health care utilization (hospitalizations and length of stay, number of primary care visits and number of new diagnoses) between the two groups within 15 months from the start of the study. The proportion of included

patients per year, from 1999 to 2007, showed a larger proportion of enalapril patients included at the end (2005–2007) of the observation period (data in Supplementary Table S3).

Follow-up

The observation period comprised a total of 36 482 patient-years: 23 429 patient-years of enalapril treatment and 13 053 patientyears of candesartan treatment. The mean time (s.d.) of follow-up was 1.84 (1.97) years in the enalapril and 2.85 (2.31) years in the candesartan group. npg 666

There was no difference in the number of visits to primary care and laboratory/blood samples taken between the two groups during the first 2 years of the study (data in Supplementary Tables S4 And 5). Weight at baseline and weight during follow-up was similar in the groups (data in Supplementary Figure S1). During the observation period, 38.7% (n = 4538) patients were discontinued from the enalapril-treated group and 27.1% (n = 1157) from the candesartan group. Reasons for discontinuations were death: 2.6% (n = 305) vs 2.5% (n = 107), switch to other C09-drugs 20.0% (n = 2345) vs 8.7% (n = 372) or cessation of study drug prescription 16.1% (n = 1888) vs 15.9% (n = 678) in the enalapril group and the candesartan group, respectively.

On-treatment blood pressures

The initiation of enalapril or candesartan was followed by a substantial blood pressure reduction, with no difference in blood pressure between the two treatment groups (Figure 2). The proportion of patients with blood pressure recordings was similar in both the treatment groups after 1 year of treatment.

Incidence of new diagnosed diabetes

A total of 991 subjects with a new diagnosis of diabetes were recorded during the observation period. The incidence rate was 0.074 per 100 patient-years and 0.066 per patient-years in the enalapril and candesartan group, respectively. The unadjusted risk of a new diagnosis of diabetes was lower (HR 0.77, 95% CI 0.66–0.90, P < 0.01) in patients treated with candesartan compared with those with enalapril (Figure 3). This risk remained lower in candesartan patients after adjusting for age, gender, index year and socio-economic status, (HR 0.81, 95% CI 0.69–0.96, P = 0.01).

Results of the additional sensitivity analyses with adjustments for baseline HbA1c, blood glucose and body mass index were consistent with the results from the main analysis for diabetes.



Figure 2. Blood pressure during follow-up. %*Percentage of blood pressure reading among patients at risk. Ena, enalapril; Can, candesartan.

Journal of Human Hypertension (2014) 663-669

The same result was also observed when diabetes diagnoses set within 6 and 12 months after the start of the study were excluded (Table 2). Few patients had high baseline HbA1c (>7%; 0.14% vs 0.02%) or blood glucose (>7 mmol I⁻¹, 3.99% vs 2.49%; >10 mmol I⁻¹, 0.37% vs 0.28%) values in the enalapril and candesartan groups. When these patients were excluded from the analyses, the results were also consistent with the main analysis (data in Supplementary Table S4).

The patient characteristics in the two groups after the propensity score matching are summarized in Table 1. In propensity score-matched analyses, candesartan patients had a lower risk of diabetes development, HR 0.63 (95% Cl 0.42–0.96, P = 0.03).

Incidence of CVD

During the study, 785 CVD events occurred in the enalapril group and 375 in the candesartan group. The unadjusted risk of CVD was lower in candesartan patients than in enalapril patients (HR 0.87, 95% CI 0.76–0.98, P = 0.02; Figure 3). When adjusting for covariates (age, gender, index year, socio-economic status), the risk was similar in the two groups (HR 0.99, 95% CI 0.87–1.13,



Figure 3. Kaplan–Meier curves for diabetes and composite CVD end point. Ena, enalapril; Can, candesartan.

© 2014 Macmillan Publishers Limited

Table 2. Effect of additional adjustment and different analysis methods on clinical outcomes obtained from primary care journals and Swedish national discharge and death registers

	Number of patients			
	<i>Enalapril,</i> n	Candesartan, n	HR, new-onset diabetes	HR, CVD
Unadjusted	11 725	4265	0.77 (95% CI 0.66-0.90)	0.87 (95% CI 0.76-0.98)
Primary adjusted results ^a	11725	4265	0.81 (95% CI 0.69–0.96)	0.99 (95% CI 0.87–1.13)
+ systolic BP (Multiple imputed values) ⁶ + systolic BP (available values) ⁶	11 725 8881	4265	0.80 (95% CI 0.68–0.94) 0.79 (95% CI 0.65–0.96)	0.92 (95% CI 0.81–1.05) 0.97 (95% CI 0.83–1.13)
+ HbA1c ^b	1151	428	0.79 (95% CI 0.58–1.07)	-
+ blood glucose ^b	7338	2256	0.78 (95% CI 0.64-0.96)	-
+ BMI ^b	2896	772	0.86 (95% Cl 0.97–1.15)	—
Excluding patients diagnosed within 6 months after the start of the study $^{\circ}$	11 520	4212	0.87 (95% CI 0.72-1.05)	0.98 (95% CI 0.86-1.12)
Excluding patients diagnosed within 12 months after the start of the study ^c	11 443	4185	0.88 (95% CI 0.72-1.10)	0.97 (95% Cl 0.85-1.11)
Propensity score analysis ^d	1111	1111	0.63 (95% CI 0.42-0.96)	0.88 (95% CI 0.56-1.24)

Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; BP, blood pressure; CVD, cardiovascular disease; HbA1c, hemoglobin A1c; HR, hazard ratio. ^aAdjusted for age, gender, index year and socio-economic status. ^bAdded adjustments to primary adjustments. ^cPrimary adjustments. ^dMatched for gender, age, index year, systolic blood pressure, total cholesterol, blood glucose, socio-economic status, beta blockers, statins, calcium antagonists and thiazides.

P = 0.86). Similar results were observed when multiple imputations were performed for systolic blood pressure.

In the 2222 patients in the propensity score-matched analysis, the HR of CVD was 0.83 (95% CI 0.56–1.24, P = 0.37).

Additional sensitivity analyses were performed in order to explore the effect of variations in the proportion of included patients per year in addition to adjustment for inclusion year. The results with an adjusted HR of 1.00 (95% Cl 0.87-1.15, P = 1.00) for the cohort of included patients from 1999 until 2005 supported the main results.

Treatment patterns

Both enalapril and candesartan were prescribed accordingly to the prescribing recommendations for hypertension. The enalapril group generally started with 5 mg (25.5%) or 10 mg (35.8%) and patients were up-titrated to 10 mg (31.0%) and 20 mg (36.5%) during the first 3 years of treatment. The use of fixed combination tablets (enalapril 20 mg/hydrochlorothiazide 12.5 mg) rose from 9.2% until 13.4% during the study period.

The candesartan group started mainly with 4 mg (27.6%) or 8 mg (50.3%) with an up-titration during the first 12 months of treatment to 43.2% for use of the 8 mg tablet and 20.4% for the 16 mg tablet. After 3 years of treatment, the patients treated with candesartan were mainly treated with 8 mg (35.3%), 16 mg (23.3%) or 16 mg/12.5 mg (24.1%) tablets.

The use of other antihypertensive medications increased in both groups during follow-up. Thiazides (both separate and in fixed combination tablets) were used more frequently in the enalapril group initially. This changed during follow-up; after 1 year on treatment, candesartan patients were more frequently treated with thiazides (34% vs 24%), and the difference in proportion of thiazides-treated patients between the two groups continued to increase during follow-up (data in Supplementary Figure S2). More calcium channel blockers and beta blockers were added in the enalapril group.

DISCUSSION

Primary observations

In this comparative effectiveness study of 15 990 hypertension patients without CVD or diabetes in real-life primary care, initiation

of enalapril or candesartan was followed by a substantial blood pressure reduction, with no difference in blood pressure between the two treatment groups during the follow-up period. Candesartan patients had, however, a lower risk of new diagnosed diabetes compared with enalapril patients. These results were consistent across different analyses and subpopulations (data in Supplementary Figure S3). No difference in CVD risk was observed between the two groups.

Interpretation with reference to other studies

The results of this study suggest that there is a risk reduction of new-onset diabetes with candesartan compared with enalapril in the treatment of hypertension. Both ACEi and ARBs have in previous studies shown a reduction in new onset of diabetes.¹⁻⁴ A reduction in new onset of diabetes in the ARB group compared with the ACEi group may be supported by previous observations.⁵ Lack of activation of parts of the PPAR system with ACEi treatment, and thus less stimulation of glucose activation, has been postulated as an explanation for potential differences vs ARB in the prevention of new onset of diabetes.⁶ Candesartan has a tight and long-lasting binding to the AT type 1 receptor.²³ The potential to prevent new-onset diabetes may therefore be explained by a more effective blockade of AT type I receptors and the subsequent development of vascular insulin resistance and impaired endothelial nitric oxide-mediated relaxation.⁷

During the study, there was no difference between the two treatments in protection for CVD. This finding is in line with results from randomized controlled studies comparing the CVD-protective effect of ACEi and ARB treatments.^{8,9} Differences with regard to new-onset diabetes rates during the study may not be expected to affect CVD incidence due to the relatively short study duration. The treatment period for patients treated with enalapril was generally shorter, indicating a lower tolerability for enalapril compared with candesartan. These findings, indicating a lower tolerability of ACEi treatment, are in agreement with findings from other real-life and randomized controlled studies.^{23–27}

Strengths and limitations

The present study was performed using primary care data from primary care centers which represented 7% of all primary care

centers in Sweden. High-quality national data on hospitalizations, prescribed drugs and causes of death were also included. This provides a representative selection of patients and a more or less complete long-term follow-up of newly diagnosed diabetes and major cardiovascular events.

Potential effect of unmeasured confounders

668

As commonly in non-randomized studies of the effectiveness of drug treatment, it cannot be excluded that residual confound may have influenced the findings. In-depth understanding for why physicians choose enalapril or candesartan for treatment for hypertension can only be explored by quality interviews with the prescribing physicians, data we unfortunately do not have access to in this study. Data on smoking and physical activity were missing for the majority of patients and was therefore not included in the analyses. The general socio-economic status was lower in the enalapril group, and potentially more patients could be expected to smoke in this group or have a different physical activity profile. The difference in socio-economic status is, however, adjusted for in all the analyses. We did not observe a difference between the two groups with regard to the proportions of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and or use of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease medications, which is closely related to smoking. Nor did we see differences in mean weight during follow-up (data in Supplementary Figure S3). In consideration of the possible impact of residual confounding, it should be recognized that Sweden has a tax-funded healthcare system with equal access to health-care services and drugs, thus choice of treatment and patient follow-up should be primarily based on clinical data and not on non-medical reasons. We did not observe differences in how the patients were treated and followed up before and after the start of study medication in the recorded data.

Missing blood pressure values

One of the limitations with this method is missing data in the electronic patient primary care journals. Blood pressure recordings were registered in 72% of all the patients at baseline. The enalapril group had a slightly higher baseline systolic blood pressure compared with the candesartan group. However, analysis with multiple imputations for missing systolic blood pressure and analysis with adjustment for available systolic blood pressures gave the same results (Table 2).

Opportunistic diagnosis

A potential explanation of the finding of more new diagnoses of diabetes in the enalapril group could be 'opportunistic diagnosis' due to a potential increased number of patient visits to primary care in this group who had a higher non-CVD burden. However, the frequency of primary care visits, diagnoses, laboratory/blood samples data and hospitalizations before the start of the study did not differ markedly between the two groups, suggesting similar needs for medical consultations at baseline. We did not observe any major difference in the number of annual primary care visits or blood samples taken between the two treatment groups during follow-up (data in Supplementary Tables S5 and S6). The finding of increased number of diabetes diagnoses in the enalapril group did not follow the general trend regarding other diagnoses during the observation period as the number of other diagnoses made during the study was higher in the candesartan group. This does not support the possibility of a general higher disease burden in the enalapril group (data in Supplementary Table S7).

Risk of the differential exclusion of patients

Enalapril and candesartan have the same prescribing indications in Sweden; both are indicated for hypertension and heart failure but not for renal diseases. However, the ACEis were developed before the ARB class and thus gained hard end point documentation and CVD indications (heart failure, myocardial infarction) earlier. More patients (11.2%) were excluded for earlier diabetes and CVD in the enalapril group. Patient records in primary care were searched for chronic kidney disease, diabetes and CVD diagnoses and drugs up to 5–6 years before inclusion. The same diagnoses were also searched for in the National Patient Register, which has a national coverage since 1987.¹² The combination of these two search techniques should therefore have lowered the risk of undetected diabetes and CVD prevalence at baseline.

Difference in treatment practice over time

When including patients over a long time span, an important potential confounding factor could have been variations in hypertensive treatment over time, favoring inclusion either in the enalapril or candesartan group. Alterations in the Swedish reimbursement system for the use of RAAS (renin-angiotensinaldosterone system)-inhibiting drugs for hypertension in 2008 are an example. Qualifications for reimbursement for hypertension from this date required that patients should start with an ACEi and ARBs should be prescribed as a second-line treatment for patients with side effects on ACEi treatment or as an add-on therapy (heart failure). These requirements were implemented earlier in some areas of Sweden. The annual frequency of inclusion to the enalapril or candesartan group from 1999 to 2007 reflects these changes; by a relatively higher use of enalapril from 2005 (data in Supplementary Table S3). In order to to minimize the possible effects of temporal changes, index year (start of treatment) was included as covariate/adjustment in all the analyses. The same results were observed when we excluded patients included in 2005-2007 from the study.

The study had a follow-up time of mean (s.d.) 2.11 (2.11) years. There was a major difference in follow-up time between the two groups, the enalapril group with a mean (s.d.) of 1.84 (1.97) years and a mean 2.85 (2.31) years in the candesartan group. This difference can partly be explained by a larger portion of enalapril patients included at the end of the observation period. Nevertheless, when excluding patients included during the last 3 years of the observation period, the enalapril patients still have, in general, a shorter median follow-up period (-0.84 years) caused by higher number of patients who switched to other C 09 drugs or ending their enalapril treatment.

Perspectives

Our study method can be used to study existing treatments, providing results faster than performing a prospective randomized clinical trial and at a moderate cost. Sweden offers the unique combination of a wide use of similar electronic patient record systems in primary care and a long tradition with nationwide hospitalization and cause of death registers. This provides the unique opportunity to study differences between treatments, which are not possible to assess in randomized clinical trials.

The results of this study suggest that there is a risk reduction of new-onset diabetes with candesartan compared with enalapril in the primary treatment of hypertension, while the two treatments provide similar protection for CVD. Patients treated with enalapril had a shorter treatment period, indicating a lower tolerability for enalapril compared with candesartan. The results of this retrospective study should be confirmed, however, in prospective studies before any definitive conclusions are made.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

LPH is enrolled at the PhD School of the University of Oslo, Faculty of Medicine. LPH, NH and JB are employed by AstraZeneca. AstraZeneca sells candesartan in many markets. Candesartan has lost patent protection. MT is employed by an independent

669

statistical consultant company, Statisticon, for which AZ is a client. J Stålhammar has received honoraria for lecturing/consulting and other research support from AZ. J Sundström has received honoraria for advisory board participation from AZ. DR has received honoraria for lecturing/consulting and other research support from AZ, Boehringer Ingelheim, Pfizer and Bayer. SEK has received honoraria for lecturing/ consulting and other research support from AZ, Boys and Takeda.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was funded by AstraZeneca Nordic-Baltic.

REFERENCES

- 1 Lindholm LH, Persson M, Alaupovic P, Carlberg B, Svensson A, Samuelsson O. Metabolic outcome during 1 year in newly detected hypertensives: results of the Antihypertensive Treatment and Lipid Profile in a North of Sweden Efficacy Evaluation (ALPINE study). J Hypertens 2003; 21: 1563–1574.
- 2 Jandeleit-Dahm KA, Tikellis C, Reid CM, Johnston CI, Cooper ME. Why blockade of the renin-angiotensin system reduces the incidence of new-onset diabetes. *J Hypertens* 2005; 23: 463–473.
- 3 Ogihara T, Fujimoto A, Nakao K, Saruta T. CASE-J Trial Group. ARB candesartan and CCB amlodipine in hypertensive patients: the CASE-J trial. *Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther* 2008; 6: 1195–1201.
- 4 The NAVIGATOR Study Group. Effect of valsartan on the incidence of diabetes and cardiovascular events. *N Engl J Med* 2010; **362**: 1477–1490.
- 5 Elliott WJ, Meyer PM. Incident diabetes in clinical trials of antihypertensive drugs: a network meta-analysis. *Lancet* 2007; 369: 201–207.
- 6 Chen CC, Chiang AN, Hsieh MH. Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor or angiotensin II receptor blocker for the prevention of type 2 diabetes mellitus? *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* 2010; **90**: e25–e26.
- 7 Manrique C, Lastra G, Sowers JR. New insights into insulin action and resistance in the vasculature. *Ann NY Acad Sci* 2014; **311**: 136–156.
- 8 Pitt B, Poole-Wilson PA, Segal R, Martinez FA, Dickstein K, Camm AJ et al. Effect of losartan compared with captopril on mortality in patients with symptomatic heart failure: randomised trial--the Losartan Heart Failure Survival Study ELITE II. Lancet 2000; 355: 1582–1587.
- 9 ONTARGET investigators. Telmisartan, ramipril, or both in patients at high risk for vascular events. N Engl J Med 2008; **358**: 1547–1559.
- 10 Kjeldsen SE, Stalhammar J, Hasvold P, Bodegard J, Olsson U, Russell D. Effects of losartan vs candesartan in reducing cardiovascular events in the primary treatment of hypertension. J Hum Hypertens 2010; 24: 263–273.
- 11 Martinell M, Stalhammar J, Hallqvist J. Automated data extraction--a feasible way to construct patient registers of primary care utilization. *Ups J Med Sci* 2012; **117**: 52–56.
- 12 Ludvigsson JF, Andersson A, Ekbom A, Feychting M, Kim J-L, Reuterwall C et al. External review and validation of the Swedish national inpatient register. BMC Public Health 2011; 11: 450.
- 13 Rolandsson O, Norberg M, Nyström L, Söderberg S, Svensson M, Lindahl B *et al.* How to diagnose and classify diabetes in primary health care: lessons learned

from the Diabetes Register in Northern Sweden (DiabNorth). Scand J Primary Health Care 2012: 30: 81-87.

- 14 Juutilainen A, Kortelainen S, Lehto S, Rönnemaa T, Pyörälä K, Laakso M. Gender difference in the impact of type 2 diabetes on coronary heart disease risk. *Diabetes Care* 2004; **27**: 2898–2904.
- 15 Novak M, Björck L, Giang KW, Heden-Ståhl C, Wilhelmsen L, Rosengren A. Perceived stress and incidence of Type 2 diabetes: a 35-year follow-up study of middle-aged Swedish men. *Diabet Med* 2013; **30**: e8–e16.
- 16 Agardh E, Allebeck P, Hallqvist P, Tahereh Moradi T, Sidorchuk A. Type 2 diabetes incidence and socio-economic position: a systematic review and meta-analysis Int. J Epidemiol 2011; 40: 804–818.
- 17 Conroy RM, Pyorala K, Fitzgerald AP, Sans S, Menotti A, De Backer G et al. Estimation of ten-year risk of fatal cardiovascular disease in Europe: the SCORE project. Eur Heart J 2003; 11: 987–1003.
- 18 Tiikkaja S, Olsson M, Malki N, Modin B, Sparén P. Familial risk of premature cardiovascular mortality and the impact of intergenerational occupational class mobility. Soc Sci Med 2012; 75: 1883–1890.
- 19 Brookhart MA, Wyss R, Layton JB, Stürmer T. Propensity score methods for confounding control in nonexperimental research. *Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes* 2013; 6: 604–611.
- 20 Rosenbaum PR, Rubin DB. The central role of the propensity score in observational studies for causal effects. *Biometrika* 1983; 70: 41–55.
- 21 Austin PC. Optimal caliper widths for propensity-score matching when estimating differences in means and differences in proportions in observational studies. *Pharm Stat* 2011; **10**: 150–161.
- 22 Sekhon JS. Multivariate and propensity score matching software with automated balance optimization. J Stat Software 2011; 42: 1–52.
- 23 Michel MC, Foster C, Brunner HR, Liu L. A systematic comparison of the properties of clinically used angiotensin II type 1 receptor antagonists. *Pharmacol Rev* 2013; 65: 809–848.
- 24 Bramlage P, Hasford J. Blood pressure reduction, persistence and costs in the evaluation of antihypertensive drug treatment a review. *Cardiovasc Diabetol* 2009; **8**: 18.
- 25 Bloom BS. Continuation of initial antihypertensive medication after 1 year of therapy. *Clin Ther* 1998; **20**: 671–681.
- 26 Patel BV, Remigio-Baker RA, Mehta D, Thiebaud P, Frech-Tamas F, Preblick R. Effects of initial antihypertensive drug class on patient persistence and compliance in a usual-care setting in the United States. J Clin Hypertens 2007; 9: 692–700.
- 27 Elliott WJ. Double-blind comparison of eprosartan and enalapril on cough and blood pressure in unselected hypertensive patients. Eprosartan Study Group *J Hum Hypertens* 1999; **13**: 413–417.

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Unported License. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons license, unless indicated otherwise in the credit line; if the material is not included under the Creative Commons license, users will need to obtain permission from the license holder to reproduce the material. To view a copy of this license, visit http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by/3.0/

Supplementary Information accompanies this paper on the Journal of Human Hypertension website (http://www.nature.com/jhh)